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The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from the
results discussed in the forward-looking statements. This Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements that could differ from actual future results.
Statements that are predictive in nature, that depend upon or refer to future events or conditions or that include words such as “expects,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “thinks” and similar expressions are forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements include statements
about our expected results of operations and capital expenditures. Although we believe that these statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, we cannot
assure you that our goals will be achieved. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Form 10-K, and we assume no obligation to
update or revise them or provide reasons why actual results may differ. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, our ability to
respond to changing fashion trends, miscalculation of the demand for our products, effective management of our growth, decline in comparable store sales
performance, ongoing competitive pressures in the apparel industry, changes in the level of consumer spending or preferences in apparel, our ability to attract
and retain key management personnel and/or other factors discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

PART I

ITEM 1.   BUSINESS

General

We design, develop and produce a distinctive line of contemporary women’s apparel and accessories. While we attract a broad audience, our target
customers are 21 to 35-year-old women who seek current fashion trends interpreted to suit their lifestyle needs. The “bebe look,” appeals to a hip, sexy,
sophisticated, body-conscious woman who takes pride in her appearance. The bebe customer expects value in the form of quality at a competitive price.

Our distinctive product offering includes a full range of fashion separates, dresses, active wear and accessories for all facets of the customer’s lifestyle:
career, casual, evening and weekend wear. We design and develop the majority of our merchandise in-house. The merchandise is then manufactured to our
specifications. The remainder of our merchandise is selected directly from third party manufacturers’ lines.

We market our products under the bebe, BEBE SPORT and bebe O brand names through our 199 retail stores, of which 159 are bebe stores, 22 are
BEBE SPORT stores, and 18 are bebe outlet stores. These stores are located in 32 states, the District of Columbia and Canada. In addition, we have an on-line
store at www.bebe.com and our licensees operate 12 international stores.

bebe stores.    The Company was founded by Manny Mashouf, our current Chairman of the Board. We opened our first store in San Francisco,
California in 1976, which was also the year we incorporated. During fiscal 2004, we opened seven bebe stores. As of June 30, 2004, the Company operated
159 stores in 32 states, the District of Columbia and Canada.

BEBE SPORT stores.   The Company launched BEBE SPORT during fiscal 2003 to satisfy the casual lifestyle needs of the bebe customer. The BEBE
SPORT product line is active inspired sportswear featuring cotton knits, fleece, casual active bottoms, sweaters, outerwear and accessories that are easy, sexy
and modern. During fiscal 2004 we opened 13 BEBE SPORT stores. As of June 30, 2004, the Company operated 22 BEBE SPORT stores in 13 states.

bebe outlet stores.   The company utilizes the outlets as a clearance vehicle for merchandise from our bebe and BEBE SPORT stores. Additionally, we
round out the inventory of these stores with a strong presentation of logo merchandise and special cuts, which bear the “bebe O” label, produced for the outlet
stores. As of June 30, 2004, the Company operated 18 bebe outlet stores in 10 states.
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On-line store.   The on-line store offers the customer an extension of the bebe store experience and provides an assortment of bebe and BEBE SPORT
merchandise from which the customer can choose. It is also used as a vehicle to communicate with our customers through advertising and direct mail.

Operating Strategy

Our objective is to satisfy the fashion needs of the modern, sexy and sophisticated woman. The principal elements of our operating strategy to achieve
this objective are as follows:

1.   Provide distinctive fashion throughout a broad product line.    Fashion from throughout the world inspires our designers and merchandisers.
They interpret contemporary ideas for designs, colors and fabrications into products to meet the lifestyle needs of the bebe customer. Our in-house design team
allows us to quickly react to fashion trends. While certain styles and products are represented each season, our design and merchandise teams are committed
to bringing newness into the merchandise mix in response to emerging trends.

2.   Vertically integrate design, production, merchandising and retail functions.    Our vertical integration enables us to respond quickly to changing
fashion trends, reduce our risk of excess inventory, and produce distinctive quality merchandise of exceptional value.

3.   Manage merchandise mix.    Our approach to merchandising and a proactive inventory management program is critical to our success. By actively
monitoring sell-through rates and managing the mix of categories and products in our stores, we believe that we are able to respond to emerging trends in a
timely manner, minimize our dependence on any particular category, style or fabrication, and preserve a balanced, coordinated presentation of merchandise
within each store.

4.   Control distribution of merchandise.    We control the distribution of the majority of our product through Company owned retail stores and an on-
line store. This distribution strategy enables us to display the full assortment of our products, control the pricing, control the visual presentation and flow of
goods, test new products and reinforce the brands’ identity in the eyes of our customers. The balance of our products are distributed through licensees, both
domestically and internationally.

5.   Enhance brand image.    We attract customers through edgy, high-impact, visual advertising campaigns using print, outdoor, in-store, on-line, and
direct mail communication vehicles. We also offer a line of merchandise branded with the distinctive bebe logo to increase brand awareness. We seek to create
an upscale, inviting environment that further enhances the bebe brand and builds customer loyalty and demand for bebe merchandise.

Stores and Expansion Opportunities

We believe that there is a significant opportunity to expand the number of bebe and BEBE SPORT stores in new and existing markets. In selecting a
specific site, we look for high traffic locations primarily in regional shopping centers and in freestanding street locations. We evaluate proposed sites based on
the traffic pattern, co-tenancies, average sales per square foot achieved by neighboring stores, lease economics, demographic characteristics and other factors
considered important within the specific location.

For fiscal 2005, we plan to grow our operations in a controlled manner, primarily through the opening of new stores. We have been conservative in our
growth plans while we continue to evaluate the new BEBE SPORT concept. As part of our growth strategy, we may open larger stores, with two separate
entrances, for both bebe and BEBE SPORT, to take advantage of the bebe brand name. In addition, we are focused on building our infrastructure in order to
support a more aggressive growth plan.

Our stores typically have achieved profitability at the store operating level within the first full year of operation; however, we cannot assure you that our
stores will do so in the future. Actual store growth and
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future store profitability and rates of return will depend on a number of factors that include, but are not limited to, individual store economics and suitability
of available sites.

During fiscal 2004, we opened 20 stores and closed one store and in fiscal 2005 we plan to open approximately 20 stores, convert approximately two
existing bebe stores into BEBE SPORT stores, and close approximately one to three stores. Depending upon the performance of the existing BEBE SPORT
locations this fall and the overall retail environment, the Company may open additional locations in fiscal 2005 and 2006.

bebe stores.   During fiscal 2004, we opened seven stores and closed one store. In addition to opening new stores, we expanded or relocated three existing
stores to larger spaces during fiscal 2004. Our stores average approximately 3,700 square feet in size and are primarily located in regional shopping malls and
freestanding street locations. Future bebe stores will be approximately 3,500 square feet. In fiscal 2005, we plan on opening approximately 11 bebe stores.

BEBE SPORT stores.   During fiscal 2004, we opened 13 BEBE SPORT stores. Our stores average approximately 2,100 square feet in size and are
primarily located in regional shopping malls. Future BEBE SPORT stores will be approximately 2,500 square feet. In fiscal 2005, we plan on opening
approximately eight BEBE SPORT stores.

bebe outlet stores.   During fiscal 2004, we did not open or close any outlet stores. Our stores average approximately 3,700 square feet in size and are
primarily located in outlet malls. In fiscal 2005, we plan on opening approximately one outlet store.

Our ability to expand will depend on a number of factors, including the availability of desirable locations, the negotiation of acceptable leases and our
ability to manage expansion and to source adequate inventory. We cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve our planned expansion on a timely and
profitable basis. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that store openings in existing markets will not result in reduced net sales volumes and profitability of
existing stores in those markets.

Store Closures.   During fiscal 2004, we closed one store. We monitor the financial performance of our stores, and have closed and will continue to close
stores that we do not consider to be viable. Many of the store leases contain early termination options that allow us to close the stores in certain specified years
of the leases if certain minimum sales levels are not achieved.

On-line store.   During fiscal 2004, we upgraded our on-line store to simplify and enhance our customers’ on-line shopping experience. We plan to
continue to invest in such upgrades to further capitalize on the encouraging sales performance of our store.

Merchandising

Our merchandising strategy is to provide current, timely fashions in a broad selection of categories to suit the lifestyle needs of our customers. We market
all of our merchandise under the “bebe”, “BEBE SPORT” and “bebe O” labels. In some cases, we select merchandise directly from third-party apparel
manufacturers’ lines and market it under our “bebe,” “BEBE SPORT” or “bebe O” labels. We do not have long-term contracts with any third party apparel
manufacturers and purchase all of the merchandise from such manufacturers by purchase order.

Product Categories.   After building a strong women’s suiting business in the early 1990s, we have since diversified and expanded our product line.
Our distinctive product offering includes a full range of fashion separates, dresses, active wear and accessories for all facets of the customer’s lifestyle: career,
casual, evening and weekend wear. While each category’s contribution as a percentage of total net sales varies seasonally, certain of the product classifications
are represented throughout the year. We regularly evaluate existing categories for potential expansion opportunities such as the expansion of our accessory
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line to include signature handbags. We also plan to grow by introducing new product categories such as the introduction of fragrance and beauty products.
These categories can be internally developed or developed in conjunction with licensees. During fiscal year 2004, our product licensee business represented less
than 1% of total revenue. We currently license rights for footwear and eyewear. Our swimwear licensee terminated on June 30, 2004. Our footwear and eyewear
licenses terminate on June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2006, respectively. Under the terms of these agreements, the licensees will manufacture and distribute
products branded with the bebe logo to be sold at bebe stores and selected retailers.

Product Development.   Our approach to the product development process allows our merchants to gain as much information as possible concerning
current fashion trends before making fabric or product purchase commitments. We control the process by focusing on key color selection, fabric order,
pattern development and production order deadlines. We establish the deadlines to ensure an adequate flow of inventory into the stores. While product
development is seasonal, we make commitments monthly based on current sales and fashion trends. This enhances our ability to react promptly to customer
demand.

A detailed merchandising plan supports the product development process. Our monthly product development cycle allows our merchants to make
decisions as close as possible to the season. This merchandising plan includes sales, inventory and profitability targets for each product classification and is
adjusted on an as needed basis. If we miscalculate consumer demand for our products, we may be faced with significant excess inventory and fabric for some
products and missed sales opportunities for others. Weak sales and resulting markdowns could cause our profitability to be impaired.

Marketing

We reinforce our brand with an extensive image advertising campaign, which addresses the lifestyle needs and aspirations of our target customers. An
outside advertising agency works with our internal marketing department to create edgy, high-impact ads to attract customers who are drawn to the playfully
sensual and evocative imagery.

Image ads are produced quarterly and are featured in fashion and lifestyle magazines, transit shelters, mall kiosks, store windows and are also featured
online at bebe.com.

bebe’s direct mail strategy reinforces the seasonal image campaigns. Additionally, catalogs featuring a wider range of bebe and BEBE SPORT product are
being mailed to bebe customers.

Editorial coverage and product placement is key to bebe’s marketing initiatives and our public relations department communicates closely with editors,
stylists, and celebrities resulting in major editorial coverage and product exposure on television, cable and videos. Additionally, bebe partners with key
national magazines on cross promotions and events.

We believe that our advertising promotes brand awareness and supports numerous product line expansion opportunities. For fiscal year 2005, we plan to
increase our marketing expenditures to approximately 4% of sales, from 3.4% of sales in fiscal year 2004, to promote our brand through advertising, in-store
marketing, direct mail marketing and customer research.

Store Operations

Store operations are organized into four regions and 29 districts. Each region is managed by a regional manager, and each district is managed by a
district manager. Each regional manager is typically responsible for four to ten districts, and each district manager is typically responsible for five to nine
stores. Each store is typically staffed with three to six managers in addition to sales associates.

We seek to instill enthusiasm and dedication in our store management personnel and our sales associates through incentive programs and regular
communication with the stores. Sales associates,
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excluding associates in outlet stores, receive commissions on sales with a guaranteed minimum hourly compensation. Store managers receive base
compensation plus incentive compensation based on sales and inventory control. Our district managers receive base compensation plus incentive
compensation based on meeting sales and profitability benchmarks. Our regional managers participate in the Company’s incentive program.

Sourcing, Quality Control and Distribution

All of our merchandise is marketed under the “bebe”, “BEBE SPORT” and “bebe O” labels. The majority of our merchandise is designed and developed
in-house and manufactured to our specifications. The balance is developed primarily in conjunction with third-party apparel manufacturers. In some cases,
we select merchandise directly from these manufacturers’ lines. These facilities produce garments based on designs, patterns and detailed specifications
produced by us.

We use computer aided design systems to develop patterns and production markers as part of our product development process. We fit test sample
garments before production to make sure patterns are accurate. We maintain a formalized quality control program. Garments that do not pass inspection are
returned to the manufacturer for rework or accepted at reduced prices for sale in our outlet stores.

The majority of our merchandise is received, inspected, processed, warehoused and distributed through our distribution center. Details about each receipt
are supplied to merchandise allocators who determine how the product should be distributed among the stores based on current inventory levels, sales trends
and specific product characteristics. Advance shipping notices are electronically communicated to the stores and any goods not shipped are stored for
replenishment purposes. Merchandise typically is shipped to the stores three times per week using common carriers.

We do not have any long-term contracts with any manufacturer or supplier and place all of our orders by purchase order. If we fail to obtain sufficient
quantities of manufacturing capacity or raw materials, it would have a harmful effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have
received in the past, and may receive in the future, shipments of products from manufacturers that fail to conform to our quality control standards. In such
event, unless we are able to obtain replacement products in a timely manner, we may lose sales which could harm our operating results.

Competition

The retail and apparel industries are highly competitive and are characterized by low barriers to entry. Key competitors include, but are not limited to
Arden B, BCBG, Express, Guess, and the Savvy and t.b.d. Departments within Nordstrom. We expect competition in our markets to increase. The primary
competitive factors in our markets are: brand name recognition, product styling, product quality, product presentation, product pricing, store ambiance,
customer service, and convenience.

We also compete with traditional department stores, specialty store retailers, on-line retailers, off-price retailers and direct marketers for, among other
things, raw materials, market share, retail space, finished goods, sourcing and personnel. Because many of our competitors are larger and have substantially
greater financial, distribution and marketing resources than we do, we may lack the resources to adequately compete with them. If we fail to compete in any
way, it may have a harmful effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

“bebe”, “BEBE SPORT” and certain other trademarks either have been registered or applications are pending with United States Patent and Trademark
Office and with certain foreign registries. “bebe O” is a trademark of bebe stores, inc. in the United States.
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Information Systems and Technology

We are committed to utilizing technology to enhance our competitive position. Our information systems provide data for stores, production,
merchandising, distribution and financial systems. The core business systems, which consist of both purchased and internally developed software, are
accessed over a Company-wide network providing corporate employees with access to key business applications. Our investments in information systems
have focused on our store, production, merchandise, and financial accounting systems.

Currently, our focus is on better utilizing our production, planning and point of sale system. In addition, we are evaluating a customer loyalty program to
be used in conjunction with our direct marketing initiatives. We cannot assure you that we will be successful with the implementation of these new systems or
plans. Failure to implement and integrate such systems or plans could have a harmful effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

As of June 30, 2004, we had approximately 2,600 employees, of whom approximately 350 were employed at the corporate offices and distribution center.
The remaining 2,250 employees were employed in store operations. Approximately 1,000 were full-time employees and 1,600 were employed on a part-time
basis. This is comparable to last fiscal year. In addition, our employees are not represented by any labor union, and the Company believes its relationship
with its employees is good.

Available Information

We make available on our website, www.bebe.com, under “Investor Relations,” free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such
materials to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines and Board of Directors’ Committee Charters are also available on our
website, under “Corporate Governance”.

7

Source: bebe stores, inc., 10-K, September 13, 2004 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the executive officers and directors as of September 1, 2004:

Name Age Position

Manny Mashouf(1) 6 6 Chairman of the Board
Neda Mashouf(1) 41 Vice Chairman of the Board
Barbara Bass(2)(3)*(4) 53 Director

Cynthia Cohen(2)(3)(4)* 51 Director

Corrado Federico 63 Director

Caden Wang(2)*(3)(4) 52 Director

Gregory Scott(1) 41 Director and Chief Executive Officer
Walter Parks(1) 45 Chief Financial Officer
Barbara Wambach(1) 44 Chief Administrative Officer
Tom Curtis(1) 41 General Merchandising Manager—BEBE SPORT
Mary Jimenez(1) 44 Vice President of Design—BEBE SPORT
Hamid Mashouf(1) 40 Vice President of Information Systems and Technology
Paul Mashouf(1) 39 Vice President of Manufacturing and Sourcing—BEBE SPORT
Ferrell Ostrow(1) 45 Vice President of Store Operations, Loss Prevention and

Construction
Michelle Perna(1) 51 Vice President of Human Resources
Susan Peterson(1) 46 Vice President of Design

Mark Rachman(1) 42 Vice President of Manufacturing and Sourcing
Linda Vilaikeo(1) 34 Vice President of Planning and Allocation

(1)          Executive Officer.

(2)          Member, Audit Committee.

(3)          Member, Compensation and Management Development Committee.

(4)          Member, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

*                    Chairman of the Committee

Manny Mashouf founded bebe stores, inc. and has served as Chairman of the Board since our incorporation in 1976. Mr. Mashouf served as our Chief
Executive Officer from 1976 to February 2004. Mr. Mashouf is the husband of Neda Mashouf, Vice Chairman of the Board, father of Paul Mashouf and
uncle of Hamid Mashouf.

Neda Mashouf has served as a Director since June 1985 and has served as Vice Chairman of the Board since December 2003. Ms. Mashouf has served
as General Merchandising Manager of Design of bebe and BEBE SPORT, as well as various other positions since joining bebe in 1984. Ms. Mashouf is the
wife of Manny Mashouf, Chairman of the Board, father of Paul Mashouf and uncle of Hamid Mashouf.
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Barbara Bass has served as a Director since February 1997. Since 1993, Ms. Bass has served as the President of the Gerson Bakar Foundation. From
1989 to 1992, Ms. Bass served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Emporium Weinstock Division of Carter Hawley Hale Stores, Inc., a
department store chain. Ms. Bass also serves on the Board of Directors of Starbucks Corporation and DFS Group Limited.

Cynthia R. Cohen has served as a Director since December 2003. Ms. Cohen is founder and President of Strategic Mindshare, a strategic management
consulting firm. She also serves on the Board of Directors of The Sports Authority and Hot Topic, both publicly traded companies, as well as several
privately held companies. Prior to founding Strategic Mindshare in 1990, she was a Partner in Management Consulting with Deloitte & Touche. Ms. Cohen
serves on the Executive Advisory Board for the Center for Retailing Education and Research at the University of Florida and is Chairman of the Strategic
Mindshare Foundation, a philanthropic organization.

Corrado Federico has served as a Director since November 1996. Mr. Federico is President of Solaris Properties and has served as the President of
Corado, Inc., a land development firm, since 1991. He is also an active retail consultant. From 1986 to 1991, Mr. Federico held the position of President and
Chief Executive Officer of Esprit de Corp, Inc., a wholesaler and retailer of junior and children’s apparel, footwear and accessories (“Esprit”). Mr. Federico
also serves on the Board of Directors of Hot Topic, Inc.

Caden Wang has served as a Director since October 2003. Mr. Wang is currently an affiliate of Jackson Hole Group, a consulting company. From 1999
to 2001, Mr. Wang served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of LVMH Selective Retailing Group, which included various international
retail holdings such as DFS, Sephora, and Miami Cruiseline Services. Mr. Wang previously also served as the Chief Financial Officer for DFS, Gumps, and
Cost Plus. Mr. Wang is a Certified Public Accountant.

Gregory Scott has served as the Chief Executive Officer since February 2004 and as Director since August 2004. From 2000 to 2004, Mr. Scott was the
President of the Arden B. division of The Wet Seal, Inc. From February 2000 to April 2000, Mr. Scott was President of Laundry, a division of Liz Claiborne.
From 1996 to 2000, Mr. Scott was Vice President of Merchandising with bebe stores, inc. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Scott was a Senior Merchandiser with
Ann Taylor, Inc.

Walter Parks has served as Chief Financial Officer since January 2004. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Parks served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Administrative Officer of Wet Seal, Inc. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Parks served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of
Restoration Hardware, Inc. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Parks served as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer for Ann Taylor Stores Corporation, and in
various other positions since joining that company in 1988.

Barbara Wambach has served as Chief Administrative Officer since August 2004. From February to August 2004. Ms. Wambach served as President
and Chief Operating Officer of BEBE SPORT. From 2002 to 2004, Ms. Wambach served as Executive Vice President of Gap Body, a division of Gap, Inc.
From 1999 to 2002, Ms. Wambach served as the Chief Executive Officer and President of eLUXURY. From 1982 to 1999, Ms. Wambach held various
executive positions with DFS and Neiman Marcus.

Tom Curtis has served as General Merchandising Manager (GMM)—BEBE SPORT since June 2002. Before his promotion to GMM, Tom served as a
Senior Merchandising Manager since joining the company in 1998. Prior to joining bebe stores, inc., Mr. Curtis held various positions with The Walt Disney
Co., Rampage Clothing Co. and R.H. Macy & Co., Inc.

Mary Jimenez has served as Vice President of Design—BEBE SPORT since May 2004. From 1999 to 2004, Ms Jimenez was Vice President and GMM
of Merchandising Content and Creative for eLUXURY. From 1990 to 1999, Ms. Jimenez held various executive positions at DFS, most recently as Vice
President Senior Merchandise Manager, Ready to Wear.
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Hamid Mashouf has served as Vice President of Information Systems and Technology (IS&T) since February 2004. From January 2003 to February
2004, Mr. Mashouf served in various IS&T positions, most recently as Senior Director IS&T. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Mashouf served in various
management positions for Agilent Technologies, most recently as Strategic Scientist. From 1986 to 1999, Mr. Mashouf was with Hewlett-Packard Company
in various scientific, strategic and engineering management positions in Manufacturing, Marketing and Research and Development. Mr. Mashouf is the
nephew of Manny Mashouf, Chairman of the Board and Neda Mashouf, Vice Chairman of the Board.

Paul Mashouf has served as the Vice President of Manufacturing and Sourcing—BEBE SPORT since January 2004 and Vice President of
Manufacturing and Sourcing—bebe from 2003 to 2004. Mr. Mashouf was the Director of Manufacturing Systems from 2002 to 2003 and has held various
other positions within the Company since joining in 1990. Before joining bebe stores, inc., Mr. Mashouf worked at other retail chains such as The Gap,
Banana Republic, Oaktree and Merry Go Round. Mr. Mashouf is the son of Manny Mashouf, Chairman of the Board and Neda Mashouf, Vice Chairman of
the Board.

Ferrell Ostrow has served in various capacities at bebe stores, inc. since March 1999, most recently as Vice President of Store Operations, Loss
Prevention and Construction. In August 2004, Mr. Ostrow announced that he will focus his energy on Store Construction and Loss Prevention. He will
continue in his role as Vice President of Store Operations until a successor is retained. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Ostrow held the position of Director of Loss
Prevention at Pacific Sunwear of California Inc.

Michelle Perna has served as Vice President of Human Resources since November 2000. From 1997 to 2000, Ms. Perna was President of her own
consulting company, HR1, where she implemented Human Resources functions for various companies in the Retail, Hotel/Casino, Mortgage Banking and
High Technology industries. From 1997 to 1998, Ms. Perna was the Vice President of Human Resources for Merv Griffin Enterprises, New
Jersey/Bahamas/Florida.

Susan Peterson has served as Vice President of Design since February 2004. From 2000 to 2004, Ms Peterson was Vice President of Design & Production
for the Arden B division of The Wet Seal, Inc. From 1997 to 2000, Ms. Peterson was the Design Director of Sportswear for Rampage. From 1995 to 1996,
Ms. Peterson was a Partner/Designer for Audience.

Mark Rachman has served as the Vice President of Manufacturing and Sourcing since January 2004.  From July 2003 to January 2004, Mr. Rachman
was Senior Director of Production.  From 1992 to 2002, Mr. Rachman was the President of Ram Apparel, an apparel manufacturing company that he
founded.

Linda Vilaikeo has served as Vice President of Planning and Allocation since March 2004. From 2000 to 2004, Ms. Vilaikeo held various planning
positions within Gap Inc., most recently as Vice President, Company Planning and Business Development for Old Navy. From 1995 to 2000, Ms. Vilaikeo
served as Director, Planning and Allocations for bebe stores inc. From 1991 to 1995, Ms. Vilaikeo held various merchandising, planning and store
management positions within Macy’s West, a division of Federated Stores.

ITEM 2.   PROPERTIES

As of June 30, 2004, our 199 stores, all of which are leased, encompassed approximately 704,000 total square feet. The typical store lease is for a 10-year
term and requires us to pay a base rent and a percentage rent if certain minimum sales levels are achieved. Many of the leases provide a lease termination
option in certain specified years of the lease if certain minimum sales levels are not achieved. In addition, leases for locations typically require us to pay
property taxes, utilities, repairs and common area maintenance fees.

Our main corporate headquarters are currently located in a facility in Brisbane, California. The facility located at 400 Valley Drive is approximately
35,000 square feet and houses administrative offices,
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store support services, and our on-line store. The lease for 400 Valley Drive expires in April 2014. We also lease a 144,000 square foot distribution center in
Benicia, California and a 22,500 square foot design studio and production facility in Los Angeles, California. The leases expire in April 2013 and
February 2005, respectively. Additionally, during fiscal 2004 we acquired a 50,000 square foot design studio and production facility in Los Angeles,
California and plan to move our design and production activities to this studio in the first half of fiscal 2005.

ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As of the date of this filing, the Company is involved in several ongoing legal proceedings as described below.

Three former employees sued bebe on November 20, 2003, in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Mateo (case No. CIV435794)
alleging that they were misclassified as exempt employees under California law. The plaintiffs purport to bring this action on behalf of a class of former and
present California bebe store managers and co-managers. Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

A former employee sued bebe on January 20, 2004 in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego (case No. GIC824505) alleging
unpaid wages and unfair business practices. The plaintiff purports to bring the action on behalf of a class of California employees who hold or have held the
position of co-manager or others similarly designated. The lawsuit seeks compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

On February 23, 2004, The Wet Seal, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Orange against bebe and its current
Chief Executive Officer, Greg Scott, who previously was employed as President of The Wet Seal’s Arden B. division until January 7, 2004. The lawsuit
asserts causes of action against Scott and/or bebe for (1) specific performance of contract; (2) intentional interference with contract; (3) misappropriation of
trade secrets; and (4) unfair competition. On or about May 19, 2004, the court entered The Wet Seal, Inc.’s dismissal of this lawsuit. At this time, the
Company is seeking to recover its court costs and attorney fees.

A former employee sued bebe on August 2, 2004 in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Sacramento (case No. 04AS03109) alleging
unlawful failure to pay wages and unfair competition. The plaintiff purports to bring the action on behalf of a class of California employees who hold or at
any time within the past four years have held a salaried store management position. The lawsuit seeks compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

Although the Company intends to defend itself vigorously against these claims, the Company has accrued liabilities for estimated settlement costs that
management believes are probable. Although the final resolution of these matters may be greater than the Company’s recorded liability, management does not
believe the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition to the above, the Company is also involved in various other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. None of these matters
are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004.
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PART II

ITEM 5.   MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

The common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “BEBE”. The following table sets forth the high and low sales of our
common stock for the two years ended June 30, 2004, as reported by Nasdaq:

High Low

Fiscal 2003
First Quarter $ 14.15 $ 7.68
Second Quarter 9.98 6.39
Third Quarter 11.51 7.31
Fourth Quarter 13.33 7.81
Fiscal 2004
First Quarter $ 19.30 $ 12.71
Second Quarter 21.33 15.22
Third Quarter 22.97 16.45
Fourth Quarter 24.33 18.89

 

In April 2004, the Company declared a 3 for 2 stock split which became effective on May 5, 2004. All share and per share amounts included herein have
been adjusted for this stock split.

As of August 31, 2004, the number of holders of record of our common stock was 72 and the number of beneficial holders of our common stock was
approximately 2,560.

We have never paid any dividends on our common stock. Declaration and payment of dividends is within the sole discretion of our Board of Directors,
subject to limitations imposed by California law and compliance with our credit agreements, and will depend on our earnings, capital requirements, financial
condition and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant.

On August 12, 2004 our Board of Directors approved an annual cash dividend of $0.20 per common share on our common stock. The first quarterly
dividend of $0.05 per share is payable September 30, 2004 to stockholders of record on September 9, 2004.

Information with respect to equity plan compensation is incorporated by reference from our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission
not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year.
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ITEM 6.   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Selected Financial and Operating Data

The following selected financial data is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Financial Statements and Notes thereto and
the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this filing. These historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future. In
April 2004, the Company declared a 3 for 2 stock split which became effective on May 5, 2004. All share and per share amounts included herein have been
adjusted for this stock split.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
Operating Results: 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $ 372,257 $ 323,549 $ 316,424 $ 290,836 $ 241,802
Cost of sales, including production and occupancy 197,269 179,058 174,048 151,204 119,850
Gross profit 174,988 144,491 142,376 139,632 121,952
Selling, general and administrative expenses 122,278 115,851 101,828 97,817 76,294
Income from operations 52,710 28,640 40,548 41,815 45,658
Interest and other income, net 1,959 2,199 2,074 3,407 3,201
Earnings before income taxes 54,669 30,839 42,622 45,222 48,859
Provision for income taxes 20,899 11,560 16,138 17,415 19,454
Net earnings $ 33,770 $ 19,279 $ 26,484 $ 27,807 $ 29,405

Basic earnings per share $ 0.87 $ 0.50 $ 0.70 $ 0.75 $ 0.80
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.85 $ 0.50 $ 0.68 $ 0.72 $ 0.78
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 38,815 38,466 38,106 37,188 36,722
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 39,731 38,853 38,946 38,545 37,838
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
Statistics: 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Number of stores:
Opened during period 20 20 20 26 24
Closed during the period 1 5 1 4 1
Open at end of period 199 180 165 146 124

Net sales per average store (in thousands)(1) $ 1,900 $ 1,770 $ 1,957 $ 2,030 $ 2,164
Comparable store sales increase (decrease)(2) 9.5% (6.8)% (5.7)% (2.3)% 0.4%
 

As of June 30,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 188,164 $ 149,840 $ 133,738 $ 107,323 $ 80,711
Total assets 296,736 241,978 213,165 174,730 137,662
Long-term debt, including current portion — — 2 82 173
Shareholders’ equity 244,420 201,345 180,541 147,296 111,800

(1)    Based on the sum of average monthly sales for the period.

(2)    Comparable store sales are calculated by including the net sales of stores that have been open at least one year. Therefore, a store is included in the comparable store sales
base beginning with its thirteenth month. Stores that have been expanded or remodeled by 15 percent or more or have been permanently relocated are excluded from the
comparable store sales base. In addition, comparable store sales are calculated on a calendar month basis using a same day sales comparison. On-line store sales are not
included in the comparable store sales calculation.
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ITEM 7.   MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the
Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth under “Risks That May Affect Results” in this section.
Fiscal year 2004 ended on June 30, 2004 and we reported this fiscal year on a calendar month basis. Effective July 1, 2004, we will report on a 4-4-5 week
period end. Each period will end on a Saturday. Fiscal year 2005 started on July 1, 2004 and will end on July 2, 2005. The quarter beginning with July 1,
2004 will end October 2, 2004 and will include 3 additional days in the reporting period.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The preparation of these financial statements requires the appropriate application of certain accounting policies, many of which require us to make
estimates and assumptions about future events and their impact on amounts reported in our financial statements and related notes. Since future events and
their impact cannot be determined with certainty, the actual results will inevitably differ from our estimates. Such differences could be material to the financial
statements. We believe our application of accounting policies, and the estimates inherently required therein, are reasonable. These accounting policies and
estimates are constantly reevaluated, and adjustments are made when facts and circumstances dictate a change. Our accounting policies are more fully
described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

We have identified certain critical accounting policies, which are described below.

Inventories.   Our inventories are stated at the lower of weighted average cost or market. Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value,
which is generally the merchandise selling price. To ensure that our raw material is properly valued we age the fabric inventory and write down the inventory to
reduce the cost in accordance with our established policy, which is based on historical experience. To ensure our finished goods inventory is properly valued
we review the age and turnover of our inventory and reduce the cost if the selling price is marked down below cost. These assumptions can have an impact on
current and future operating results and financial position. We estimate shortage for the period between the last physical count and balance sheet date based on
historic shortage trends. If shortage trends increase it could negatively impact our profitability.

Long-lived assets.   We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances, such as store closures or poor performing
stores, indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If the undiscounted cash flows from the long-lived assets are less than the carrying
value we record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the carrying value and the asset’s fair value. In addition, at the time a decision is made to
close a store, we record an impairment charge, if appropriate, or accelerate depreciation over the revised useful life. Historically, our impairment charges have
been immaterial. During fiscal 2004 and 2003, we recorded charges for the impairment of store assets of $120,000 and $265,000, respectively. We believe at
this time that the long-lived assets’ carrying values and useful lives continue to be appropriate.
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Sales Return Reserve.   We record a reserve for estimated product returns based on historical return trends. For fiscal 2004, the reserve was $572,000
compared to $498,000 in fiscal 2003. If actual returns are greater than those projected, additional sales returns may be recorded in the future.

Accrued Litigation.   We accrue liabilities for estimates of probable settlements of lawsuits. During fiscal 2004, two lawsuits were filed against us
alleging misclassification of employment position. The lawsuits seek class action status in addition to compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief. We
recorded a liability in the fourth quarter of 2004 for the estimated payment of claims. The liability recorded as of June 30, 2004 is an estimate and should a
greater amount of claims occur, the recorded liability may not be sufficient.

Income Taxes.   We accrue liabilities for estimates of probable settlements of domestic and foreign tax audits. At any one time, several tax years may be
subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these audits and negotiations with taxing authorities may affect the ultimate settlement of these
issues. Our effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be materially impacted by changes in the mix and level of earnings. We also record a
valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets arising from foreign tax credit carryforwards as the utilization of these credits is not assured.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments and Its Application to Certain Investments  (“EITF 03-1”). EITF 03-1 provides a three-step impairment model for determining whether an
investment is other-than-temporarily impaired and requires the Company to recognize such impairments as an impairment loss equal to the difference between
the investment’s cost and fair value at the reporting date. The guidance is effective for the Company during the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company does
not believe that the adoption of EITF 03-1 will have a significant effect on its financial statements.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain financial data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

Statement of Operating Data: 2004 2003 2002

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales, including production and occupancy(1) 53.0 55.3 55.0
Gross profit 47.0 44.7 45.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses(2) 32.8 35.8 32.2
Income from operations 14.2 8.9 12.8
Interest and other income, net 0.5 0.7 0.7
Earnings before income taxes 14.7 9.6 13.5
Provision for income taxes 5.6 3.6 5.1
Net earnings 9.1% 6.0% 8.4%

(1)          Cost of sales includes the cost of merchandise, occupancy costs and production costs.

(2)          Selling, general and administrative expenses primarily consist of non-occupancy store costs, corporate overhead and advertising costs.

15

Source: bebe stores, inc., 10-K, September 13, 2004 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Years Ended June 30, 2004 and 2003

Net Sales.   Net sales increased to $372.3 million during the year ended June 30, 2004 from $323.5 million in fiscal 2003, an increase of $48.8 million,
or 15.1%. Of this increase, new, expanded or remodeled stores not included in the comparable store sales base added $20.4 million to sales, and an increase in
comparable store sales of 9.5% increased sales by $28.4 million. The increase in comparable store sales performance was largely due to customer acceptance
of the product offering and a more balanced assortment of merchandise that contributed to an increase in transactions per store. Based on the Company’s
current product offering, we expect positive comparable store sales in fiscal year 2005.

Gross Profit.   Gross profit increased to $175.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2004 from $144.5 million in fiscal 2003, an increase of $30.5
million, or 21.1%. As a percentage of net sales, gross profit increased to 47.0% for fiscal 2004 from 44.7% during fiscal 2003. The increase in gross profit as a
percentage of net sales resulted from improved merchandise margins of 1.5 percentage points and favorable occupancy leverage of 0.8 percentage points. These
improvements are a result of customer acceptance of our merchandise and higher comparable store sales. We expect to continue to experience margin
improvement as a result of favorable occupancy leverage.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.    Selling, general and administrative expenses, which primarily consist of non-occupancy store costs,
corporate overhead and advertising costs, increased to $122.3 million during fiscal 2004 from $115.9 million in fiscal 2003, an increase of $6.4 million, or
5.5%. As a percentage of net sales, these expenses decreased to 32.8% during fiscal 2004 from 35.8% in fiscal 2003. This decrease as a percentage of net sales
was primarily due to lower compensation associated with higher store productivity, lower depreciation due to fully depreciated assets, offset by increased
incentive compensation and costs associated with the potential settlements of outstanding lawsuits. We expect to continue to benefit from increased leverage on
fixed expenses during fiscal 2005.

Interest and Other Income, Net.   We generated $2.0 million of interest and other income (net of other expenses) during fiscal 2004 as compared to $2.2
million in fiscal 2003. Average cash balances continued to increase due to positive operating results, offset by lower interest rates.

Provision for Income Taxes.   The effective tax rate was 38.2% for fiscal 2004 as compared to 37.5% for fiscal 2003. The higher effective tax rate for
2004 is primarily attributable to an increase in the valuation allowance against foreign tax credit carry forwards as the utilization of these carry forwards is not
assured.

Years Ended June 30, 2003 and 2002

Net Sales.   Net sales increased to $323.5 million during fiscal 2003 from $316.4 million in fiscal 2002, an increase of $7.1 million, or 2.2%. Of this
increase, new, expanded or remodeled stores not included in the comparable store sales base added $27.3 million to sales, while a decrease in comparable store
sales of 6.8% reduced sales by $20.2 million. The decrease in comparable store sales performance was attributed to the following: marketplace conditions
which impacted customer traffic to our stores, missed opportunities in key product categories and production delays which resulted in missed sales
opportunities and increased promotional activities.

Gross Profit.   Gross profit increased to $144.5 million for fiscal 2003 from $142.4 million in fiscal 2002, an increase of $2.1 million, or 1.5%. As a
percentage of net sales, gross profit decreased to 44.7% for the year from 45.0% during fiscal 2002. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net sales
resulted from negative occupancy leverage offset by slightly higher net merchandise margins. Negative occupancy expense leverage was the result of lower sales
productivity.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.    Selling, general and administrative expenses, which primarily consist of non-occupancy store costs,
corporate overhead and advertising costs, increased to $115.9 million during fiscal 2003 from $101.8 million in fiscal 2002, an increase of $14.1 million, or
13.9%.
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As a percentage of net sales, these expenses increased to 35.8% during fiscal 2003 from 32.2% in fiscal 2002. This increase as a percentage of net sales was
primarily due to higher compensation associated with the store commission structure, higher depreciation due to negative leverage and investments in the
Company’s infrastructure, and store closure expenses and reserves which amounted to $557,000 related to 5 store closures and an impairment reserve for 2
stores. Expenses were also impacted by charges related to abandoned information technology projects which were offset by a favorable legal settlement.

Interest and Other Expense Income, Net.    We generated $2.2 million of interest and other income (net of other expenses) during fiscal 2003 as
compared to $2.1 million in fiscal 2002. Average cash balances continued to increase arising from operating results offset by lower interest rates.

Provision for Income Taxes.   The effective tax rate for fiscal 2003 was 37.5% as compared to 37.9% in fiscal 2002. The lower effective tax rate for
fiscal 2003 was primarily attributable to a lower effective state tax rate due to the benefits of the corporate legal entity restructuring.

Seasonality of Business and Quarterly Results

Our business varies with general seasonal trends that are characteristic of the retail and apparel industries. As a result, our typical store generates a
majority of our annual net sales and profitability in the second quarter of our fiscal year (which includes the fall and holiday selling seasons) compared to
other quarters of our fiscal year. If for any reason our sales were below seasonal norms during the second quarter of our fiscal year, our annual operating
results would be negatively impacted. Because of the seasonality of our business, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results that may be
achieved for a full fiscal year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital requirements vary widely throughout the year and generally peak in the first and second fiscal quarters. At June 30, 2004, we had
approximately $194.1 million of cash and equivalents, short-term marketable securities and long-term marketable securities on hand. In addition, we had a
revolving line of credit, under which we could borrow or issue letters of credit up to a combined total of $10.0 million. As of June 30, 2004, there were no
borrowings under the line of credit and letters of credit outstanding totaled $5.1 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $58.0 million, $41.6 million and $49.9 million, respectively. The increase
in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily the result of an increase in net income, increase in accrued liabilities
primarily related to incentive compensation, and other changes in working capital.

Net cash used by investing activities was $16.8 million, $33.2 million and $21.9 million in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The primary use
of these funds was for capital expenditures. The decrease in cash used by investing activities in 2004 was a result of net proceeds from marketable securities,
as compared to net purchases of marketable securities in 2003, offset by higher capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2004 relate to the purchase of our
new design studio and production facility in Los Angeles for approximately $11 million, the opening of new stores for approximately $8.6 million, the
expansion/relocation of stores for approximately $1.7 million, and investments in management information systems of approximately $1.0 million. We opened
20 new stores in each of fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 and we expect to open 20 stores in fiscal 2005. In fiscal year 2005, we expect capital expenditures of
approximately $8 million for new stores, approximately $6.5 million for store expansion/relocation/conversion, approximately $3 million for investments in
information systems and approximately $2.5 of other capital expenditures.
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During fiscal 2004, the average of bebe and BEBE SPORT new store construction costs (before tenant allowances) was $358,000 per store. The average
gross inventory investment per store was $55,000.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $7.1 million, $0.7 million and $4.2 million in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively, and
was derived from proceeds from the issuance of common stock arising from stock option exercises.

On August 12, 2004 our Board of Directors approved an annual cash dividend of $0.20 per common share on our common stock. The first quarterly
dividend of $0.05 per share is payable September 30, 2004 to stockholders of record on September 9, 2004.

We believe that our cash on hand, together with our cash flow from operations, will be sufficient to meet our capital and operating requirements through
fiscal 2005. Our future capital requirements, however, will depend on numerous factors, including without limitation, the size and number of new and
expanded stores, investment costs for management information systems, potential acquisitions and/or joint ventures, repurchase of stock and future results of
operations.

Summary Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments:

The following tables summarize our significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of June 30, 2004 (in thousands):

Amount of commitment expiration period

Total
Less than

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years
After 5
years

(Dollars in thousands)
Operating leases $ 227,394 $ 33,805 $62,969 $ 57,243 $ 73,377
Unconditional purchase obligations(1) 52,709 52,709 — — —
Trade letters of credit 4,481 4,481 — — —
Standby letters of credit 578 578 — — —
Total Contractual Obligations and Commercial

Commitments $285,162 $91,573 $62,969 $ 57,243 $ 73,377

(1)          Unconditional purchase obligations are defined as agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company and
that specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the
approximate timing of the transaction. Included in the purchase obligations category above are commitments for inventory purchases, capital
expenditures, information technology and professional services. Most arrangements are cancelable without a significant penalty and with short notice
(usually 30 to 90 days). Amounts reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as accounts payable and accrued liabilities are excluded from the table
above.

As of June 30, 2004, there were no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on the results of operations in the recent past. However, we cannot assure that our business will
not be affected by inflation in the future.
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RISKS THAT MAY AFFECT RESULTS

Factors that might cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward looking statements discussed elsewhere in this report, as well as affect
our ability to achieve our financial and other goals, include, but are not limited to, the following:

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS:

1.   The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to identify fashion trends as well as to react to changing customer
demand in a timely manner.   Consequently, we depend in part upon customer response to the creative efforts of our merchandising, design and marketing
teams and their ability to anticipate trends and fashions that will appeal to our consumer base. If we miscalculate our customers’ product preferences or the
demand for our products, we may be faced with excess inventory. Historically, this type of occurrence has resulted in excess fabric for some products and
markdowns and/or write-offs, which has impaired our profitability, and may do so in the future. Similarly, any failure on our part to anticipate, identify and
respond effectively to changing consumer demands and fashion trends will adversely affect our sales.

2.   If we are unable to obtain raw materials, unable to find manufacturing facilities or our manufacturers perform unacceptably, our
sales may be negatively affected and our financial condition may be harmed.   We do not own any manufacturing facilities and therefore depend upon
third parties to manufacture our products. We place all of our orders for production of merchandise and raw materials by purchase order and do not have any
long-term contracts with any manufacturer or supplier. If we fail to maintain favorable relationships with our manufacturers and suppliers or are unable to
obtain sufficient quantities of quality raw materials on commercially reasonable terms, it could harm our business and results of operations. We cannot assure
you that third party manufacturers (1) will not supply similar products to our competitors, (2) will not stop supplying products to us completely or (3) will
supply products in a timely manner. Untimely receipt of products may result in markdowns which would have a negative impact on earnings. Furthermore,
we have received in the past, and may receive in the future, shipments of products from manufacturers that fail to conform to our quality control standards. In
such event, unless we are able to obtain replacement products in a timely manner, we may lose sales. Certain of our third party manufacturers store our raw
materials. In the event our inventory was damaged or destroyed and we were unable to obtain replacement raw materials, our earnings may be negatively
impacted.

3.   Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain key employees in order to support our existing business and future expansion.   
From time to time we actively recruit qualified candidates to fill key positions from within the company. There is substantial competition for experienced
personnel, which we expect to continue. We compete for experienced personnel with companies who have greater financial resources than we do. In the past, we
have experienced significant turnover of our executive management team and retail store personnel. We are also exposed to employment practice litigation due to
the large number of employees and high turnover of our sales associates. If we fail to attract, motivate and retain qualified personnel, it could harm our
business and limit our ability to expand.

In addition, we depend upon the expertise and execution of our key employees, particularly Manny Mashouf, the founder, Chairman of the Board and
majority shareholder. We do not carry “key person” life insurance policies on any of our employees. If we lose the services of Mr. Mashouf or any key officers
or employees, it could harm our business and results of operations.

4.   If we are not able to successfully expand our bebe and BEBE SPORT stores our revenue base and earnings may be impaired.    As part
of our growth strategy, we may open larger bebe stores. If these stores are not successful, our financial condition may be harmed . In addition, we launched a
new store concept, BEBE
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SPORT during fiscal 2003 for which we have committed significant financial and human resources to develop and expand. The failure of the BEBE SPORT
concept may result in a negative impact to earnings.

5.   There can be no assurance that future store openings will be successful.    We expect to open approximately 20 stores in fiscal 2005, of which
approximately eight will be BEBE SPORT stores approximately eleven will be bebe stores and approximately one will be an outlet store. There can be no
assurance that these stores, or any other stores that we might open in the future, will be successful or that our overall gross profit will increase as a result of
opening these stores. In addition, most of our new store openings in fiscal 2005 will be in existing markets. These openings may affect the existing stores’ net
sales volumes and profitability. Our failure to predict accurately the demographic or retail environment at any future store location could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

6.   Any serious disruption at our major facilities could have a harmful effect on our business.    We currently operate our corporate office in
Brisbane, California, a distribution facility in Benicia, California, and a design studio and production facility in Los Angeles, California. We have also
recently purchased a design studio and production facility in Los Angeles, California. Any serious disruption at these facilities whether due to construction,
relocation, fire, earthquake, terrorist acts or otherwise would harm our operations and could have a harmful effect on our business and results of operations.
Furthermore, we have little experience operating essential functions away from our main corporate offices and are uncertain what effect operating such satellite
facilities might have on business, personnel and results of operations. We are in process of implementing a business continuity plan that will address recovery
in the event of a serious disruption at one of our major facilities.

7.   We face significant competition in the retail and apparel industry, which could harm our sales and profitability.    The retail and apparel
industries are highly competitive and are characterized by low barriers to entry. Key competitors include, but are not limited to Arden B, BCBG, Express,
Guess, and the t.b.d. and Savvy Departments within Nordstrom. We expect competition in our markets to increase. The primary competitive factors in our
markets are: brand name recognition, sourcing strategies, product styling, quality, presentation and pricing, timeliness of product development and delivery,
store ambiance, customer service and convenience.

We compete with traditional department stores, specialty store retailers, business to consumer websites, off-price retailers and direct marketers for,
among other things, raw materials, market share, retail space, finished goods, sourcing and personnel. Because many of these competitors are larger and have
substantially greater financial, distribution and marketing resources than we do, we may lack the resources to adequately compete with them. If we fail to
compete in any way, it could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

8.   Purchases of the merchandise we sell are generally discretionary and are therefore particularly susceptible to economic slowdowns.    If
economic conditions change, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Consumers are generally more willing to
make discretionary purchases, including purchases of fashion products, during periods in which favorable economic conditions prevail.

The outlook for the United States economy is uncertain and is directly affected by global political factors that are beyond our control. Any escalation of
military action involving the United States could cause increased volatility in financial markets, further adversely affecting consumer confidence and
spending habits.

9.   If we are not able to successfully protect our intellectual property our ability to capitalize on the value of our brand name may be
impaired.   Even though we take actions to establish, register and protect our trademarks and other proprietary rights, we cannot assure you that we will be
successful or that others
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will not imitate our products or infringe upon our intellectual property rights. In addition, we cannot assure you that others will not resist or seek to block the
sale of our products as infringements of their trademark and proprietary rights.

We are seeking to register our trademarks domestically and internationally. Obstacles exist that may prevent us from obtaining a trademark for the bebe
name or related names. We may not be able to register certain trademarks, purchase the right or obtain a license to use the bebe name on commercially
reasonable terms. If we fail to obtain trademark registrations, ownership or license the requisite rights, it would limit our ability to expand. In some
jurisdictions, despite successful registration of our trademarks, third parties may allege infringement and bring actions against us. In addition, if our licensees
fail to use our intellectual property correctly, the goodwill associated with our trademarks may be diluted.

Furthermore, if we do not demonstrate use of our trademarks, our trademark rights may lapse over time.

10.   If an independent manufacturer violates labor or other laws, or is accused of violating any such laws, or if their labor practices diverge
from those generally accepted as ethical, it could harm our business and brand image.    While we maintain a policy to monitor the operations of our
independent manufacturers by having an independent firm inspect these manufacturing sites, and all manufacturers are contractually required to comply with
such labor practices, we cannot control the actions or the public’s perceptions of such manufacturers, nor can we assure that these manufacturers will conduct
their businesses using ethical or legal labor practices. Apparel companies can be held jointly liable for the wrongdoings of the manufacturers of their products.
While we do not control their employees’ employment conditions or the manufacturer’s business practices, and the manufacturers act in their own interest,
they may act in a manner that results in negative public perceptions of us and/or employee allegations or court determinations that we are jointly liable.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR COMMON STOCK:

1.   Our stock price may fluctuate because of the small number of shares that can be publicly traded and the low average daily trading
volumes.   The vast majority of our outstanding shares of our common stock are not registered and are subject to trading restrictions. As of June 30, 2004,
only 9,467,747 shares of our common stock were available to be publicly traded, and as a result, our average daily trading volumes are relatively low, and
our stock price is vulnerable to market swings due to large purchases, sales and short sales of our common stock.

2.   Because a principal shareholder controls the company, other shareholders may not be able to influence the direction the company takes.   
As of June 30, 2004, Manny Mashouf, the Chairman of the Board, beneficially owned approximately 75.8% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.
As a result, he alone can control the election of directors and the outcome of all issues submitted to the shareholders. This may make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire shares, may discourage acquisition bids, and could limit the price that certain investors might be willing to pay for shares of common
stock. This concentration of stock ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company.

3.   If we account for employee stock options using the fair value method, it could significantly reduce our net income.    There has been ongoing
public debate whether stock options granted to employees should be treated as compensation expense and, if so, how to properly value such charges. On
March 31, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued an Exposure Draft, “Share-Based Payment: an amendment of FASB statements
No. 123 and 95,” which would require a company to recognize, as an expense, the fair value of stock options and other stock-based compensation to
employees beginning in 2005 and subsequent reporting periods. If we elect or are required to record an expense for our stock-based compensation plans using
the fair value method as described in the Exposure Draft, we could have significant and ongoing accounting charges, which could significantly reduce our net
income.
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4.   Investor confidence and share value may be adversely impacted if we are unable to favorably assess, or our independent registered
public accountants are unable to provide an unqualified attestation report on our assessment of, the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of the end of our 2005 fiscal year as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.    An effective system of internal
control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports.  Rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant
to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 require annual assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, and attestation of our assessment
by our independent registered public accountants.  This requirement will first apply to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending July 2,
2005.  The rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess the internal control over financial reporting as effective are new and
complex, and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation to meet the detailed standards under the new rules.  Although we are
diligently reviewing, documenting and testing our internal control over financial reporting, we may encounter problems or delays in completing the
implementation of any changes necessary to make a favorable assessment of our internal control over financial reporting under the new standards.  In
addition, the evaluation and attestation process by our independent registered public accountants is new and we may encounter problems or delays in
completing the implementation of any requested improvements and receiving a favorable review and attestation by our independent registered public
accountants.  If we cannot favorably assess, or our independent registered public accountants are unable to provide an unqualified attestation report on our
assessment of, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investor confidence and share value may be negatively impacted.

ITEM 7A.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks, which include changes in U.S. interest rates and, to a lesser extent, foreign exchange rates. We do not engage in financial
transactions for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk.

We currently maintain a portfolio of variable interest rate investments consisting of cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities and long-term
marketable securities. Marketable securities are comprised of closed-end variable interest rate funds that invest primarily in tax-exempt municipal bonds. Due
to the variable nature of these investments, their value is typically not subject to market rate changes. According to our investment policy, we may invest in
taxable and tax exempt instruments. In addition, the policy establishes limits on credit quality, maturity, issuer and type of instrument. Marketable securities
are classified as “available for sale”. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio.

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents. The remaining
investments are considered short-term marketable securities if maturities range between four and twelve months or long term marketable securities if maturities
are over twelve months.

The following table lists our cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities and long-term marketable securities at June 30, 2004:
2004 Fair Value

(Dollars in thousands)
Cash equivalents $171,753 $171,753

Weighted average interest rate 2.03%
Short-term marketable securities 5,050 5,050

Weighted average interest rate 2.20%
Long-term marketable securities 7,875 7,875

Weighted average interest rate 2.72%
Total $184,678 $184,678
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The interest payable on our bank line of credit is based on variable interest rates and therefore affected by changes in market interest rates. If interest rates
rose .10% from the bank’s reference rate as of June 30, 2004, our results from operations and cash flows would not be significantly affected since we have no
outstanding borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risks.

We enter into a significant amount of purchase obligations outside of the U.S. substantially all of which are negotiated and settled in U.S. Dollars and,
therefore, we have only minimal exposure to foreign currency exchange risks. We also operate a subsidiary with a functional currency other than the U.S.
Dollar. This subsidiary represented less than two percent of total revenues for fiscal year 2004 and, therefore, presents only minimal exposure to foreign
currency exchange risks. We do not hedge against foreign currency risks and believe that foreign currency exchange risk is immaterial.

ITEM 8.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Information with respect to this item is set forth in “Index to Financial Statements.”

ITEM 9.   CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.   CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2004 to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and Form 10-K.

We also maintain a system of internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. No
changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ending June 30, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B.   OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10.   DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information with respect to this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission not
later than 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year.

With respect to Item 406 of Regulation S-K, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is filed herewith as Exhibit 14.1.

23

Source: bebe stores, inc., 10-K, September 13, 2004 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



ITEM 11.   EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission not
later than 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year.

ITEM 12.   SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Information with respect to this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission not
later than 120 days after the end of the Registrant’s fiscal year.

ITEM 13.   CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information with respect to this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission not
later than 120 days after the end of the Registrant’s fiscal year.

ITEM 14.   PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to this item is incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission not
later than 120 days after the end of the Registrant’s fiscal year.

PART IV

ITEM 15.   EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)

1.     The financial statements listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” at page F-1 are filed as a part of this report.

2.                Financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

3.                Exhibits included or incorporated herein: See Index to Exhibits.

(b)   Reports on Form 8-K.

Date of Report Items Description

April 8, 2004 5, 7 The Company issued a press release announcing a 3-for-2 split of its
common stock.

April 8, 2004 7, 12 The Company issued a press release announcing March 2004 sales and the
Company’s updated financial outlook for the third quarter of fiscal 2004.

April 22, 2004 7, 12 The Company issued a press release announcing third quarter earnings of
fiscal 2004.

May 6, 2004 7, 12 The Company issued a press release announcing April 2004 sales.
June 3, 2004 7, 12 The Company issued a press release announcing May 2004 sales and the

Company’s updated financial outlook for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004.
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(c)    Exhibits

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Registrant.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant.
4.1* Specimen certificate representing the Common Stock (in standard printer form, not provided).
10.1 1997 Stock Plan.
10.2* 1998 Stock Purchase Plan.
10.3* Form of Indemnification Agreement.
10.6** Standard Industrial/Commercial-Tenant Lease-Net dated November 30, 1998 between Registrant and

Far Western Land and Investment Company, Inc., (lease for additional building to house administrative
departments in Brisbane, California).

10.8*** Form of Retail Store License Agreement between Registrant and [company].
10.9**** Amendment No. 1 to Lease Agreement (amendment to Standard Industrial/Commercial-Tenant Lease-

Net dated November 30, 1998 between Registrant and Far Western Land and Investment
Company, Inc.)

10.10***** Lease Agreement dated October 24, 2000, as amended, between Registrant and Lincoln PO Benicia
Limited Partnership.

10.11***** Lease Agreement dated November 3, 2000, as amended, between Registrant and Stanley Hirsh and
Anita Hirsh as trustees, D/B/A Mercantile Center.

10.12***** Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement.
10.17 Standard Offer, Agreement and Escrow Instructions for Purchase of Real Estate dated January 20, 2004

by and among bebe stores, inc. and 10345 Olympic LLC.
14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page).
31.1 Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1 Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 Section 906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

*           Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-50333), effective
June 16, 1998.

**                          Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 16, 1999.
***                   Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 28, 1999.
****    Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 28, 2000.
*****  Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 29, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Brisbane, State of California, on the 13th day of September 2004.

bebe stores, inc.

By: /s/ Gregory Scott
Gregory Scott
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Gregory Scott and
Walter Parks, and each of them acting individually, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution, for him in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of each to act alone, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or their substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated:

Name Title Date

/s/ Gregory Scott Director and Chief Executive Officer (Principal September 13, 2004
Gregory Scott Executive Officer)

/s/ Walter Parks Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer September 13, 2004
Walter Parks and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Manny Mashouf Chairman of the Board September 13, 2004
Manny Mashouf

/s/ Neda Mashouf Vice Chairman of the Board September 13, 2004
Neda Mashouf

/s/ Barbara Bass Director September 13, 2004
Barbara Bass

/s/ Cynthia Cohen Director September 13, 2004
Cynthia Cohen

/s/ Corrado Federico Director September 13, 2004
Corrado Federico

/s/ Caden Wang Director September 13, 2004
Caden Wang
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
bebe stores, inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of bebe stores, inc. and subsidiaries (“the Company”) as of June 30, 2004 and 2003 and
the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30, 2004. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of bebe stores, inc. and subsidiaries
as of June 30, 2004 and 2003 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30, 2004 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
August 20, 2004
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bebe stores, inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share data)

As of June 30,
2004 2003

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $ 181,205 $132,889
Short-term marketable securities 5,050 10,500
Receivables (net of allowance of $632 and $531) 2,911 1,750
Inventories 25,538 25,422
Deferred income taxes 4,966 3,226
Prepaid and other 2,614 3,063

Total current assets 222,284 176,850
Property and equipment, net 62,355 52,305
Long-term marketable securities 7,875 7,875
Deferred income taxes 1,640 3,202
Other assets 2,582 1,746
Total assets $296,736 $241,978
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 14,467 $ 15,310
Accrued liabilities 19,653 11,700

Total current liabilities 34,120 27,010
Deferred rent 18,196 13,623
Total liabilities 52,316 40,633

Commitments and contingencies — —
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock-authorized 1,000,000 shares at $0.001 par value per share; no shares
issued and outstanding — —

Common stock-authorized 60,000,000 shares at $0.001 par value per share; issued
and outstanding 39,211,795 and 38,524,313 shares 39 38

Additional paid-in capital 49,144 39,906
Deferred compensation (36) (75)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 296 269
Retained earnings 194,977 161,207

Total shareholders’ equity 244,420 201,345
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $296,736 $241,978
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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bebe stores, inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Net sales $372,257 $ 323,549 $ 316,424
Cost of sales, including production and occupancy 197,269 179,058 174,048
Gross profit 174,988 144,491 142,376
Selling, general and administrative expenses 122,278 115,851 101,828
Income from operations 52,710 28,640 40,548
Interest and other income, net 1,959 2,199 2,074
Earnings before income taxes 54,669 30,839 42,622
Provision for income taxes 20,899 11,560 16,138
Net earnings $ 33,770 $ 19,279 $ 26,484

Basic earnings per share $ 0.87 $ 0.50 $ 0.70
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.85 $ 0.50 $ 0.68
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 38,815 38,466 38,106
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 39,731 38,853 38,946
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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bebe stores, inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands)

Common Stock Additional

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Number of

Shares Amount
Paid-in
Capital

Deferred
Compensation

Income
(Loss)

Retained
 Earnings Total

Comprehensive
Income

Balance as of June 30, 2001 37,782 $ 3 8 $ 32,004 $ — $ (190) $ 115,444 $ 147,296
Net earnings — — — — 26,484 26,484 $ 26,484
Foreign currency translation

adjustment — — — — 153 — 153 153

Total comprehensive income $ 26,637

Common stock issued under stock
plans including tax benefit 636 — 6,608 — — — 6,608

Balance as of June 30, 2002 38,418 3 8 38,612 — (37) 141,928 180,541
Net earnings — — — — — 19,279 19,279 $ 19,279
Foreign currency translation

adjustment — — — — 306 — 306 306

Total comprehensive income $ 19,585
Deferred compensation — — 100 (100) — — —
Amortization of deferred

compensation — — — 25 — — 25
Common stock issued under stock

plans including tax benefit 106 — 1,194 — — — 1,194
Balance as of June 30, 2003 38,524 3 8 39,906 (75) 269 161,207 201,345
Net earnings — — — — 33,770 33,770 $ 33,770
Foreign currency translation

adjustment — — — — 27 — 27 27

Total comprehensive income $ 33,797

Deferred compensation — — 100 (100) — — —
Amortization of deferred

compensation — — — 139 — — 139
Common stock issued under stock

plans including tax benefit 688 1 9,138 — — — 9,139

Balance as of June 30, 2004 39,212 $ 39 $ 49,144 $ (36) $ 296 $ 194,977 $ 244,420
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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bebe stores, inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amount in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 33,770 $ 19,279 $ 26,484
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating activities:

Non-cash compensation expense 139 25 —
Depreciation and amortization 12,337 13,050 10,071
Tax benefit from stock options exercised 2,026 451 2,289
Net loss on disposal of property 9 5 28 713
Deferred income taxes (178) 524 (1,578)
Deferred rent 4,573 3,534 6,130

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables (1,161) 356 33
Inventories (116) (2,034) 4,414
Other assets (1,047) 94 (404)
Prepaid expenses 449 1,791 2,347
Accounts payable (843) 3,171 1,261
Accrued liabilities 7,953 1,344 (1,835)

Net cash provided by operating activities 57,997 41,613 49,925
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (22,271) (14,878) (21,945)
Proceeds from sales of equipment — 6 39
Purchase of marketable securities (5,050) (23,375) —
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 10,500 5,000 —
Net cash used by investing activities (16,821) (33,247) (21,906)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 7,113 743 4,318
Other — (15) (73)
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,113 728 4,245
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 27 364 167
Net increase in cash and equivalents 48,316 9,458 32,431
Cash and equivalents:
Beginning of year 132,889 123,431 91,000
End of year $181,205 $132,889 $ 123,431

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest $ — $ 1 $ 4

Cash paid for income taxes $ 17,190 $ 8,389 $ 17,825
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of the business—bebe stores, inc., the “Company,” designs, develops and produces a distinctive line of contemporary women’s apparel and
accessories, which it markets under the bebe, BEBE SPORT and bebe O brand names. The Company operates 199 specialty retail stores located in 32 states,
the District of Columbia, Canada, 12 licensed stores internationally and an on-line store at www.bebe.com.

The Company has one reportable segment and has three brands with product lines of a similar nature. Revenues of the Company’s international retail
operations represent less than two percent of total revenues for fiscal year 2004.

Basis of financial statement presentation —The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP).

Stock split—In April 2004, the Company declared a 3 for 2 stock split, which became effective in May 2004. All share and per share amounts included
herein have been adjusted to reflect this stock split.

Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Fiscal year—For all periods presented herein, the Company’s fiscal year ended on June 30. Beginning on July 1, 2004, the Company changed their
fiscal year to a 52/53 week year, ending on the Saturday closest to June 30. The Company does not expect this change to have a significant impact on their
consolidated financial statements.

Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications—Certain amounts for prior years have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

Foreign currency adjustments—The Company’s subsidiaries use the local currency as their functional currency. Translation adjustments result from
the translation of foreign subsidiaries financial statements into US Dollars. The results of operations of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the average
exchange rate during the period. Balance sheet amounts are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting translation
adjustment is included in shareholders’ equity.

Cash and equivalents represent cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than 90 days.

Marketable securities—The Company’s marketable securities are classified as “available for sale”. Marketable securities are comprised of tax-exempt
municipal bonds. Short-term marketable securities consist of investments with maturities less than or equal to one year. Long-term marketable securities
consist of investments with original maturities greater than one year. As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, the carrying value of these securities approximated their fair
value.

Fair value of financial instruments—The carrying values of cash and equivalents, marketable securities, receivables and accounts payable
approximates their estimated fair values.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Concentration of credit risk—Financial instruments, which principally subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist principally of
cash and equivalents and marketable securities. The Company invests its cash through financial institutions. Such investments may be in excess of FDIC
insurance limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and equivalents to date.

Inventories are stated at the lower of weighted average cost or market. Cost includes certain indirect purchasing, merchandise handling and storage
costs.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are summarized below (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Balance at beginning of year $ 531 $ 190 $ 416
Charged to cost and expense 629 384 235
Deductions (528) (43) (461)
Balance at end of year $ 632 $ 531 $ 190

 

Property and equipment, net are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization on property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method
over the following estimated useful lives.

Description Years
Buildings 39.5
Leasehold improvements 10
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles 5
Computer hardware and software 3

 

Leasing commissions associated with negotiating new store leases are capitalized in other assets and amortized over the lease term.

Impairment of long-lived assets—The Company regularly reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets . Whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of its assets might not be recoverable, the Company, using its best estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections, has reviewed for impairment the carrying value of long-lived assets. Based on the review of certain underperforming
stores, the Company recorded impairment charges of $120,000 and $265,000 in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Deferred rent—Many of the Company’s operating leases contain predetermined fixed increases of the minimum rental rate during the initial lease term.
For these leases, the Company recognizes the related rental expense on a straight-line basis and records the difference between the amount charged to expense
and the rent paid as deferred rent.

Construction allowance—The Company receives construction allowances from landlords, which are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis
over the life of the lease as a reduction of rent expense. Construction allowances are recorded under deferred rent on the balance sheet.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition—Net sales consist of all product sales, net of estimated returns. We record a reserve for estimated product returns based on
historical return trends. At June 30, 2004 the reserve was $572,000 compared to $498,000 at June 30, 2003. If actual returns are greater that those projected,
additional sales returns may be recorded in the future. Discounts offered to customers consist primarily of point of sale markdowns and coupons and are
recorded at the time of the related sale as a reduction of revenue.

Gift certificates sold are carried as a liability and revenue is recognized when the gift certificate is redeemed. Similarly, customers may receive a store
credit in exchange for returned goods. Store credits are carried as a liability until redeemed.

Store preopening costs associated with the opening or remodeling of stores, such as preopening rent and payroll, are expensed as incurred.

Apparel and accessory design activities  are expensed as incurred.

Advertising costs are charged to expense when the advertising first takes place. Advertising costs were $12.6 million, $12.2 million and $10.7 million,
respectively, during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. In estimating future tax consequences, all
expected future events then known to management are considered other than changes in the tax law or rates.

Stock based compensation—The Company accounts for stock based awards to employees using the intrinsic value-based method in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations, Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and complies with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.”.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Had compensation expense been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under the Stock Plan and Stock Purchase Plan,
consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net earnings, basic EPS and diluted EPS would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts
indicated below:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands, except
per share amounts)

As reported $ 33,770 $19,279 $ 26,484
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported

net income, net of income tax 86 16 —
Deduct: Stock based employee compensation determined under the fair

value method, net of income tax (3,744) (2,191) (2,785)
Pro forma $ 30,112 $ 17,104 $23,699
Basic EPS, as reported $ 0.87 $ 0.50 $ 0.70
Basic EPS, pro forma $ 0.78 $ 0.44 $ 0.62
Diluted EPS, as reported $ 0.85 $ 0.50 $ 0.68
Diluted EPS, pro forma $ 0.76 $ 0.44 $ 0.61

 

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
  2004    2003    2002  

Expected dividend rate 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Volatility 73% 60% 64%
Risk-free interest rate 3.2% 2.2% 5.5%
Expected lives (years) 5.3 5.4 5.3

 

Earnings per share—Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed as net earnings divided by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur from common shares issuable through the exercise of outstanding
dilutive stock options.

The following is a reconciliation of the number of shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding 38,815 38,466 38,106
Incremental shares from assumed issuance of stock options 916 387 840
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 39,731 38,853 38,946
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The number of incremental shares from the assumed issuance of stock options is calculated by applying the treasury stock method.

Excluded from the computation of the number of diluted weighted average shares outstanding were antidilutive options of 0.9 million, 1.8 million and 1.8
million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Comprehensive income  consists of net income and other comprehensive income (income, expenses, gains and losses that bypass the income statement
and are reported directly as a separate component of equity). The Company’s comprehensive income equals net income plus foreign currency translation
adjustments for all periods presented. Such components of comprehensive income are shown in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments and Its Application to Certain Investments  (“EITF 03-1”). EITF 03-1 provides a three-step impairment model for determining whether an
investment is other-than-temporarily impaired and requires the Company to recognize such impairments as an impairment loss equal to the difference between
the investment’s cost and fair value at the reporting date. The guidance is effective for the Company during the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company does
not believe that the adoption of EITF 03-1 will have a significant effect on its financial statements.

2.   Inventories

The Company’s inventories consist of:

As of June 30,
2004 2003

(Dollars in thousands)
Raw materials $ 5,805 $ 4,775
Merchandise available for sale 19,733 20,647
Inventories $25,538 $25,422

 

3.   Credit Facilities

The Company has an unsecured commercial line of credit agreement with a bank, which provides for borrowings and issuance of letters of credit of up
to $10.0 million and expires on March 1, 2006. The outstanding balance bears interest at either the bank’s reference rate (which was 4.00% as of June 30, 2004
and 2003) or the LIBOR rate plus 1.75 percentage points. As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, there were no outstanding borrowings, and there was $5.1 million
and $4.4 million, respectively, outstanding in letters of credit.

This credit facility requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants, including a minimum tangible net worth and certain restrictions on
making loans and investments.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4.   Operating Leases

The Company leases its retail store locations, corporate headquarters, distribution center and certain office equipment and accounts for these leases as
operating leases. Store leases typically provide for payment by the Company of certain operating expenses, real estate taxes and additional rent based on a
percentage of net sales if a specified net sales target is exceeded. In addition, certain leases have escalation clauses and provide for terms of renewal and/or early
termination based on the net sales volumes achieved.

Rent expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $48.0 million, $44.5 million and $40.2 million, respectively. Rent expense
includes percentage rent and other lease-required expenses for the years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 of $15.9 million, $14.4 million, and $12.7 million,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases at June 30, 2004 are as follows:

Fiscal year ending June 30 (in thousands),
2005 $ 33,805
2006 32,043
2007 30,926
2008 29,921
2009 27,322

Thereafter 73,377
Total minimum lease payments $ 227,394

 

5.   Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

As of June 30,
2004 2003

Employee compensation $ 8,161 $ 3,137
Gift certificates and store credits 4,683 4,547
Other 4,334 2,858
Sales/use tax payable 1,237 1,158
Income taxes payable 1,238 —

Total $19,653 $ 11,700
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6.   Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)
Current:

Federal $17,162 $ 9,051 $13,639
State 3,457 1,848 3,869
Foreign 458 137 208

21,077 11,036 17,716
Deferred

Federal (28) 285 (1,278)
State (156) 12 (328)
Foreign 6 227 28

(178) 524 (1,578)
Provision $20,899 $11,560 $16,138

 

The components of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes are as follows:

  Fiscal Year Ended June 30,  
  2004  2003  2002  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

United States  $ 53,427  $ 30,360  $ 42,471 
Foreign  1,242 479 151 

Total  $54,669  $ 30,839  $42,622 
 

A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate with the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

   2004      2003      2002   

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State rate, net of federal benefit 3.9 3.9 5.4
Tax-exempt interest (0.9) (2.0) (1.5)
Other 0.2 0.6 (1.0)
Effective tax rate 38.2% 37.5% 37.9%

 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax reporting purposes.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6.   Income Taxes (Continued)

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

As of June 30,
2004 2003

(Dollars in thousands)
Current

Gift certificates and store credits $ 1,337 $ 866
Inventory 821 684
Accrued vacation 700 594
State taxes 405 (24)
Other accrued expenses 935 68
Other 768 1,038

Total Current 4,966 3,226
Non-Current

Basis difference in fixed assets 992 1,208
Deferred rent 1,604 1,833
Foreign tax credit 706 350
Construction allowance (814) —
Other (411) (127)

Total Non-Current 2,077 3,264
Valuation allowance (437) (62)

Net deferred tax assets $6,606 $6,428
 

During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company concluded the Internal Revenue Service examinations for the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002
without a significant adjustment.

The Company has foreign tax credit carry forwards of approximately $706,000 which will expire at various dates from June 30, 2005 to June 30, 2009.
Utilization of these credits is limited by the generation of foreign source income in future years. A valuation allowance of approximately $437,000 has been
established related to these foreign tax credit carry forwards as the utilization of such amount is not assured.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7.   Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

As of June 30,
2004 2003

(Dollars in thousands)
Leasehold improvements $ 58,605 $ 52,538
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and vehicles 19,357 17,278
Computer hardware and software 23,435 21,540
Assets under capital lease 331 330
Land and buildings 10,942 —
Construction in progress 3,282 2,601

Total 115,952 94,287
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (53,597) (41,982)
Property and equipment, net $ 62,355 $ 52,305

 

Construction in progress consists primarily of construction costs related to facilities that will open subsequent to year end and information technology
projects.

8.   Employee Benefit Plan

Employees are eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan if they have been employed by the Company for one year, have reached age 21, and
work at least 1,000 hours annually. Generally, employees can defer up to 75% of their gross wages up to the maximum limit allowable under the Internal
Revenue Code. The employer can make a discretionary matching contribution for the employee. Employer contributions to the plan for the years ended
June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $137,000, $131,000, and $132,000, respectively.

9.   Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions including voting rights, of these shares without any further vote or approval by the shareholders. No preferred stock has been issued to date.

Common Stock Plans

The 1997 Stock Plan as amended (the “Stock Plan”) provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock purchase
rights, stock awards and restricted stock units. Although the Stock Plan allows for stock options and related awards to be granted at prices below fair market
value, the Company has historically granted such options at the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. Stock options and related awards have a
maximum term of ten years. Options granted vest over four years with 20% of the award vested in each of the first and second years, and 30% vested in each
of the remaining two years. Restricted stock units awarded generally vest over a period of one year from the date of grant. The Company granted 5,820 and
12,798 restricted stock units to Directors under the Plan during fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of June 30, 2004, the Company has reserved
7,995,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the Stock Plan.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

9.   Shareholders’ Equity (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at June 30, 2004:

Options Outstanding
Options Vested
and Exercisable

Exercise Prices
Number (In
thousands)

Weighted
Average

Remaining Life
(in years)

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price
Number (In
thousands)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
$0.00 to $9.37 758 5.07 $ 4.20 5 6 5 $ 2.75
$9.40 to $14.67 751 8.37 11.91 148 11.79
$14.69 to $18.05 930 9.27 16.85 82 16.26
$18.30 to $19.33 174 8.73 19.11 43 19.09
$19.43 to $19.43 1,424 9.64 19.43 3 19.43
$19.46 to $21.93 460 8.34 21.16 154 20.40

4,497 8.41 $ 15.24 9 9 5 $ 8.69
 

As of June 30, 2003 and 2002 there were approximately 1,162,000 and 874,000 options exercisable at weighted average exercise prices of $8.68 and
$7.28, respectively.

The following table summarizes stock option activity:

Shares
Outstanding
(Amounts in
thousands)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

Balance June 30, 2001 2,985 $ 8.50
Granted 1,168 16.77
Exercised (610) 6.61
Cancelled (1,140) 12.13

Balance June 30, 2002 2,403 11.35
Granted 1,491 10.50
Exercised (87) 6.69
Cancelled (835) 13.33

Balance June 30, 2003 2,972 10.49
Granted 3,030 18.53
Exercised (676) 10.31
Cancelled (829) 13.79

Balance June 30, 2004 4,497 $ 15.24
 

The weighted average fair value of options and awards granted during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $11.78, $5.65 and
$7.87, respectively. As of June 30, 2004 there were 330,812 shares available for future grant.

Stock Purchase Plan

The 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”) has a total of 1,125,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Plan. The Plan
allows eligible employees to purchase our common stock in
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

9.   Shareholders’ Equity (Continued)

an amount, which may not exceed 10% of the employee’s compensation. The Plan is implemented in sequential 24-month offerings. Each offering is generally
comprised of eight, three-month purchase periods, with shares purchased on the last day of each purchase period (a “Purchase Date”). The price at which
stock may be purchased is equal to 85% of the lower of fair market value of our common stock on the first and last day of the offering period or the Purchase
Date. Under the Purchase plan in the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 there were 12,029, 19,488 and 25,362 shares issued, respectively.

10.   Litigation

As of the date of this filing, the Company is involved in several ongoing legal proceedings as described below.

Three former employees sued bebe on November 20, 2003, in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Mateo (case No. CIV435794)
alleging that they were misclassified as exempt employees under California law. The plaintiffs purport to bring this action on behalf of a class of former and
present California bebe store managers and co-managers. Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

A former employee sued bebe on January 20, 2004 in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego (case No. GIC824505) alleging
unpaid wages and unfair business practices. The plaintiff purports to bring the action on behalf of a class of California employees who hold or have held the
position of co-manager or others similarly designated. The lawsuit seeks compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

On February 23, 2004, The Wet Seal, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Orange against bebe and its current
Chief Executive Officer, Greg Scott, who previously was employed as President of The Wet Seal’s Arden B. division until January 7, 2004. The lawsuit
asserts causes of action against Scott and/or bebe for (1) specific performance of contract; (2) intentional interference with contract; (3) misappropriation of
trade secrets; and (4) unfair competition. On or about May 19, 2004, the court entered The Wet Seal, Inc.’s dismissal of this lawsuit. At this time, the
Company is seeking to recover its court costs and attorney fees.

A former employee sued bebe on August 2, 2004 in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Sacramento (case No. 04AS03109) alleging
unlawful failure to pay wages and unfair competition. The plaintiff purports to bring the action on behalf of a class of California employees who hold or at
anytime within the past four years have held a salaried store management position. The lawsuit seeks compensatory, statutory and injunctive relief.

Although the Company intends to defend itself vigorously against these claims, the Company has accrued liabilities for estimated settlement costs that
management believes are reasonable. Although the final resolution of these matters may be greater than the Company’s recorded liability, management does not
believe the ultimate resolution will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
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bebe stores, inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

10.   Litigation (Continued)

In addition to the above, the Company is also involved in various other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. None of these matters
are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

11.   Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The quarterly financial information presented below reflects all adjustments which, in the opinion of the Company’s management, are of a normal and
recurring nature necessary to present fairly the results of operations for the periods presented.

2004 Quarter Ended
Sept. 30 Dec. 31 March 31 June 30

(in thousands)
Net sales $83,552 $ 112,014 $ 83,637 $ 93,054
Gross profit 38,500 54,052 38,713 43,723
Selling, general and administrative expenses 29,292 32,327 30,485 30,174
Income from operations 9,208 21,725 8,228 13,549
Earnings before income taxes 9,669 22,222 8,752 14,026
Net earnings 6,043 13,889 5,464 8,374
Basic earnings per share $ 0.16 $ 0.36 $ 0.14 $ 0.21
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.15 $ 0.35 $ 0.14 $ 0.21

 

2003 Quarter Ended
Sept. 30 Dec. 31 March 31 June 30

(in thousands)
Net sales $ 73,842 $ 100,823 $68,772 $ 80,112
Gross profit 33,692 48,420 28,933 33,446
Selling, general and administrative expenses 26,026 31,730 29,258 28,837
Income from operations 7,666 16,690 (325) 4,609
Earnings before income taxes 8,149 17,252 227 5,211
Net earnings 5,095 10,791 142 3,251
Basic earnings per share $ 0.13 $ 0.28 $ 0.00 $ 0.08
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.13 $ 0.28 $ 0.00 $ 0.08

 

12.   Subsequent Event

On August 12, 2004 our Board of Directors approved an annual cash dividend of $0.20 per common share on our common stock. The first quarterly
dividend of $0.05 per share is payable September 30, 2004 to stockholders of record on September 9, 2004.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Registrant.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant.
4.1* Specimen certificate representing the Common Stock (in standard printer form, not provided).
10.1 1997 Stock Plan.
10.2* 1998 Stock Purchase Plan.
10.3* Form of Indemnification Agreement.

10.6** Standard Industrial/Commercial-Tenant Lease-Net dated November 30, 1998 between Registrant and
Far Western Land and Investment Company, Inc., (lease for additional building to house administrative
departments in Brisbane, California).

10.8*** Form of Retail Store License Agreement between Registrant and [company].
10.9**** Amendment No. 1 to Lease Agreement (amendment to Standard Industrial/Commercial-Tenant Lease-

Net dated November 30, 1998 between Registrant and Far Western Land and Investment
Company, Inc.)

10.10***** Lease Agreement dated October 24, 2000, as amended, between Registrant and Lincoln PO Benicia
Limited Partnership.

10.11***** Lease Agreement dated November 3, 2000, as amended, between Registrant and Stanley Hirsh and
Anita Hirsh as trustees, D/B/A Mercantile Center.

10.12***** Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement
10.17 Standard Offer, Agreement and Escrow Instructions for Purchase of Real Estate dated January 20, 2004

by and among bebe stores, inc. and 10345 Olympic LLC.
14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.1 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page).
31.1 Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1 Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 Section 906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

*           Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-50333), effective
June 16, 1998.

**         Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 16, 1999.

***      Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 28, 1999.

****    Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 28, 2000.

*****  Incorporated by reference from exhibits of the same number in Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 29, 2003.
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Exhibit 3.1
 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
 

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
 

OF
 

BEBE STORES, INC.
 

Manny Mashouf and Craig Walsey certify that:
 
1.  They are the duly elected and acting Chairman of the Board and Secretary, respectively, of bebe stores, inc., a California corporation (the

“Corporation”).
 
2.  The Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, as amended to the date of the filing of this certificate, are amended and restated to read in full as

follows:
 

I.
 

The name of this Corporation is:  bebe stores, inc.
 

II.
 

The purpose of this Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the California General
Corporation Law (“CGCL”) other then the banking business, the trust company business, or the practice of a profession permitted to be incorporated by the
California Corporation Code.
 

III.
 

This Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of shares, designated “Common Stock” with a par value of $0.001 per share and “Preferred
Stock” with a par value of $0.001 per share.  The total number of shares which this Corporation is authorized to issue is 61,000,000.  The number of shares
of Preferred Stock which this Corporation is authorized to issue is 1,000,000.  The number of shares of Common Stock which this Corporation is authorized
to issue is 60,000,000.  Upon the filing of these Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, each outstanding share of Common Stock shall,
without any further action on the part of the Corporation, be split up and converted into 1.5 fully paid and validly issued shares of Common Stock.
 

 
The Preferred Stock authorized by these Articles of Incorporation may be issued in one or more series.  The Board of Directors of the Corporation is

authorized to determine or alter the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions granted or imposed upon any wholly unissued  series of Preferred Stock, and
within the limitations or restrictions stated in any resolution or
 
resolutions of the Board of Directors originally fixing the number of shares constituting any series, to increase or decrease (but not below the number of shares
of any such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any such series subsequent to the issue of shares of that series, to determine the designation and
par value of any series and to fix the numbers of shares of any series.
 

IV.
 

(a)  The liability of the directors of this Corporation for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent permissible under California law.
 
(b)  This Corporation is authorized to provide, whether by bylaw, agreement or otherwise, for the indemnification of agents (as defined in Section

317 of the CGCL) of this Corporation in excess of that expressly permitted for those agents by Section 317 of the CGCL, for breach of duty to this
Corporation and its shareholders to the extent permissible under California law (as now or hereafter in effect).  In furtherance and not in limitation of the
powers conferred by statute:

 
(i)  this Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of

this Corporation, or is serving at the request of this Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture,
trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise (each an “Indemnifies
 
Party”), against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, whether
or not this Corporation would have the power to indemnify against such liability under the provisions of law; and

 
(ii)  this Corporation may create a trust fund, grant a security interest and/or use other means (including, without limitation, letters of

credit, surety bonds and/or other similar arrangements), as well as enter into contracts providing indemnification, to the fullest extent authorized or permitted
by law and including as part thereof provisions with respect to any or all of the foregoing to ensure the payment of such amounts as may become necessary to
effect indemnification as provided therein, or elsewhere.
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No such agreement or other form of indemnification shall be interpreted as
 
limiting in any manner the rights which such agents would have to indemnification in the absence of such bylaw, agreement or other form of indemnification.
 

(c)  Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this Article IV by the shareholders of this Corporation shall not adversely affect any
right or protection of a current or former Indemnified party existing at the time of such repeal of modification
 

 
V.
 

Cumulative voting for the election of directors of the Corporation shall be eliminated effective upon the date when the Corporation becomes, and for
as long as the Corporation is, a “listed corporation” within the meaning of Section 301.5 of the CGCL.
 

3.   The foregoing Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation have been duly approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
 
4.   The Corporation has only one class of shares outstanding.  There are no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding.
 
5.   In accordance with Section 902(c) of the CGCL, no vote of shareholders is required to approve the foregoing Second Amended and Restated

Article of Incorporation.
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
 

 
Each of the undersigned certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that they have read the foregoing Second Amended

and Restated Articles of Incorporation and knows the contents thereof, and that the statements therein are true.
 
Executed in Brisbane, California, on May 4, 2004.

 
 

/s/ Manny Mashouf
Manny Mashouf, Chairman of the Board

  
  

/s/ Craig Walsey
Craig Walsey, Secretary
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Exhibit 3.2
 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
 
 

OF
 
 

bebe stores, inc.
 

 
INDEX

 
ARTICLE I

 
OFFICES

1.1  Principal Executive Office
1.2  Other Offices
 

ARTICLE II
 

MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
2.1  Annual Meetings
2.2  Special Meetings
2.3  Notice of Meetings
2.4  Limitation on Business at Special Meeting
2.5  Quorum
2.6  Voting and Proxies
2.7  Inspectors of Election
2.8  Conduct of the Shareholders’ Meeting
2.9  Conduct of Business
2.10  Notice of Shareholder Business
2.11  Action Without Meeting
2.12  Stock List
 

ARTICLE III
 

DIRECTORS
3.1  Powers
3.2  Number of Directors
3.3  Election and Term of Office
3.4  Resignation
3.5  Removal
3.6  Vacancies
3.7  Organization Meeting
3.8  Other Regular Meetings
3.9  Calling Meetings
3.10  Place of Meetings
3.11  Telephonic Meetings
3.12  Notice of Special Meetings
3.13  Waiver of Notice
3.14  Action Without Meeting
3.15  Quorum
3.16  Adjournment

 
i

 
3.17  Inspection Rights
3.18  Fees and Compensation
3.19  Loans to Officers
 

ARTICLE IV
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHER COMMITTEES
4.1  Executive Committee
4.2  Other Committees
4.3  Minutes and Reports
4.4  Meetings
4.5  Term of Office of Committee Members
 

ARTICLE V
 

OFFICERS
5.1  Officers
5.2  Election
5.3  Subordinate Officers, etc.
5.4  Removal and Resignation
5.5  Vacancies
5.6  Chairman of the Board
5.7  Vice Chairman of the Board
5.8  President
5.9  Vice President
5.10  Secretary
5.11  Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
5.12  Assistant Secretary
5.13  Compensation
 

ARTICLE VI
 

MISCELLANEOUS
6.1  Record Date
6.2  Inspection of Corporate Records
6.3  Execution of Corporate Instruments
6.4  Ratification by Shareholders
6.5  Representation of Shares of Other Corporations
6.6  Inspection of Bylaws
6.7  Facsimile Signatures
 
 

 

 
ARTICLE VII

 
SHARES OF STOCK

7.1  Form of Certificates
7.2  Transfer of Shares
7.3  Lost Certificates
 

ARTICLE VIII
 

INDEMNIFICATION
8.1  Indemnification by Corporation
8.2  Right of Claimant to Bring Suit
8.3  Indemnification of Employees and Agents of the Corporation
8.4  Rights Not Exclusive
8.5  Indemnity Agreements
8.6  Insurance
8.7  Amendment, Repeal or Modification
 

ARTICLE IX
 

AMENDMENTS
9.1  Power of Shareholders
9.2  Power of Directors

 

 
AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
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OF

 
bebe stores, inc.

 
ARTICLE I

 
OFFICES

 
SECTION 1.1  PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICE.
 

The principal executive office for the transaction of the business of bebe stores, inc. (the “Corporation”) is hereby fixed and located at 380 Valley Drive,
Brisbane, California 94005, County of San Mateo, State of California. The Board of Directors is hereby granted full power and authority to change said
principal office from one location to another.
 
SECTION 1.2  OTHER OFFICES.
 

Branch or subordinate offices may at any time be established by the Board of Directors at any place or places where the corporation is qualified to do
business.
 

ARTICLE II
 

MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
 

SECTION 2.1  ANNUAL MEETING.
 

An annual meeting of the shareholders, for the election of directors to succeed those whose terms expire and for the transaction of such other business as
may properly come before the meeting, shall be held at such place, on such date and at such time as the Board shall each year fix, which date shall be within
thirteen months of the last annual meeting of shareholders.
 
SECTION 2.2  SPECIAL MEETING.
 

Special meetings of the shareholders may be called at any time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the President, or by the holders of
shares entitled to cast not less than ten percent (10%) of the votes at the meeting.  Notice of such special meeting shall be given in the same manner as for the
annual meeting of shareholders.
 
SECTION 2.3  NOTICE OF MEETINGS .
 

Written notice of the place, date and time of all meetings of the shareholders shall be given, not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the
date on which the meeting is to be held, to each shareholder entitled to vote at such meeting, and to each shareholder not
 

 
entitled to vote who is entitled by statute to notice, except as otherwise provided herein or required by law (meaning, here and hereinafter, as required from time
to time by the California General Corporation Law or the Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles”) of the corporation).  In the case of a special meeting, such
notice shall include the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.  Notice shall be given either by mail or by presenting it to the shareholder
personally or by leaving it at his residence or usual place of business.  If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States
mail addressed to the shareholder at his post-office address as it appears on the records of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.
 
SECTION 2.4  LIMITATION ON BUSINESS AT SPECIAL MEETINGS.
 

Business transacted at any special meeting of shareholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice.
 
SECTION 2.5  QUORUM.
 

At any meeting of the shareholders, the holders of a majority of all the issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of the corporation entitled to vote
at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at such meeting, unless or to the extent that
the presence of a larger number may be required by the Articles or by law.  If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the
shareholders, the chairman of the meeting or the holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy,
shall have the power to adjourn the meeting to another place, date or time.
 
SECTION 2.6  VOTING AND PROXIES .
 

A majority of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders, duly called and at which a quorum is present, shall be sufficient to take or authorize action
upon any matter which may properly come before the meeting, unless more than a majority of the votes cast is required by statute, by these Bylaws or by the
Articles.  Unless otherwise provided by statute or in the Articles, each shareholder shall, at every meeting of the shareholders, be entitled to one vote in person
or by proxy for each share of the capital stock having voting power held by such shareholder, but no proxy shall be voted on after three years from its date,
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unless the proxy provides for a longer period.
 

At any meeting of the shareholders, every shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy authorized by an instrument in writing or by a
transmission permitted by law filed in accordance with the procedure established for the meeting.  No shareholder may authorize more than one proxy for his
shares.
 
SECTION 2.7  INSPECTORS OF ELECTION .
 

The Board or, if the Board shall not have made the appointment, the chairman presiding at any meeting of shareholders, shall have power to appoint one
or more persons to act as
 

 
inspectors of election at the meeting or any adjournment thereof, but no candidate for the office of director shall be appointed as an inspector at any meeting for
the election of directors.
 
SECTION 2.8  CONDUCT OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETIN G.
 

At every meeting of the shareholders, the Chairman, if there is such an officer, or if not, the President of the corporation, or in his absence the Vice
President designated by the President, or in the absence of such designation any Vice President, or in the absence of the President or any Vice President, a
chairman chosen by the majority of the voting shares represented in person or by proxy, shall act as Chairman.  The Secretary of the corporation or a person
designated by the Chairman shall act as Secretary of the meeting.  Unless otherwise approved by the Chairman, attendance at the shareholders’ meeting is
restricted to shareholders of record, persons authorized in accordance with Section 2.6 of these Bylaws to act by proxy and officers of the corporation.
 
SECTION 2.9  CONDUCT OF BUSINESS.
 

The Chairman shall call the meeting to order, establish the agenda and conduct the business of the meeting in accordance therewith or, at the Chairman’s
discretion, it may be conducted otherwise in accordance with the wishes of the shareholders in attendance.  The date and time of the opening and closing of the
polls for each matter upon which the shareholders will vote at the meeting shall be announced at the meeting.
 

The Chairman shall also conduct the meeting in an orderly manner, rule on the precedence of and procedure on, motions and other procedural matters,
and exercise discretion with respect to such procedural matters with fairness and good faith toward all those entitled to take part.  The Chairman may impose
reasonable limits on the amount of time taken up at the meeting on discussion in general or on remarks by any one shareholder.  Should any person in
attendance become unruly or obstruct the meeting proceedings, the Chairman shall have the power to have such person removed from participation. 
Notwithstanding anything in the Bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at a meeting except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this
Section 2.9 and Section 2.10, below.  The Chairman of a meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that business was not
properly brought before the meeting and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 0 and Section 0, and if he should so determine, he shall so declare to
the meeting and any such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.
 
SECTION 2.10  NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDER BUSINESS .
 

At an annual or special meeting of the shareholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting.  To be
properly brought before a meeting, business must be (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board
of Directors, (b) properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (c) properly brought before an annual meeting by a
shareholder or (d) properly brought before a special meeting by a shareholder, but if, and only if, the notice of a special meeting provides for business to be
brought before the meeting by shareholders.  For business to be properly brought before a meeting by a shareholder,
 

 
the shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the corporation.  To be timely, a shareholder proposal to be presented at an
annual meeting shall be received at the corporation’s principal executive offices not less than 120 calendar days in advance of the date that the corporation’s (or
the corporation’s predecessor’s) proxy statement was released to shareholders in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting of shareholders, except that
if no annual meeting was held in the previous year or the date of the annual meeting has been changed by more than 30 calendar days from the date
contemplated at the time of the previous year’s proxy statement, or in the event of a special meeting, notice by the shareholder to be timely must be received not
later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which such notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was
made.  A shareholder’s notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the shareholder proposes to bring before the annual or special meeting (a) a brief
description of the business desired to be brought before the annual or special meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the special meeting, (b)
the name and address, as they appear on the corporation’s books, of the shareholder proposing such business, (c) the class and number of shares of the
corporation which are beneficially owned by the shareholder and (d) any material interest of the shareholder in such business.
 
SECTION 2.11  ACTION WITHOUT MEETING .
 

An action which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of shareholders may be taken without a meeting and without prior notice, if a consent in
writing, setting forth the actions so taken, is signed by the holders of outstanding shares having not less than the minimum number of votes which would be
necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.  All such consents shall be filed with
the Secretary of the Corporation and shall be maintained in the corporate records.  Prompt notice of the taking of a corporate action without a meeting by less
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than unanimous written consent shall be given to those shareholders who have not consented in writing.
 
SECTION 2.12  STOCK LIST.
 

A complete list of shareholders entitled to vote at any meeting of shareholders, arranged in alphabetical order for each class of stock and showing the
address of each such shareholder and the number of shares registered in his name, shall be open to the examination of any such shareholder, for any purpose
germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city where the
meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held.
 

The stock list shall also be kept at the place of the meeting during the whole time thereof and shall be open to the examination of any such shareholder who
is present.  This list shall presumptively determine the identity of the shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the number of shares held by each of
them.
 

 
ARTICLE III

 
DIRECTORS

 
SECTION 3.1  POWERS.
 

Subject to the limitations stated in the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and the California General Corporation Law as to actions which shall be
approved by the shareholders or by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, and subject to the duties of Directors as
prescribed by the California General Corporation Law, all corporate powers shall be exercised by, or under the direction of, and the business and affairs of the
corporation shall be managed by, the Board of Directors.
 
SECTION 3.2  NUMBER OF DIRECTORS .
 

The authorized number of Directors of the corporation shall not be less than five (5), nor more than nine (9), with the exact number of Directors to be
fixed from time to time within such limit by a duly adopted resolution of the Board of Directors or the Shareholders.  The exact number of Directors shall be
six (6) until changed within the limits specified above by a duly adopted resolution of the Board of Directors or Shareholders.
 
SECTION 3.3  ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE .
 

The Directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of shareholders, but if any such annual meeting is not held, or the Directors are not elected thereat,
the Directors may be elected at any special meeting of the shareholders held for that purpose.  All Directors shall hold office until the expiration of the term for
which elected and until their respective successors are elected, except in the case of the death, resignation or removal of any Director.  A Director need not be a
shareholder.
 
SECTION 3.4  RESIGNATION.
 

Any Director may resign effective upon giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the President, the Secretary or the Board of Directors of the
corporation, unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness of such resignation.  If the resignation is effective at a future time, a successor may be
elected to take office when the resignation becomes effective.
 
SECTION 3.5  REMOVAL.
 

The entire Board of Directors or any individual Director may be removed from office, prior to the expiration of their or his term of office only in the
manner and within the limitations provided by the California General Corporation Law.
 

No reduction of the authorized number of Directors shall have the effect of removing any Director prior to the expiration of such Director’s term of office.
 

 
SECTION 3.6  VACANCIES.
 

A vacancy in the Board of Directors shall be deemed to exist in case of the death, resignation or removal of any Director, or if the authorized number of
Directors be increased, or if the shareholders fail at any annual or special meeting of shareholders at which any Director or Directors are elected to elect the full
authorized number of Directors to be voted for at that meeting.
 

Vacancies in the Board of Directors may be filled by a majority of the Directors then in office, whether or not less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining
Director.  Each Director so elected shall hold office until the expiration of the term for which he was elected and until his successor is elected at an annual or a
special meeting of the shareholders, or until his death, resignation or removal.
 

The shareholders may elect a Director or Directors at any time to fill any vacancy or vacancies not filled by the Directors.  Any such election by written
consent other than to fill a vacancy created by removal requires the consent of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote.  A Director may not be

Source: bebe stores, inc., 10-K, September 13, 2004 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



elected by written consent to fill a vacancy created by removal except by unanimous written consent of all shares entitled to vote for the election of directors.
 
SECTION 3.7  ORGANIZATION MEETING.
 

Immediately after each annual meeting of shareholders, the Board of Directors shall hold a regular meeting for the purpose of organization, the election of
officers and the transaction of other business.  No notice of such meeting need be given.
 
SECTION 3.8  OTHER REGULAR MEETINGS .
 

The Board of Directors may provide by resolution the time and place for the holding of regular meetings of the Board; provided, however, that if the date
so designated falls upon a legal holiday, then the meeting shall be held at the same time and place on the next succeeding day which is not a legal holiday.  No
notice of such regular meetings of the Board need be given.
 
SECTION 3.9  CALLING MEETINGS .
 

Meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes shall be held whenever called by the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Secretary
or any two Directors of the corporation.
 
SECTION 3.10  PLACE OF MEETINGS .
 

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at any place within or without the State of California which may be designated in the notice of the
meeting, or, if not stated in the notice or there is no notice, designated by resolution of the Board.  In the absence of such designation, meetings of the Board of
Directors shall be held at the principal executive office of the corporation.
 

 
SECTION 3.11  TELEPHONIC MEETINGS.
 

Members of the Board may participate in a regular or special meeting through use of conference telephone or similar communications equipment, so long
as all members participating in such meeting can hear one another.  Participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3.11 constitutes presence in person at
such meeting.
 
SECTION 3.12  NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETINGS .
 

Written notice of the time and place of special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be delivered personally to each Director, or sent to each Director by
mail, telephone or telegraph.  In case such notice is sent by mail, it shall be deposited in the United States mail at least four (4) days prior to the time of the
holding of the meeting.  In case such notice is delivered personally, or by telephone or telegraph, it shall be so delivered at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to
the time of the holding of the meeting.  Such notice may be given by the Secretary of the corporation or by the persons who called said meeting.  Such notice
need not specify the purpose of the meeting, and notice shall not be necessary if appropriate waivers, consents and/or approvals are filed in accordance with
Section 3.13 of these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 3.13  WAIVER OF NOTICE.
 

Notice of a meeting need not be given to any Director who signs a waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without
protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to such Director.
 

The transactions of any meeting of the Board of Directors, however called and noticed or wherever held, shall be as valid as though had at a meeting duly
held after regular call and notice if a quorum is present and if, either before or after the meeting, each of the Directors not present signs a written waiver of
notice, a consent to holding the meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof. All such waivers, consents and approvals shall be filed with the corporate
records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting.
 
SECTION 3.14  ACTION WITHOUT MEETING .
 

Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board shall individually or
collectively consent in writing to such action.  Such written consent or consents shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board.  Such action
by written consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of such Directors.
 
SECTION 3.15  QUORUM.
 

A majority of the authorized number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  Every act or decision done or made by a
majority of the Directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the Articles of
Incorporation, or the California General Corporation Law, specifically requires a greater number.  In the absence of a quorum at any meeting of the Board of
Directors, a majority
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of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting as provided in Section 3.16 of these Bylaws.  A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue
to transact business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Directors to leave less than a quorum, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of
the required quorum for such meeting.
 
SECTION 3.16  ADJOURNMENT .
 

Any meeting of the Board of Directors, whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned to another time and place by the vote of a majority of the
Directors present.  Notice of the time and place of the adjourned meeting need not be given to absent Directors if said time and place are fixed at the meeting
adjourned.
 
SECTION 3.17  INSPECTION RIGHTS .
 

Every Director shall have the absolute right at any time to inspect, copy and make extra copies of, in person or by agent or attorney, all books, records
and documents of every kind and to inspect the physical properties of the corporation.
 
SECTION 3.18  FEES AND COMPENSATION.
 

Directors shall not receive any stated salary for their services as directors, but, by resolution of the Board, a fixed fee, with or without expenses of
attendance, may be allowed for attendance at each meeting.  Nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the corporation
in any other capacity as an officer, agent, employee or otherwise, and receiving compensation therefor.
 
SECTION 3.19  LOANS TO OFFICERS.
 

The corporation may not, directly or indirectly, including through any subsidiary, extend or maintain credit, arrange for the extension of credit, or renew
an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any member of the Board of Directors or any executive officer (or equivalent thereof) of the
corporation.
 

ARTICLE IV
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHER COMMITTEES
 

SECTION 4.1  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE .
 

The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the authorized number of Directors, appoint an executive committee, consisting of
two or more Directors.  The Board may designate one or more Directors as an alternate member of such committee, who may replace any absent member of
any meeting of the committee.  The executive committee, subject to any limitations imposed by the California General Corporation Law, or by resolution
adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the authorized number of Directors, or imposed by the Articles
 

 
of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, shall have and may exercise all of the powers of the Board of Directors.
 
SECTION 4.2  OTHER COMMITTEES .
 

The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the authorized number of Directors, designate such other committees, each consisting
of 2 or more Directors, as it may from time to time deem advisable to perform such general or special duties as may from time to time be delegated to any such
committee by the Board of Directors, subject to the limitations contained in the California General Corporation Law, or imposed by the Articles of
Incorporation or by these Bylaws.  The Board may designate one or more Directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent
member at any meeting of the committee.
 
SECTION 4.3  MINUTES AND REPORTS .
 

Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings, which shall be filed with the Secretary.  All action by any committee shall be reported to the
Board of Directors at the next meeting thereof, and, insofar as rights of third parties shall not be affected thereby, shall be subject to revision and alteration by
the Board of Directors.
 
SECTION 4.4  MEETINGS.
 

Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or by resolution of the Board of Directors, each committee shall adopt its own rules governing the time and
place of holding and the method of calling its meetings and the conduct of its proceedings and shall meet as provided by such rules, and it shall also meet at
the call of any member of the committee.  Unless otherwise provided by such rules or by resolution of the Board of Directors, committee meetings shall be
governed by Sections 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 4.5  TERM OF OFFICE OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS .
 

The term of office of any committee member shall be as provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating him but shall not exceed his term
as a Director.  Any member of a committee may be removed at any time by resolution adopted by Directors holding a majority of the directorships, either
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present at a meeting of the Board or by written approval thereof.
 

ARTICLE V
 

OFFICERS
 

SECTION 5.1  OFFICERS.
 

The officers of the corporation shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer, who shall be the Chief Financial Officer of the
corporation.  The corporation may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a Chairman of the Board, a Vice Chairman of
 

 
the Board, one or more additional Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant Treasurers, and such other officers as may be appointed in accordance with the
provisions of Section 5.3.  One person may hold two or more offices.
 
SECTION 5.2  ELECTION.
 

The officers of the corporation, except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of Sections 5.3 and 5.5, shall be chosen
annually by the Board of Directors and each shall hold his office until he shall resign or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified to serve, or his successor
shall be elected and qualified.
 
SECTION 5.3  SUBORDINATE OFFICERS, ETC.
 

The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers as the business of the corporation may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period,
have such authority and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws or as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.
 
SECTION 5.4  REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION.
 

Any officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by a majority of the Directors at the time in office, at any regular or special meeting of the
Board, or, except in case of an officer chosen by the Board of Directors, by an officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the Board of
Directors.
 

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the corporation.  Any such resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of such
notice or at any later time specified therein; and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it
effective.
 
SECTION 5.5  VACANCIES.
 

A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or any other cause shall be filled in the manner prescribed in these
Bylaws for regular appointments to such office.
 
SECTION 5.6  CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD .
 

The Chairman of the Board, if there shall be such an officer, shall, if present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors, and exercise and perform
such other powers and duties as may be from time to time assigned to him by the Board of Directors or prescribed by these Bylaws.
 

 
SECTION 5.7  VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD .
 

The Vice Chairman of the Board, if there shall be such an officer, shall, in the absence of the Chairman of the Board, preside at all meetings of the Board
of Directors, and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may be from time to time assigned to him by the Board of Directors or prescribed by
these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 5.8  PRESIDENT.
 

Subject to such supervisory powers, if any, as may be given by the Board of Directors to the Chairman of the Board, if there be such an officer, the
President shall be the general manager and chief executive officer of the corporation and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have general
supervision, direction, and control of the business and officers of the corporation.  He shall preside at all meetings of the shareholders.  He shall be ex officio a
member of all the standing committees, including the executive committee, if any, and shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested
in the office of president of a corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 5.9  VICE PRESIDENT.
 

In the absence or disability of the President, the Vice Presidents in order of their rank as fixed by the Board of Directors, or if not ranked, the Vice
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President designated by the Board of Directors, shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all
the restrictions upon, the President.  The Vice Presidents shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as from time to time may be prescribed
for them respectively by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 5.10  SECRETARY.
 

The Secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, a book of minutes in written form of the proceedings of the Board of Directors, committees of the Board,
and shareholders.  Such minutes shall include all waivers of notice, consents to the holding of meetings, or approvals of the minutes of meetings executed
pursuant to these Bylaws or the California General Corporation Law.  The Secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept at the principal executive office or at the
office of the corporation’s transfer agent or registrar, a record of its shareholders, giving the names and addresses of all shareholders and the number and class
of shares held by each.
 

The Secretary shall give or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors required by these Bylaws or by law
to be given, and shall keep the seal of the corporation in safe custody, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed
by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 5.11  TREASURER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER.
 

The Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records of
account in written form or any other form capable of being converted into written form.
 

 
The Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer shall deposit all monies and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the corporation with such

depositaries as may be designated by the Board of Directors.  He shall disburse all funds of the corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, shall
render to the President and Directors, whenever they request it, an account of all of his transactions as Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer and of the
financial condition of the corporation, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or by
these Bylaws.
 
SECTION 5.12  ASSISTANT SECRETARY.
 

The Assistant Secretary shall have all the powers, and perform all the duties of, the Secretary in the absence or inability of the Secretary to act.
 
SECTION 5.13  COMPENSATION.
 

The compensation of the officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors, and no officer shall be prevented from receiving such
compensation by reason of the fact that he is also a Director of the corporation.
 

ARTICLE VI
 

MISCELLANEOUS
 

SECTION 6.1  RECORD DATE.
 

The Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a time in the future as the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of any meeting or
to vote or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any other
lawful action.  Shareholders on the record date are entitled to notice and to vote or receive the dividend, distribution or allotment of rights or to exercise the
rights, as the case may be, notwithstanding any transfer of any shares in the books of the corporation after the record date, except as otherwise provided by
law.  Said record date shall not be more than sixty (60) or less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty (60) days prior to any
other action.  A determination of shareholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting
unless the Board fixes a new record date for the adjourned meeting, but the Board shall fix a new record date if the meeting is adjourned for more than forty-
five (45) days from the date set for the original meeting.
 

If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date shall be fixed pursuant to the California General Corporation Law.
 

 
SECTION 6.2  INSPECTION OF CORPORATE RECORDS.
 

The accounting books and records, and minutes of proceedings of the shareholders and the Board of Directors and committees of the Board shall be open
to inspection upon written demand made upon the corporation by any shareholder or the holder of a voting trust certificate, at any reasonable time during usual
business hours, for a purpose reasonably related to his interest as a shareholder, or as the holder of such voting trust certificate.  The record of shareholders
shall also be open to inspection by any shareholder or holder of a voting trust certificate at any time during usual business hours upon written demand on the
corporation, for a purpose reasonably related to such holder’s interest as a shareholder or holder of a voting trust certificate.  Such inspection may be made in
person or by an agent or attorney, and shall include the right to copy and to make extracts.
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SECTION 6.3  EXECUTION OF CORPORATE INSTRUMENTS.
 

The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, determine the method and designate the statutory officer or officers, or other person or persons, to execute
any corporate instrument or document, or to sign the corporate name without limitation, except where otherwise provided by law, and such execution or
signature shall be binding upon the corporation.  Unless otherwise specifically determined by the Board of Directors, formal contracts of the corporation,
promissory notes, mortgages, evidences of indebtedness, conveyances or other instruments in writing, and any assignment or endorsement thereof, executed or
entered into between the corporation and any person, may be signed by the Chairman of the Board, the President, any Vice President, the Secretary or the
Treasurer of the corporation.
 
SECTION 6.4  RATIFICATION BY SHAREHOLDERS.
 

The Board of Directors may, subject to applicable notice requirements, in its discretion, submit any contract or act for approval or ratification of the
shareholders at any annual meeting of shareholders, or at any special meeting of shareholders called for that purpose; and any contract or act which shall be
approved or ratified by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote represented at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present, or by
the written consent of shareholders, shall be as valid and binding upon the corporation and upon the shareholders thereof as though approved or ratified by
each and every shareholder of the corporation, unless a greater vote is required by law for such purpose.
 
SECTION 6.5  REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORATIONS.
 

The President and Vice President of this corporation are authorized to vote, represent and exercise on behalf of the corporation all rights incident to any and
all shares of any other corporation or corporations standing in the name of this corporation.  The authority herein granted to said officers to vote or represent on
behalf of this corporation any and all shares held by this corporation and any other corporation or corporations may be exercised either by such officers in
person or by any person authorized so to do by proxy or power of attorney and duly executed by said officers.
 

 
SECTION 6.6  INSPECTION OF BYLAWS.
 

The corporation shall keep in its principal executive office in this State the original or a copy of the Bylaws as amended or otherwise altered to date, which
shall be open to inspection by the shareholders at all reasonable times during office hours.
 
SECTION 6.7  FACSIMILE SIGNATURES.
 

In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile signatures elsewhere specifically authorized in these Bylaws, facsimile signatures of any officer or
officers of the Corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by the Board of Directors or a committee thereof.
 

ARTICLE VII
 

SHARES OF STOCK
 

SECTION 7.1  FORM OF CERTIFICATES.
 

Certificates for shares of stock of the corporation  shall be in such form and design as the Board of Directors shall determine and shall be signed in the
name of the corporation by the Chairman of the Board, or the President or Vice President and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or
any Assistant Secretary.  Each certificate shall state the certificate number, the date of issuance, the number, class or series and the name of the record holder
of the shares represented thereby, the name of the corporation, and, if the shares of the corporation are classified or if any class of shares has two or more
series, there shall appear the statement required by the California General Corporation Law.
 
SECTION 7.2  TRANSFER OF SHARES .
 

Transfers of stock shall be made only upon the transfer books of the Corporation kept at an office of the Corporation or by transfer agents designated to
transfer shares of the stock of the Corporation.  Except where a certificate is issued in accordance with Section 7.3 of these Bylaws, an outstanding certificate
for the number of shares involved shall be surrendered for cancellation before a new certificate is issued therefor.
 
SECTION 7.3  LOST CERTIFICATES.
 

The Board of Directors may order a new certificate for shares of stock to be issued in the place of any certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or
destroyed, but in every such case, the owner or the legal representative of the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificates may be required to give the
corporation a bond (or other adequate security) in such form and amount as the Board may deem sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be
made against the corporation (including any expense or liability) on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or issuance of such
new certificate.
 

 
ARTICLE VIII
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INDEMNIFICATION

 
SECTION 8.1  INDEMNIFICATION BY CORPORATION.
 

Each person who was or is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to or is involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (“Proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person of whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director
or officer of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a
corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation, whether the basis of
such Proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent or in any other capacity while serving as a director, officer,
employee or agent, shall be indemnified and held harmless by the corporation to the fullest extent authorized by the California General Corporation Law,
against all expenses, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts paid or to be paid in
settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection therewith and such indemnification shall continue as to a person who has ceased to
be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and administrators; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that, except
as provided in Section 8.2 of this Article VIII, the corporation shall indemnify any such person seeking indemnity in connection with a Proceeding (or part
thereof) initiated by such person only if such Proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the board of directors of the corporation. The right to
indemnification conferred by this Section shall include the right to be paid by the corporation expenses incurred in defending any such Proceeding in advance
of its final disposition to the fullest extent authorized by the California General Corporation Law; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that, if required by the California
General Corporation Law, the payment of such expenses incurred by such person in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding shall be made only
upon delivery to the corporation of an undertaking, by or on behalf of such person, to repay all amounts so advanced if it should be determined ultimately that
such person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Section or otherwise.
 
SECTION 8.2  RIGHT OF CLAIMANT TO BRING SUIT .
 

If a claim under Section 8.1 of this Article VIII is not paid in full by the corporation within ninety (90) days after a written claim has been received by the
corporation, the claimant may at any time thereafter bring suit against the corporation to recover the unpaid amount of the claim and, if successful in whole or
in part, the claimant shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting such claim.  It shall be a defense to any such action (other than an action
brought to enforce a claim for expenses incurred in defending any Proceeding in advance of its final disposition where the required undertaking, if any, has
been tendered to the corporation) that the claimant has not met the standards of conduct which make it permissible under the California General Corporation
Law for the corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount claimed.  Neither the failure of the corporation (including its board of directors, independent
legal counsel, or it shareholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that

 

 
indemnification of the claimant is proper in the circumstances because he or she has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the California General
Corporation Law, nor an actual determination by the corporation (including its board of directors, independent legal counsel, or its shareholders) that the
claimant has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that claimant has not met the applicable
standard of conduct.
 
SECTION 8.3  INDEMNIFICATION OF EMPLOYEES AND AG ENTS OF THE CORPORATION.
 

The corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors, grant rights to indemnification, and to the advancement of
expenses to any employee or agent of the corporation to the fullest extent of the provisions of this Article with respect to the indemnification of and advancement
of expenses to directors and officers of the corporation.
 
SECTION 8.4  RIGHTS NOT EXCLUSIVE .
 

The rights conferred on any person by this Article VIII above shall not be exclusive of any other right which such person may have or hereafter acquire
under any statute, provision of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.
 
SECTION 8.5  INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS .
 

The Board of Directors is authorized to enter into a contract with any Director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or any person who is or was
serving at the request of the corporation as a Director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise,
including employee benefit plans, or any person who was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the
corporation or of another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation, providing for indemnification rights equivalent to or, if the Board of
Directors so determines, greater than, those provided for in this Article VIII.
 
SECTION 8.6  INSURANCE.
 

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any Director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or
another corporation (including a predecessor corporation), partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any such expense, liability or loss,
whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under the California General Corporation
Law.
 
SECTION 8.7  AMENDMENT, REPEAL OR MODIFICATION.
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Any amendment, repeal or modification of any provision of this Article VIII by the shareholders or the Directors of the corporation shall not adversely

affect any right or protection
 

 
of a Director or officer of the corporation existing at the time of such amendment, repeal or modification.
 

ARTICLE IX
 

AMENDMENTS
 

SECTION 9.1  POWER OF SHAREHOLDERS .
 

New Bylaws may be adopted or these Bylaws may be amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of a two-thirds majority of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote or by the written consent thereof, except as otherwise provided by law or by the Articles of Incorporation.
 
SECTION 9.2  POWER OF DIRECTORS .
 

Subject to the right of shareholders as provided in Section 9.1 of these Bylaws, Bylaws other than a Bylaw or amendment thereof specifying or changing
the authorized number of Directors, or the minimum or maximum number of a variable Board of Directors, or changing from a fixed to a variable Board of
Directors or vice versa, may be adopted, amended or repealed by a unanimous vote of the Board of Directors.
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

 
I hereby certify that I am the duly elected and acting Secretary of bebe stores, inc., a California corporation and that the foregoing Amended and Restated

Bylaws, comprising eighteen (18) pages, constitute the Bylaws of said corporation as duly adopted by the Board of Directors.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunder subscribed my name this  29 day of  September, 2003.
 

/s/ John E. Kyees
John E. Kyees, Secretary
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Exhibit 10.1
 

bebe stores, inc.
 

1997 STOCK PLAN
 
 

(As amended and restated through October 20, 2003)
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1. Establishment and Purpose.
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(a) Committees of the Board of Directors.
(b) Authority of the Board of Directors.

    
3. Eligibility.

(a) General Rule.
(b) Ten-Percent Shareholders.

    
4. Stock Subject to Plan.

(a) Basic Limitation.
(b) Additional Shares.

    
5. Terms and Conditions of Stock Purchase Awards or Sales.

(a) Stock Purchase Agreement.
(b) Duration of Offers and Nontransferability of Rights.
(c) Purchase Price.
(d) Withholding Taxes.
(e) Restrictions on Transfer of Shares and Vesting.
(f) Accelerated Vesting.

    
6. Terms and Conditions of Options.

(a) Stock Option Agreement.
(b) Number of Shares.
(c) Exercise Price.
(d) Withholding Taxes.
(e) Exercisability.
(f) Accelerated Vesting and Exercisability.
(g) Basic Term.
(h) Nontransferability of ISOs.
(i) Termination of Service (Except by Death or for Cause).
(j) Leaves of Absence.
(k) Death of Optionee.
(l) Termination for Cause.
(m) No Rights as a Shareholder.
(n) Modification, Extension and Assumption of Options.
(o) Restrictions on Transfer of Shares and Vesting.

    
7. Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Units.

(a) Restricted Stock Units Agreement.
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(b) Purchase Price.
(c) Vesting.
(d) Voting.
(e) Effect of Termination of Service.
(f) Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit Award.
(g) Accelerated Vesting and Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit Awards.
(h) Restrictions on Transfer of Restricted Stock Unit Awards.
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8. Payment for Shares.
(a) General Rule.
(b) Surrender of Stock.
(c) Services Rendered.
(d) Promissory Note.
(e) Exercise/Sale.
(f) Exercise/Pledge.

    
9. Adjustment of Shares.

(a) General.
(b) Mergers and Consolidations.
(c) Reservation of Rights.

    
10. Securities Law Requirements.

(a) General.
(b) Financial Reports.

    
11. No Retention Rights.
    
12. Duration and Amendments.

(a) Term of the Plan.
(b) Right to Amend or Terminate the Plan.
(c) Effect of Amendment or Termination.

    
13. Definitions.
    
14. Execution.

 
ii

 
bebe stores, inc.

1997 STOCK PLAN
 

1.                                       Establishment and Purpose .
 
The purpose of the Plan is to offer selected individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the success of the Company, or to increase

such interest, by purchasing Shares of the Company’s Stock.  The Plan provides for the direct award or sale of Shares, the grant of Options to purchase
Shares and the grant of Restricted Stock Units.  Options granted under the Plan may include Nonstatutory Options (“NSOs”) as well as Incentive Stock
Options (“ISOs”) intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code.

 
Capitalized terms are defined in Section 13.
 
2.                                       Administration.
 

(a)                                  Committees of the Board of Directors .  The Plan may be administered by one or more Committees.  Each Committee shall consist
of two or more members of the Board of Directors who have been appointed by the Board of Directors.  Each Committee shall have such authority and be
responsible for such functions as the Board of Directors has assigned to it.  If no Committee has been appointed, the entire Board of Directors shall administer
the Plan.  Any reference to the Board of Directors in the Plan shall be construed as a reference to the Committee (if any) to whom the Board of Directors has
assigned a particular function.

 
(b)                                 Authority of the Board of Directors .  Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board of Directors shall have full authority and

discretion to take any actions it deems necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.  All decisions, interpretations and other actions of the Board
of Directors shall be final and binding on all Purchasers, all Optionees, all Participants and all persons deriving their rights from a Purchaser, Optionee and
Participant.

 
(c)                                  Administration with Respect to Insiders .  With respect to participation by Insiders in the Plan, at any time that any class of

equity security of the Company is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, the Plan shall be administered in compliance with the requirements,
if any, of Rule 16b-3.

 
(d)                                 Committee Complying with Section 162(m) .  If the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary) is a “publicly held corporation”

within the meaning of Section 162(m), the Board of Directors may establish a committee of “outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) to
approve any grants under the Plan which might reasonably be anticipated to result in the payment of employee remuneration that would otherwise exceed the
limit on employee remuneration deductible for income tax purposes pursuant to Section 162(m).
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3.                                       Eligibility and Award Limitation.
 

(a)                                  General Rule.  Only Employees, Outside Directors and Consultants shall be eligible for the grant of Options, the direct award or
sale of Shares and the grant of Restricted Stock Units.  For purposes of the foregoing sentence, “Employees,” “Outside Directors” and “Consultants” shall
include prospective Employees, prospective Outside Directors and prospective Consultants to whom Options or Shares are granted in connection with written
offers of an employment or other service relationship with the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary).  Only Employees shall be eligible for the grant of ISOs.

 
(b)                                 Ten-Percent Shareholders.  An individual who owns more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of

outstanding stock of the Company, its Parent or any of its Subsidiaries shall not be eligible to be granted an ISO unless (i) the Exercise Price is at least 110%
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant, and (ii) the ISO, by its terms is not exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date of grant. 
For purposes of this Subsection (b), in determining stock ownership, the attribution rules of Section 424(d) of the Code shall be applied.

 
(c)                                  Section 162(m) Grant Limit .   Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 9(a), at any such time as the Company is a

“publicly held corporation” within the meaning of Section 162(m), no Employee or prospective Employee shall be granted one or more Options within any
fiscal year of the Company which in the aggregate are for the purchase of more than four hundred thousand (400,000) shares (the  “Section 162(m) Grant
Limit”).  An Option which is canceled in the same fiscal year of the Company in which it was granted shall continue to be counted against the Section 162(m)
Grant Limit for such period.

 
4.                                       Stock Subject to Plan.
 

(a)                                  Basic Limitation.  The aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under the Plan (upon exercise of Options, Stock Purchase
rights, Restricted Stock Units or other rights to acquire Shares) shall not exceed five million three hundred thirty thousand (5,330,000) Shares, subject to
adjustment pursuant to Section 9. The number of Shares that are subject to Options or other rights outstanding at any time under the Plan shall not exceed the
number of Shares that then remain available for issuance under the Plan.  The Company, during the term of the Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep
available sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

 
(b)                                 Additional Shares.  In the event that any outstanding Option, Stock Purchase right, Restricted Stock Units or other right for any

reason expires or is canceled or otherwise terminated, the Shares allocable to the unexercised portion of such Option or other right shall again be available for
the purposes of the Plan.  In the event that Shares issued under the Plan are reacquired by the Company pursuant to any forfeiture provision, right of
repurchase or right of first refusal, such Shares shall again be available for the purposes of the Plan, except that the aggregate number of Shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of ISOs shall in no
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event exceed five million three hundred thirty thousand (5,330,000) Shares (subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 9).

 
5.                                       Terms and Conditions of Stock Purchase Awards or Sales.
 

(a)                                  Stock Purchase Agreement .  Each award or sale of Shares pursuant to Section 5 shall be evidenced by a Stock Purchase
Agreement between the Purchaser and the Company.  Such award or sale shall be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of the Plan and may be subject
to any other terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Plan and which the Board of Directors deems appropriate for inclusion in a Stock
Purchase Agreement.  The provisions of the various Stock Purchase Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

 
(b)                                 Duration of Offers and Nontransferability of Rights.  Any right to acquire Shares pursuant to Section 5 shall automatically

expire if not exercised by the Purchaser within 30 days after the grant of such right was communicated to the Purchaser by the Company in writing.  Such
right shall not be transferable and shall be exercisable only by the Purchaser to whom such right was granted.

 
(c)                                  Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price of Shares to be offered pursuant to Section 5 shall not be less than 85% of the Fair Market

Value of such Shares.  Subject to the preceding sentence, the Purchase Price shall be determined by the Board of Directors at its sole discretion.  The Purchase
Price shall be payable in a form described in Section 8.

 
(d)                                 Withholding Taxes.  As a condition to the purchase of Shares, the Purchaser shall make such arrangements as the Board of

Directors may require for the satisfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax obligations that may arise in connection with such purchase.
 
(e)                                  Restrictions on Transfer of Shares and Vesting.  Any Shares awarded or sold under the Plan shall be subject to such special

forfeiture conditions, rights of repurchase, rights of first refusal and other transfer restrictions as the Board of Directors may determine.  Such restrictions
shall be set forth in the applicable Stock Purchase Agreement and shall apply in addition to any restrictions that may apply to holders of Shares generally.

 
(f)                                    Accelerated Vesting.  Unless the applicable Stock Purchase Agreement provides otherwise, any right to repurchase a Purchaser’s

Shares at the original Purchase Price (if any) upon termination of the Purchaser’s Service shall lapse and all of such Shares shall become vested if (i) the
Company is subject to a Change in Control and (ii) the repurchase right is not assigned to the entity that employs the Purchaser immediately after the Change
in Control or to its parent or subsidiary.
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6.                                       Terms and Conditions of Options.
 

(a)                                  Stock Option Agreement .  Each grant of an Option under the Plan shall be evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement between the
Optionee and the Company.  Such Option shall be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of the Plan and may be subject to any other terms and
conditions which are not inconsistent with the Plan and which the Board of Directors deems appropriate for inclusion in a Stock Option Agreement.  The
provisions of the various Stock Option Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

 
(b)                                 Number of Shares.  Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the number of Shares that are subject to the Option and shall

provide for the adjustment of such number in accordance with Section 9. The Stock Option Agreement shall also specify whether the Option is an ISO or an
NSO.

 
(c)                                  Exercise Price.  Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the Exercise Price.  The Exercise Price of an ISO shall not be less

than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant, and a higher percentage may be required by Section 3(b).  The Exercise Price of an NSO
shall not be less than 85 % of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.  Subject to the preceding two sentences, the Exercise Price under any
Option shall be determined by the Board of Directors at its sole discretion.  The Exercise Price shall be payable in a form described in Section 8.

 
(d)                                 Withholding Taxes.  As a condition to the exercise of an Option, the Optionee shall make such arrangements as the Board of

Directors may require for the satisfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax obligations that may arise in connection with such exercise. 
The Optionee shall also make such arrangements as the Board of Directors may require for the satisfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign withholding
tax obligations that may arise in connection with the disposition of Shares acquired by exercising an Option.

 
(e)                                  Exercisability.  Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the date when all or any installment of the Option is to become

exercisable.  The exercisability provisions of any Stock Option Agreement shall be determined by the Board of Directors at its sole discretion.
 
(f)                                    Accelerated Vesting and Exercisability.  Unless the applicable Stock Option Agreement provides otherwise, all of an Optionee’s

Options shall become exercisable and vested in full if (i) the Company is subject to a Change in Control, (ii) such Options are not assumed by the surviving
corporation or its parent and (iii) the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute options with substantially the same terms for such Options.  Any
options which are not assumed or substituted for in connection with the Change in Control shall, to the extent not exercised as of the date of the Change in
Control, terminate and cease to be outstanding effective as of the date of the Change in Control.

 
(g)                                 Basic Term.  The Stock Option Agreement shall specify the term of the Option.  The term of an ISO shall not exceed 10 years

from the date of grant, and a shorter term
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may be required by Section 3(b).  Subject to the preceding sentence, the Board of Directors at its sole discretion shall determine when an Option is to expire.

 
(h)                                 Nontransferability of ISOs .  No Option shall be transferable by the Optionee other than by beneficiary designation, will or the

laws of descent and distribution.  An Option may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee only by the Optionee or by the Optionee’s guardian or legal
representative.  No Option or interest therein may be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated by the Optionee during the Optionee’s lifetime, whether by
operation of law or otherwise, or be made subject to execution, attachment or similar process.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, an NSO shall be assignable or
transferable to the extent permitted by the Board of Directors and set forth in the Stock Option Agreement evidencing such Option.

 
(i)                                     Termination of Service (Except by Death or for Cause).  Unless otherwise specified in the Stock Option Agreement, if an

Optionee’s Service terminates for any reason other than the Optionee’s death or for Cause (as defined below), then the Optionee’s Options shall expire on the
earliest of the following occasions:

 
(i)                                     The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (g) above;
 
(ii)                                  The date three months after the termination of the Optionee’s Service for any reason other than Disability; or
 
(iii)                               The date six months after the termination of the Optionee’s Service by reason of Disability.
 

The Optionee may exercise all or part of the Optionee’s Options at any time before the expiration of such Options under the preceding sentence, but only to the
extent that such Options had become exercisable before the Optionee’s Service terminated (or became exercisable as a result of the termination) and the
underlying Shares had vested before the Optionee’s Service terminated (or vested as a result of the termination).  The balance of such Options shall lapse when
the Optionee’s Service terminates.  In the event that the Optionee dies after the termination of the Optionee’s Service but before the expiration of the Optionee’s
Options, all or part of such Options may be exercised (prior to expiration) by the executors or administrators of the Optionee’s estate or by any person who has
acquired such Options directly from the Optionee by beneficiary designation, bequest or inheritance, but only to the extent that such Options had become
exercisable before the Optionee’s Service terminated (or became exercisable as a result of the termination) and the underlying Shares had vested before the
Optionee’s Service terminated (or vested as a result of the termination).
 

(j)                                     Leaves of Absence .  For purposes of Subsection (i) above, Service shall be deemed to continue while the Optionee is on a bona
fide leave of absence, if such leave was approved by the Company in writing and if continued crediting of Service for this purpose is expressly required by the
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terms of such leave or by applicable law (as determined by the Company).
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(k)                                  Death of Optionee.  Unless otherwise specified in the Stock Option Agreement, if an Optionee dies while the Optionee is in

Service, then the Optionee’s Options shall expire on the earlier of the following dates:
 

(i)                                     The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (g) above;
 

or
 

(ii)                                  The date 12 months after the Optionee’s death.
 

All or part of the Optionee’s Options may be exercised at any time before the expiration of such Options under the preceding sentence by the executors or
administrators of the Optionee’s estate or by any person who has acquired such Options directly from the Optionee by beneficiary designation, bequest or
inheritance, but only to the extent that such Options had become exercisable before the Optionee’s death or became exercisable as a result of the death.  The
balance of such Options shall lapse when the Optionee dies.
 

(l)                                     Termination for Cause.   Unless otherwise specified in the Stock Option Agreement, if an Optionee’s Service is terminated for
Cause, the Option shall terminate and cease to be exercisable immediately upon such termination of Service.  Unless otherwise defined by the Optionee’s Stock
Option Agreement or contract of employment or service, for purposes of this Section 6(l) “Cause” shall mean any of the following: (1) the Optionee’s theft,
dishonesty, or falsification of any Company documents or records; (2) the Optionee’s improper use or disclosure of a the Company’s confidential or
proprietary information; (3) any action by the Optionee which has a material detrimental effect on the Company’s reputation or business; (4) the Optionee’s
failure or inability to perform any reasonable assigned duties after written notice from the Company of, and a reasonable opportunity to cure, such failure or
inability; (5) any material breach by the Optionee of any employment or service agreement between the Optionee and the Company, which breach is not cured
pursuant to the terms of such agreement; (6) the Optionee’s conviction (including any plea of guilty or nolo contendere) of any criminal act which impairs the
Optionee’s ability to perform his or her duties with the Company; or (7) Optionee’s conviction for a violation of any securities law.

 
(m)                               No Rights as a Shareholder .  An Optionee, or a transferee of an Optionee, shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to

any Shares covered by the Optionee’s Option until such person becomes entitled to receive such Shares by filing a notice of exercise and paying the Exercise
Price pursuant to the terms of such Option.

 
(n)                                 Modification, Extension and Assumption o f Options.  Within the limitations of the Plan, the Board of Directors may modify,

extend or assume outstanding Options or may accept the cancellation of outstanding Options (whether granted by the Company or another issuer) in return for
the grant of new Options for the same or a different number of Shares and at the same or a different Exercise Price.  The foregoing notwithstanding, no
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modification of an Option shall, without the consent of the Optionee, impair the Optionee’s rights or increase the Optionee’s obligations under such Option.

 
(o)                                 Restrictions on Transfer of Shares and Vesting.  Any Shares issued upon exercise of an Option shall be subject to such special

forfeiture conditions, rights of repurchase, rights of first refusal and other transfer restrictions as the Board of Directors may determine.  Such restrictions
shall be set forth in the applicable Stock Option Agreement and shall apply in addition to any restrictions that may apply to holders of Shares generally.

 
7.                                       Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Units.
 

(a)                                  Restricted Stock Units Agreement .  Each Restricted Stock Units award pursuant to Section 7 shall be evidenced by a Restricted
Stock Units Agreement between the Participant and the Company.  Such award shall be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of the Plan and may be
subject to any other terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Plan and which the Board of Directors deems appropriate for inclusion in a
Restricted Stock Units Agreement.  The provisions of the various Restricted Stock Units Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

 
(b)                                 Purchase Price.   No monetary payment (other than applicable tax withholding, if any) shall be required as a condition of

receiving a Restricted Stock Units award, the consideration for which shall be services actually rendered to the Company, a Parent or Subsidiary, or for its
benefit.

 
(c)                                  Vesting.   Restricted Stock Units may or may not be made subject to vesting conditions based upon the satisfaction of such

Service requirements, conditions or restrictions, as shall be established by the Board of Directors and set forth in the Restricted Stock Units Agreement.
 
(d)                                 Voting.  Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to shares of Stock represented by Restricted Stock Units until the

date of the issuance of such shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the
Company).

 
(e)                                  Effect of Termination of Service.  Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in the grant of Restricted Stock Units and

set forth in the Restricted Stock Units Agreement, if a Participant’s Service terminates for any reason, whether voluntary or involuntary (including the
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Participant’s death or disability), then the Participant shall forfeit to the Company any Restricted Stock Units which remain subject to vesting conditions as of
the date of the Participant’s termination of Service.

 
(f)                                    Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit Award.  The Company shall issue to the Participant as soon as practicable following the date

of termination of the Participant’s Service, a number of whole shares of Stock equal to the number of whole Restricted Stock Units
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as set forth in and subject to the Restricted Stock Units Agreement which are no longer subject to vesting conditions, subject to withholding of applicable
taxes, if any.

 
(g)                                 Accelerated Vesting and Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit Awards.  Unless the applicable Restricted Stock Units Agreement

provides otherwise, all of a Participant’s Restricted Stock Units shall become vested in full if (i) the Company is subject to a Change in Control, (ii) such
Restricted Stock Units do not remain outstanding, (iii) such Restricted Stock Units are not assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent and (iv) the
surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute a substantially equivalent award.  The  Restricted Stock Units shall be settled in accordance with
Section 7(f) immediately prior to the effective date of the Change in Control to the extent the Restricted Stock Units are neither assumed or substituted for in
connection with the Change in Control.

 
(h)                                 Restrictions on Transfer of Restricted Stock Unit Awards.  Prior to the issuance of shares of Stock in settlement of a Restricted

Stock Unit award, the award shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or garnishment
by creditors of the Participant or the Participant’s beneficiary, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

 
8.                                       Payment for Shares.
 

(a)                                  General Rule.  The entire Purchase Price or Exercise Price of Shares issued under the Plan shall be payable in cash or cash
equivalents at the time when such Shares are purchased, except as otherwise provided in this Section 8.

 
(b)                                 Surrender of Stock.  To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement so provides, payment may be made all or in part with Shares

owned by the Optionee or the Optionee’s representative.  Such Shares shall be surrendered to the Company in good form for transfer and shall be valued at
their Fair Market Value on the date when the Option is exercised.  This Subsection (b) shall not apply to the extent that acceptance of Shares in payment of the
Exercise Price would cause the Company to recognize compensation expense with respect to the Option for financial reporting purposes.

 
(c)                                  Services Rendered.  At the discretion of the Board of Directors, Shares may be awarded under the Plan in consideration of

services rendered to the Company, a Parent or a Subsidiary prior to the award.
 
(d)                                 Exercise/Sale.  To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement so provides, and if Stock is publicly traded, payment may be made

all or in part by the delivery (on a form prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker approved by the Company to sell Shares
and to deliver all or part of the sales proceeds to the Company in payment of all or part of the Exercise Price and any withholding taxes.
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(e)                                  Exercise/Pledge.  To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement so provides, and if Stock is publicly traded, payment may be made

all or in part by the delivery (on a form prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to pledge Shares to a securities broker or lender approved by
the Company, as security for a loan, and to deliver all or part of the loan proceeds to the Company in payment of all or part of the Exercise Price and any
withholding taxes.

 
9.                                       Adjustment of Shares.
 

(a)                                  General.  In the event of a subdivision of the outstanding Stock, a declaration of a dividend payable in Shares, a declaration of
an extraordinary dividend payable in a form other than Shares in an amount that has a material effect on the Fair Market Value of the Stock, a combination or
consolidation of the outstanding Stock into a lesser number of Shares, a recapitalization, a spin-off, a reclassification or a similar occurrence, the Board of
Directors shall make appropriate adjustments in one or more of (i) the number of Shares available for future grants under Section 4, (ii) the number of Shares
covered by each outstanding Option and Restricted Stock Unit award, (iii) the Section 162(m) Grant Limit set forth in Section 3(c) or (vi) the Exercise Price
under each outstanding Option.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any fractional shares resulting from an adjustment pursuant to this Section 9 shall be
rounded down to the nearest whole number, and no any event may the exercise price be decreased to an amount less than the par value, if any, of the Stock.

 
(b)                                 Mergers and Consolidations.  In the event that the Company is a party to a merger or consolidation, outstanding Options, Stock

Purchase rights and Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the agreement of merger or consolidation.  Such agreement, without the Optionees’, Purchasers’
or Participants’ consent, may provide for:

 
(i)                                     The continuation of such outstanding Options, Stock Purchase right or Restricted Stock Units by the Company (if the

Company is the surviving corporation);
 
(ii)                                  The assumption of the Plan and such outstanding Options, Stock Purchase rights or Restricted Stock Units by the
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surviving corporation or its parent;
 
(iii)                               The substitution by the surviving corporation or its parent of options, stock purchase rights or restricted stock units 

with substantially the same terms for such outstanding Options, Stock Purchase rights or Restricted Stock Units; or
 
(iv)                              The cancellation of such outstanding Options without payment of any consideration.
 

(c)                                  Reservation of Rights.  Except as provided in this Section 9, an Optionee, Purchaser or Participant shall have no rights by reason
of (i) any subdivision or consolidation of shares of stock of any class, (ii) the payment of any dividend or (iii) any other increase or decrease in the number of
shares of stock of any class.  Any issuance by the Company of shares
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of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall not affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with
respect to, the number or Exercise Price of Shares subject to an Option.  The grant of an Option pursuant to the Plan shall not affect in any way the right or
power of the Company to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital or business structure, to merge or consolidate or to
dissolve, liquidate, sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.

 
10.                                 Securities Law Requirements .
 

(a)                                  General.  Shares shall not be issued under the Plan unless the issuance and delivery of such Shares comply with (or are exempt
from) all applicable requirements of law, including (without limitation) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder, state securities laws and regulations, and the regulations of any stock  exchange or other securities market on which the Company’s securities may
then be traded.

 
(b)                                 Financial Reports.  Each Optionee, Purchaser and Participant shall be given access to information concerning the Company

equivalent to that information generally made available to the Company’s common shareholders.
 

11.                                 No Retention Rights.
 
Nothing in the Plan or in any right, Option or Restricted Stock Unit granted under the Plan shall confer upon the Purchaser, Optionee, or Participant

any right to continue in Service for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Company (or any Parent or
Subsidiary employing or retaining the Purchaser, Optionee or Participant) or of the Purchaser, Optionee or Participant which rights are hereby expressly
reserved by each, to terminate his or her Service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause.

 
12.                                 Duration and Amendments .
 

(a)                                  Term of the Plan.  The Plan, as set forth herein, shall become effective on the date of its adoption by the Board of Directors,
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders.  In the event that the shareholders fail to approve the Plan within 12 months after its adoption by the
Board of Directors, any grants of Options or sales or awards of Shares that have already occurred shall be rescinded, and no additional grants, sales or
awards shall be made thereafter under the Plan.  The Plan shall continue in effect until the earlier of its termination by the Board or the date on which all of the
Shares available for issuance under the Plan have been issued and all restrictions on such Shares under the terms of the Plan and the agreements evidencing
Options and awards granted under the Plan have lapsed.  However, all ISOs shall be granted, if at all, within ten (10) years from the earlier of the date the Plan
is adopted by the Board of Directors or the date the Plan is duly approved by the shareholders of the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the
maximum number of Shares issuable pursuant to the Plan as provided in Section 4 has been increased at any time (other than pursuant to Section 9), all
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ISOs shall be granted, if at all, within ten (10) years from the earlier of (i) the date on which the latest such increase in the maximum number of Shares
issuable under the Plan was approved by the shareholders of the Company or (ii) the date such amendment was adopted by the Board of Directors.

 
(b)                                 Right to Amend or Terminate the Plan.  The Board of Directors may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time and for

any reason; provided, however, that any amendment of the Plan which increases the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan (except as
provided in Section 9), or which materially changes the class of persons who are eligible for the grant of ISOs, shall be subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders.  Shareholder approval shall not be required for any other amendment of the Plan.

 
(c)                                  Effect of Amendment or Termination.  No Shares shall be issued or sold under the Plan after the termination thereof, except in

settlement of Restricted Stock Unit awards and upon exercise of an Option granted prior to such termination.  The termination of the Plan, or any amendment
thereof, shall not affect any Share previously issued or any Option previously granted under the Plan.

 
13.                                 Definitions.
 

(a)                                  “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.
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(b)                                 “Change in Control” shall mean:
 

(i)                                     The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity or any other corporate
reorganization, unless 50% or more of the combined voting power of the continuing or surviving entity’s securities outstanding immediately after such merger,
consolidation or other reorganization is owned by persons who were shareholders of the Company immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or other
reorganization, in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Company stock prior to the transaction ; or

 
(ii)                                  The sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
 

A transaction shall not constitute a Change in Control if its sole purpose is to change the state of the Company’s incorporation or to create a holding company
that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.
 

(c)                                  “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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(d)                                 “Committee” shall mean a committee of the Board of Directors, as described in Section 2(a).
 
(e)                                  “Company” shall mean bebe stores, inc., a California corporation.
 
(f)                                    “Consultant” shall mean an individual who performs bona fide services for the Company, a Parent or a Subsidiary as a

consultant or advisor, excluding Employees and Outside Directors.
 
(g)                                 “Disability” shall mean that the Optionee is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically

determinable physical or mental impairment.
 
(h)                                 “Employee” shall mean any individual who is a common-law employee of the Company, a Parent or a Subsidiary.
 
(i)                                     “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
(j)                                     “Exercise Price” shall mean the amount for which one Share may be purchased upon exercise of an Option, as specified by the

Board of Directors in the applicable Stock Option Agreement.
 
(k)                                  “Fair Market Value” shall mean, as of any date, the value of a Share as determined by the Board of Directors, in its sole

discretion, subject to the following:
 

(i)                                     If, on such date, there is a public market for the Stock, the Fair Market Value of a Share shall be the closing sale price
of a Share (or the mean of the closing bid and asked prices of a Share if the Stock is so quoted instead) as quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, the
Nasdaq Small-Cap Market or such other national or regional securities exchange or market system constituting the primary market for the Stock, as reported
in the Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Company deems reliable.  If the relevant date does not fall on a day on which the Stock has traded on
such securities exchange or market system, the date on which the Fair Market Value shall be established shall be the next day on which the Stock was so
traded following the relevant date, or such other appropriate day as shall be determined by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion.

 
(ii)                                  If, on such date, there is no public market for the Stock, the Fair Market Value of a Share shall be as determined by the

Board of Directors in good faith.
 

(l)                                     “Insider” shall mean an officer or a director of the Company or any other person whose transactions in Stock are subject to
Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
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(m)                               “ISO” shall mean an employee incentive stock option described in Section 422(b) of the Code.
 
(n)                                 “NSO” shall mean a stock option not described in Sections 422(b) or 423(b) of the Code.
 
(o)                                 “Option” shall mean an ISO or an NSO granted under the Plan and entitling the holder to purchase Shares.
 
(p)                                 “Optionee” shall mean an individual who holds an Option.
 
(q)                                 “Outside Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors who is not an Employee.
 
(r)                                    “Parent” shall mean any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations ending with the Company,

if each of the corporations other than the Company owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the
other corporations in such chain.  A corporation that attains the status of a Parent on a date after the adoption of the Plan shall be considered a Parent

Source: bebe stores, inc., 10-K, September 13, 2004 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



commencing as of such date.
 
(s)                                  “Plan” shall mean this bebe stores, inc. 1997 Stock Plan.
 
(t)                                    “Participant” shall mean an individual to whom the Board of Directors has granted a Restricted Stock Unit pursuant to

Section 7.
 
(u)                                 “Purchase Price” shall mean the consideration for which one Share may be acquired under the Plan (other than upon exercise of

an Option), as specified by the Board of Directors.
 
(v)                                 “Purchaser” shall mean an individual to whom the Board of Directors has offered the right to acquire Shares under the Plan

(other than upon exercise of an Option).
 
(w)                               “Restricted Stock Unit” shall mean a bookkeeping entry representing a right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 7 of the

Plan to receive a share of Stock on a date determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 and the Participant’s Restricted Stock Units Agreement.
 
(x)                                   “Restricted Stock Units Agreement ” shall mean a written agreement between the Company and a Participant who is granted

Restricted Stock Units under the Plan which contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to the acquisition of such award.
 
(y)                                 “Rule 16b-3” shall mean Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, as amended from time to time, or any successor rule or regulation.
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(z)                                   “Section 162(m)” shall mean Section 162(m) of the Code.
 
(aa)                            “Service” shall mean service as an Employee, Outside Director or Consultant.  Service shall not be deemed to have terminated

merely because of a change in the capacity in which an individual renders Service to the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary) or a change in the corporation
for which the individual renders such Service, provided that there is no interruption or termination of the individual’s Service.

 
(bb)                          “Share” shall mean one share of Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 9 (if applicable).
 
(cc)                            “Stock” shall mean the Common Stock of the Company.
 
(dd)                          “Stock Option Agreement” shall mean the agreement between the Company and an Optionee which contains the terms, conditions

and restrictions pertaining to the Optionee’s Option.
 
(ee)                            “Stock Purchase Agreement” shall mean the agreement between the Company and a Purchaser who acquires Shares under the Plan

which contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to the acquisition of such Shares.
 
(ff)                                “Subsidiary” means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the

Company, if each of the corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.  A corporation that attains the status of a Subsidiary on a date after the adoption of
the Plan shall be considered a Subsidiary commencing as of such date.

 
14.                                 Execution.
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing is the bebe stores, inc. 1997 Stock Plan as amended.

 
bebe stores, inc.

  
  

By:
  

Title:    President
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PLAN HISTORY

 
June 26, 1997 Plan adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors with a share reserve of 1,000,000 shares

   
July 15, 1997 Plan approved by the Company’s shareholders

   
April 6, 1998 Plan amended and restated by the Company’s Board of Directors (effective upon the effective date of the initial registration by the
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Company of its stock under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Company’s IPO”)
   

April 9, 1998 Company effected a 2.83:1 stock split resulting in a share reserve of 2,830,000 shares
   

May 18, 1998 Amended and Restated Plan approved by the Company’s shareholders (effective upon the Company’s IPO)
   

June 16, 1998 Effective date of the Company’s IPO
   

August 2000 Increase of the maximum number of shares that may be issued to 4,330,000 approved by Board
   

November 2000 Increase of the maximum number of shares that may be issued to 4,330,000 approved by Shareholders
   

March 25, 2003 Plan amended by the Company’s Board of Directors to provide for the grant of Restricted Stock Units.
   

June 13, 2003 Plan amended to include “a conviction for a violation of any securities law” as a part of the definition of “Termination for Cause”.
   

August 27, 2003 Increase of the maximum number of shares that may be issued to 5,330,000 approved by Board.  .
   

October 20, 2003 Board approves amendment of plan to add Section 162(m) provision to preserve Company’s ability to deduct in full certain plan-
related compensation with a grant limit of
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400,000 shares per fiscal year.

   
December 8, 2003 Increase of the maximum number of shares that may be issued under the Plan to 5,330,000 and Section 162(m) grant limit of

400,000 shares approved by Shareholders.
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Exhibit 10.17
 

STANDARD OFFER, AGREEMENT AND ESCROW
INSTRUCTIONS FOR PURCHASE OF REAL ESTATE

(Non-Residential)
American Industrial Real Estate Association

 
January 20, 2004
(Date for Reference Purposes)

 
1.                                      Buyer.
 

1.1                                 bebe stores, inc., a California corporation, (“ Buyer”) hereby offers to purchase the real property, hereinafter described, from the owner
thereof (“Seller”) (collectively, the “Parties” or individually, a “Party”), through an escrow (“Escrow”) to close on thirty five (35) days, or sooner at
Buyer’s sole discretion* (“Expected Closing Date”) to be held by Wilshire Escrow Company, attn.: Pamela Wood (“Escrow Holder”) whose address is
4270 Wilshire Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90010 Phone No. 323-935-3530, Facsimile No. 323-938-8927 upon the terms and conditions set forth in this
agreement (“Agreement”).  Buyer shall have the right to assign Buyer’s rights hereunder, but any such assignment shall not relieve Buyer of Buyer’s
obligations herein unless Seller expressly releases Buyer.      [*following opening of escrow]

 
1.2                                 The term “Date of Agreement” as used herein shall be the date when by execution and delivery (as defined in paragraph 20.2) of this

document or a subsequent counteroffer thereto, Buyer and Seller have reached agreement in writing whereby Seller agrees to sell, and Buyer agrees to purchase,
the Property upon terms accepted by both Parties.

 
2.                                      Property.
 

2.1                                 The real property (“Property”) that is the subject of this offer consists of (insert a brief physical description) an approximately 50,000
square foot concrete and steel three story office building located on approximately 33, 898 square feet of land zoned LA CL07153 is located in the City of Los
Angeles, County of Los Angeles, State of California, is commonly known by the street address of 10345 West Olympic Boulevard and is legally described as:
to be provided through escrow (APN: 4319-006-052).

 
2.2                                 If the legal description of the Property is not complete or is inaccurate, this Agreement shall not be invalid and the legal description shall be

completed or correct to meet the requirements of Investor’s Title attn.:  Debbie Hiltz (“ Title Company”), which shall issue the title policy hereinafter
described.

 
2.3                                 The Property includes, at no additional cost to Buyer, the permanent improvements thereon, including those items which pursuant to

applicable law are a part of the property, as well as the following items, if any, owned by Seller and at present located on the Property:  electrical distribution
systems (power panel, bus ducting, conduits, disconnects,

 
   
   

Initials Initials
 
1

 
lighting fixtures); telephone distribution systems (lines, jacks and connections only); space heaters; heating, ventilating, air conditioning equipment (
“HVAC”); air lines; fire sprinkler systems; security and fire detection systems; carpets; window coverings; wall coverings; and all apertunences, whether
structural or non-structural including, but not limited to all existing filing systems, cabinetry, telecommunications systems infrastructure/wiring, etc.; in
addition, existing “garden area” furniture/furnishings shall be included (collectively, the “ Improvements”).

 
2.4                                 The fire sprinkler monitor:   is owned by Seller and included in the Purchase Price, or o is leased by Seller, and Buyer will need to

negotiate a new lease with the fire monitoring company.
 
2.5                                 Except as provided in Paragraph 2.3, the Purchase Price does not include Seller’s personal property, furniture and furnishings, and

NONE.
 

3.                                      Purchase Price.
 

3.1                                 The purchase price (“Purchase Price”) to be paid by Buyer to Seller for the Property shall be $10,950,000.00, payable as follows:
 

(a) Cash down payment, including the Deposit as defined in paragraph 4.3 (or if an all cash
transaction, the Purchase Price): $ 10,950,000.00

      
Total Purchase Price: $ 10,950,000.00

 
3.2                                 If Buyer is taking title to the Property subject to, or assuming, an Existing Deed of Trust and such deed of trust permits the beneficiary to

demand payment of fees including, but not limited to, points, processing fees, and appraisal fees as a condition to the transfer of the Property, Buyer agrees to
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pay such fees up to a maximum of 1.5% of the unpaid principal balance of the applicable Existing Note.
 

4.                                      Deposits.
 

4.1                                  Buyer shall deliver to Escrow Holder a check in the sum of $500,000.00 when both Parties have executed this Agreement and the
executed Agreement has been delivered to Escrow Holder.  When cashed, the check shall be deposited into the Escrow’s trust account to be applied toward the
Purchase Price of the Property at the Closing.  Should Buyer and Seller not enter into an agreement for purchase and sale, Buyer’s check or funds shall, upon
request by Buyer, be promptly returned to Buyer.

 
4.2                                 Additional deposits:
 

(b)                                 Within 5 business days after the contingencies discussed in paragraph 9.1 (a) through (k) are approved or waived, Buyer shall
deposit with Escrow Holder the additional sum of $5,000,000.00 to be applied to the Purchase Price at the Closing.
 

 
4.3                                 Escrow Holder shall deposit the funds deposited with it by Buyer pursuant to paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 (collectively the “ Deposit”), in a

State or Federally chartered bank in an interest bearing account whose term is appropriate and consistent with the timing requirements of this transaction.  The
interest therefrom shall accrue to the benefit of Buyer, who hereby acknowledges that there may be penalties or interest forfeitures if the applicable instrument
is redeemed prior to its specified maturity.  Buyer’s Federal Tax Identification Number is                                   .  NOTE:  Such interest bearing account
cannot be opened until Buyer’s Federal Tax Identification Number is provided.

 
5.                                      Financing Contingency.  (Strike if not applicable)
 
6.                                      Hidden Numbering
 
7.                                      Real Estate Brokers.
 

7.1                                 The following real estate broker(s) (“Brokers”) and brokerage relationships exist in this transaction and are consented to by the Parties
(check the applicable boxes):

 
 eOffice Suites, Inc. attn.: Howard Sher represents Seller exclusively (“ Seller’s Broker”);
 
 Commercial Resource Real Estate Services: J. Beimforde represents Buyer exclusively (“ Buyer’s Broker”); or
 
The Parties acknowledge that Brokers are the procuring cause of this Agreement.  See paragraph 24 for disclosures regarding the nature of a real estate agency
relationship.  Buyer shall use the services of Buyer’s Broker exclusively in connection with any and all negotiations and offers with respect to the Property for
a period of 1 year from the Date of Agreement.
 

7.2                                 Buyer and Seller each represent and warrant to the other that he/she/it has had no dealings with any person, firm, broker or finder in
connection with the negotiation of this Agreement and/or the consummation of the purchase and sale contemplated herein, other than the Brokers named in
paragraph 7.1, and no broker or other person, firm or entity, other than said Brokers is/are entitled to any commission or finder’s fee in connection with this
transaction as the result of any dealings or acts of such Party.  Buyer and Seller do each hereby agree to indemnify, defend, protect and hold the other harmless
from and against any costs, expenses or liability for compensation, commission or charges which may be claimed by any broker, finder or other similar
party, other than said named Brokers by reason of any dealings or act of the indemnifying Party.

 
8.                                      Escrow and Closing.
 

8.1                                 Upon acceptance hereof by Seller, this Agreement, including any counteroffers incorporated herein by the Parties, shall constitute not only
the agreement of purchase and sale between Buyer and Seller, but also instructions to Escrow Holder for the consummation of the Agreement through the
Escrow.  Escrow Holder shall not prepare any further escrow instructions restating or amending the Agreement unless specifically so instructed by the Parties
or a Broker herein.  Subject to the reasonable approval of the Parties, Escrow Holder may, however, include its standard general escrow provisions.
 

 
8.2                                 As soon as practical after the receipt of this Agreement and any relevant counteroffers, Escrow Holder shall ascertain the Date of Agreement

as defined in paragraphs 1.2 and 20.2 and advise the Parties and Brokers, in writing, of the date ascertained.
 
8.3                                 Escrow Holder is hereby authorized and instructed to conduct the Escrow in accordance with this Agreement, applicable law and custom

and practice of the community in which Escrow Holder is located, including any reporting requirements of the Internal Revenue Code.  In the event of a
conflict between the law of the state where the Property is located and the law of the state where the Escrow Holder is located, the law of the state where the
Property is located shall prevail.

 
8.4                                 Subject to satisfaction of the contingencies herein described, Escrow Holder shall close this escrow (the “ Closing”) by recording a general

warranty deed (a grant deed in California) and the other documents required to be recorded, and by disbursing the funds and documents in accordance with
this Agreement.
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8.5                                 Buyer and Seller shall each pay one-half of the Escrow Holder’s charges and Seller shall pay the usual recording fees and any required

documentary transfer taxes.  Seller shall pay the premium for a standard coverage owner’s or joint protection policy of title insurance.
 
8.6                                 Escrow Holder shall verify that all of Buyer’s contingencies have been satisfied or waived prior to Closing.  The matters contained in

paragraphs 9.1 subparagraphs (b), (c), (d), (e), (g), (i), (n), and (o), 9.4, 9.5, 12, 13, 14, 16, 18, 20, 21, 22, and 24 are, however, matters of agreement
between the Parties only and are not instructions to Escrow Holder.

 
8.7                                 If this transaction is terminated for non-satisfaction and non-waiver of a Buyer’s Contingency, as defined in paragraph 9.2, then neither

of the Parties shall thereafter have any liability to the other under this Agreement, except to the extent of a breach of any affirmative covenant or warranty in this
Agreement.  In the event of such termination, Buyer shall be promptly refunded all funds deposited by Buyer with Escrow Holder, less only Title Company
and Escrow Holder cancellation fees and costs, all of which shall be Buyer’s obligation.

 
8.8                                 The Closing shall occur on the Expected Closing Date, or as soon thereafter as the Escrow is in condition for Closing; provided, however,

that if the Closing does not occur by the Expected Closing Date and said Date is not extended by mutual instructions of the Parties, a Party not then in default
under this Agreement may notify the other Party, Escrow Holder, and Brokers, in writing that, unless the Closing occurs within 5 business days following
said notice, the Escrow shall be deemed terminated without further notice or instructions.

 
8.9                                 Except as otherwise provided herein, the termination of Escrow shall not relieve or release either Party from any obligation to pay Escrow

Holder’s fees and costs or constitute a waiver, release or discharge of any breach or default that has occurred in the performance of the obligations, agreements,
covenants or warranties contained therein.
 

 
8.10                           If this Escrow is terminated for any reason other than Seller’s breach or default, then at Seller’s request, and as a condition to the return of

Buyer’s deposit, Buyer shall within 5 days after written request deliver to Seller, at no charge, copies of all surveys, engineering studies, soil reports, maps,
master plans, feasibility studies and other similar items prepared by or for Buyer that pertain to the Property.  Provided, however, that Buyer shall not be
required to deliver any such report if the written contract which Buyer entered into with the consultant who prepared such report specifically forbids the
dissemination of the report to others.

 
9.                                      Contingencies to Closing.
 

9.1                                 The Closing of this transaction is contingent upon the satisfaction or waiver of the following contingencies.  IF BUYER FAILS TO
NOTIFY ESCROW HOLDER, IN WRITING, OF THE DISAPPROVAL OF ANY OF SAID CONTINGENCIES WITHIN THE TIME
SPECIFIED THEREIN, IT SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED THAT BUYER HAS APPROVED SUCH ITEM, MATTER OR
DOCUMENT.  Buyer’s conditional approval shall constitute disapproval, unless provision is made by the Seller within the time specified therefore by the
Buyer in such conditional approval or by this Agreement, whichever is later, for the satisfaction of the condition imposed by the Buyer.  Escrow Holder shall
promptly provide all Parties with copies of any written disapproval or conditional approval which it receives.  With regard to subparagraphs (a) through (l) the
pre-printed time periods shall control unless a different number of days is inserted in the spaces provided.

 
(a)                                  Disclosure.  Seller shall make to Buyer, through escrow, all of the applicable disclosures required by law (See American

Industrial Real Estate Association (“AIR”) standard form entitled “Seller’s Mandatory Disclosure Statement”) and provide Buyer with a completed Property
Information Sheet (“Property Information Sheet”) concerning the Property, duly executed by or on behalf of Seller in the current form or equivalent to that
published by the AIR within 10 or 10 days following the Date of Agreement.  Buyer has 10 days from the receipt of said disclosures to approve or disapprove
the matters disclosed.

 
(b)                                 Physical Inspection.  Buyer has 10 or 21 days from the receipt of the Property Information Sheet or the Date of Agreement,

whichever is later, to satisfy itself with regard to the physical aspects and size of the Property.
 
(c)                                  Hazardous Substance Conditions Report .  Buyer has 30 or 21 days from the receipt of the Property Information Sheet or the

Date of Agreement, whichever is later, to satisfy itself with regard to the environmental aspects of the Property.  Seller recommends that Buyer obtain a
Hazardous Substance Conditions Report concerning the Property and relevant adjoining properties.  Any such report shall be paid for by Buyer.  A
“Hazardous Substance” for purposes of this Agreement is defined as any substance whose nature and/or quantity of existence, use, manufacture, disposal
or effect, render it subject to Federal, state or local regulation, investigation, remediation or removal as potentially injurious to public health or welfare.  A
“Hazardous Substance Condition” for purposes of this Agreement is defined as the existence on, under or relevantly adjacent to the Property of a Hazardous
Substance that would require remediation and/or removal under applicable Federal, state or local law.
 

 
(d)                                 Soil Inspection.  Buyer has 30 or 21 days from the receipt of the Property Information Sheet or the Date of Agreement, whichever

is later, to satisfy itself with regard to the condition of the soils on the Property.  Seller recommends that Buyer obtain a soil test report.  Any such report shall
be paid for by Buyer.  Seller shall provide Buyer copies of any soils report that Seller may have within 10 days of the Date of Agreement.

 
(e)                                  Governmental Approvals.  Buyer has 30 or 21 days from the Date of Agreement to satisfy itself with regard to approvals and

permits from governmental agencies or departments which have or may have jurisdiction over the Property and which Buyer deems necessary or desirable in
connection with its intended use of the Property, including, but not limited to, permits and approvals required with respect to zoning, planning, building and
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safety, fire, police, handicapped and Americans with Disabilities Act requirements, transportation and environmental matters.
 
(f)                                    Conditions of Title.  Escrow Holder shall cause a current commitment for title insurance (“ Title Commitment”) concerning the

Property issued by the Title Company, as well as legible copies of all documents referred to in the Title Commitment (“ Underlying Documents”) to be
delivered to Buyer within 10 or 10 days following the Date of Agreement.  Buyer has 10 days from the receipt of the Title Commitment and Underlying
Documents to satisfy itself with regard to the condition of title.  The disapproval of Buyer of any monetary encumbrance, which by the terms of this
Agreement is not to remain against the Property after the Closing, shall not be considered a failure of this contingency, as Seller shall have the obligation, at
Seller’s expense, to satisfy and remove such disapproved monetary encumbrance at or before the Closing.

 
(g)                                 Survey.  Buyer has 30 or 21 days from the receipt of the Title Commitment and Underlying Documents to satisfy itself with

regard to any ALTA title supplement based upon a survey prepared to American Land Title Association (“ALTA”) standards for an owner’s policy by a
licensed surveyor, showing the legal description and boundary lines of the Property, any easements of record, and any improvements, poles, structures and
things located within 10 feet of either side of the Property boundary lines.  Any such survey shall be prepared at Buyer’s direction and expense.  If Buyer has
obtained a survey and approved the ALTA title supplement, Buyer may elect within the period allowed for Buyer’s approval of a survey to have an ALTA
extended coverage owner’s form of title policy, in which event Buyer shall pay any additional premium attributable thereto.

 
(h)                                 Existing Leases and Tenancy Statements.  Seller shall within 10 or 10 days of the Date of Agreement provide both Buyer and

Escrow Holder with legible copies of all leases, subleases or rental arrangements (collectively, “ Existing Leases”) affecting the Property, and with a tenancy
statement (“Estoppel Certificate”) in the latest form or equivalent to that published by the AIR, executed by Seller and/or each tenant and subtenant of the
Property.  Seller shall use its best efforts to have each tenant complete and execute an Estoppel Certificate.  If any tenant fails or refuses to provide an Estoppel
Certificate then Seller shall complete and execute an Estoppel Certificate for that tenancy.  Buyer has 10 days from the receipt of said Existing Leases and
Estoppel Certificates to satisfy itself with regard to the Existing Leases and any other tenancy issues.
 

 
(i)                                     Other Agreements.  Seller shall within 10 or 10 days of the Date of Agreement provide Buyer with legible copies of all other

agreements (“Other Agreements”) known to Seller that will affect the Property after Closing.  Buyer has 10 days from the receipt of said Other Agreements to
satisfy itself with regard to such Agreements.

 
(j)                                     Financing.  If paragraph 5 hereof dealing with a financing contingency has not been stricken, the satisfaction or waiver of such

New Loan contingency.
 
(k)                                  Existing Notes.  If paragraph 3.1(c) has not been stricken, Seller shall within 10 or 10 days of the Date of Agreement provide

Buyer with legible copies of the Existing Notes, Existing Deeds of Trust and related agreements (collectively, “ Loan Documents”) to which the Property will
remain subject after the Closing.  Escrow Holder shall promptly request from the holders of the Existing Notes a beneficiary statement (“ Beneficiary
Statement”) confirming:  (1) the amount of the unpaid principal balance, the current interest rate, and the date to which interest is paid, and (2) the nature
and amount of any impounds held by the beneficiary in connection with such loan.  Buyer has 10 or 21 days from the receipt of the Loan Documents and
Beneficiary Statements to satisfy itself with regard to such financing.  Buyer’s obligation to close is conditioned upon Buyer being able to purchase the
Property without acceleration or change in the terms of any Existing Notes or charges to Buyer except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or approved by
Buyer, provided, however, Buyer shall pay the transfer fee referred to in paragraph 3.2 hereof.

 
(l)                                     Personal Property.  In the event that any personal property is included in the Purchase Price, Buyer has 10 or 21 days from the

Date of Agreement to satisfy itself with regard to the title condition of such personal property.  Seller recommends that Buyer obtain a UCC-1 report.  Any such
report shall be paid for by Buyer.  Seller shall provide Buyer copies of any liens or encumbrances affecting such personal property that it is aware of within
10 or 10 days of the Date of Agreement.

 
(m)                               Destruction, Damage or Loss .  There shall not have occurred prior to the Closing, a destruction of, or damage or loss to, the

Property or any portion thereof, from any cause whatsoever, which would cost more than $10,000.00 to repair or cure.  If the cost of repair or cure is
$10,000.00 or less, Seller shall repair or cure the loss prior to the Closing.  Buyer shall have the option, within 10 days after receipt of written notice of a loss
costing more than $10,000.00 to repair or cure, to either terminate this transaction or to purchase the Property notwithstanding such loss, but without
deduction or offset against the Purchase Price.  If the cost to repair or cure is more than $10,000.00, and Buyer does not elect to terminate this transaction,
Buyer shall be entitled to any insurance proceeds applicable to such loss.  Unless otherwise notified in writing, Escrow Holder shall assume no such
destruction, damage or loss has occurred prior to Closing.

 
(n)                                 Material Change.  Buyer shall have 10 days following receipt of written notice of a Material Change within which to satisfy

itself with regard to such change.  “Material Change” shall mean a change in the status of the use, occupancy, tenants, or condition of the Property that
occurs after the date of this offer and prior to the Closing.  Unless otherwise
 

 
notified in writing, Escrow Holder shall assume that no Material Change has occurred prior to the Closing.

 
(o)                                 Seller Performance.  The delivery of all documents and the due performance by Seller of each and every undertaking and

agreement to be performed by Seller under this Agreement.
 
(p)                                 Warranties.  That each representation and warranty of Seller herein be true and correct as of the Closing.  Escrow Holder shall
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assume that this condition has been satisfied unless notified to the contrary in writing by any Party prior to the Closing.
 
(q)                                 Brokerage Fee.  Payment at the Closing of such brokerage fee as is specified in this Agreement or later written instructions to

Escrow Holder executed by Seller and Brokers (“ Brokerage Fee”).  It is agreed by the Parties and Escrow Holder that Brokers are a third party beneficiary of
this Agreement insofar as the Brokerage Fee is concerned, and that no change shall be made with respect to the payment of the Brokerage Fee specified in this
Agreement, without the written consent of Brokers.

 
9.2                                 All of the contingencies specified in subparagraphs (a) through (p) of paragraph 9.1 are for the benefit of, and may be waived by, Buyer,

and may be elsewhere herein referred to as “ Buyer’s Contingencies.”
 
9.3                                 If any Buyer’s Contingency or any other matter subject to Buyer’s approval is disapproved as provided for herein in a timely manner (

“Disapproved Item”), Seller shall have the right within 10 days following the receipt of notice of Buyer’s disapproval to elect to cure such Disapproved Item
prior to the Expected Closing Date (“Seller’s Election”).  Seller’s failure to give to Buyer within such period, written notice of Seller’s commitment to cure
such Disapproved Item on or before the Expected Closing Date shall be conclusively presumed to be Seller’s Election not to cure such Disapproved Item.  If
Seller elects, either by written notice or failure to give written notice, not to cure a Disapproved Item, Buyer shall have the election, within 10 days after Seller’s
Election to either accept title to the Property subject to such Disapproved Item, or to terminate this transaction.  Buyer’s failure to notify Seller in writing of
Buyer’s election to accept title to the Property subject to the Disapproved Item without deduction or offset shall constitute Buyer’s election to terminate this
transaction.  Unless expressly provided otherwise herein, Seller’s right to cure shall not apply to the remediation of Hazardous Substance Conditions or to the
Financing Contingency.  Unless the Parties mutually instruct otherwise, if the time periods for the satisfaction of contingencies or for Seller’s and Buyer’s said
Elections would expire on a date after the Expected Closing Date, the Expected Closing Date shall be deemed extended for 3 business days following the
expiration of:  (a) the applicable contingency period(s), (b) the period within which the Seller may elect to cure the Disapproved Item, or (c) if Seller elects not to
cure, the period within which Buyer may elect to proceed with this transaction, whichever is later.

 
9.4                                 Buyer understands and agrees that until such time as all Buyer’s Contingencies have been satisfied or waived, Seller and/or its agents

may solicit, entertain and/or accept back-up offers to purchase the subject Property.
 

 
9.5                                 The Parties acknowledge that extensive local, state and Federal legislation establish broad liability upon owners and/or users of real

property for the investigation and remediation of Hazardous Substances.  The determination of the existence of a Hazardous Substance Condition and the
evaluation of the impact of such a condition are highly technical and beyond the expertise of Brokers.  The Parties acknowledge that they have been advised by
Brokers to consult their own technical and legal experts with respect to the possible presence of Hazardous Substances on the Property or adjoining properties,
and Buyer and Seller are not relying upon any investigation by or statement of Brokers with respect thereto.  The Parties hereby assume all responsibility for
the impact of such Hazardous Substances upon their respective interests herein.

 
10.                               Documents Required at or before Closing:
 

10.1                           Five days prior to the Closing date Escrow Holder shall obtain an updated Title Commitment concerning the Property from the Title
Company and provide copies thereof to each of the Parties.

 
10.2                           Seller shall deliver to Escrow Holder in time for delivery to Buyer at the Closing:
 

(a)                                  Grant or general warranty deed, duly executed and in recordable form, conveying fee title to the Property to Buyer.
 
(b)                                 If applicable, the Beneficiary Statements concerning Existing Note(s).
 
(c)                                  If applicable, the Existing Leases and Other Agreements together with duly executed assignments thereof by Seller and Buyer. 

The assignment of Existing Leases shall be on the most recent Assignment and Assumption of Lessor’s Interest in Lease form published by the AIR or its
equivalent.

 
(d)                                 If applicable, Estoppel Certificates executed by Seller and/or the tenant(s) of the Property.
 
(e)                                  An affidavit executed by Seller to the effect that Seller is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code

Section 1445 or successor statutes.  If Seller does not provide such affidavit in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer at least 3 business days prior to the
Closing, Escrow Holder shall at the Closing deduct from Seller’s proceeds and remit to Internal Revenue Service such sum as is required by applicable Federal
law with respect to purchases from foreign sellers.

 
(f)                                    If the Property is located in California, an affidavit executed by Seller to the effect that Seller is not a “nonresident” within the

meaning of California Revenue and Tax Code Section 18662 or successor statutes.  If Seller does not provide such affidavit in form reasonably satisfactory to
Buyer at least 3 business days prior to the Closing, Escrow Holder shall at the Closing deduct from Seller’s proceeds and remit to the Franchise Tax Board
such sum as is required by such statute.
 

 
(g)                                 If applicable, a bill of sale, duly executed, conveying title to any included personal property to Buyer.
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(h)                                 If the Seller is a corporation, a duly executed corporate resolution authorizing the execution of this Agreement and the sale of the
Property.

 
10.3                           Buyer shall deliver to Seller through Escrow:
 

(a)                                  The cash portion of the Purchase Price and such additional sums as are required of Buyer under this Agreement shall be
deposited by Buyer with Escrow Holder, by federal funds wire transfer, or any other method acceptable to Escrow Holder as immediately collectable funds,
no later than 2:00 P.M. on the business day prior to the Expected Closing Date.

 
(b)                                 If a Purchase Money Note and Purchase Money Deed of Trust are called for by this Agreement, the duly executed originals of

those documents, the Purchase Money Deed of Trust being in recordable form, together with evidence of fire insurance on the improvements in the amount of
the full replacement cost naming Seller as a mortgage loss payee, and a real estate tax service contract (at Buyer’s expense), assuring Seller of notice of the
status of payment of real property taxes during the life of the Purchase Money Note.

 
(c)                                  The Assignment and Assumption of Lessor’s Interest in Lease form specified in paragraph 10.2(c) above, duly executed by

Buyer.
 
(d)                                 Assumptions duly executed by Buyer of the obligations of Seller that accrue after Closing under any Other Agreements.
 
(e)                                  If applicable, a written assumption duly executed by Buyer of the loan documents with respect to Existing Notes.
 
(f)                                    If the Buyer is a corporation, a duly executed corporate resolution authorizing the execution of this Agreement and the purchase of

the Property.
 

10.4                           At Closing, Escrow Holder shall cause to be issued to Buyer a standard coverage (or ALTA extended, if elected pursuant to 9.1(g)) owner’s
form policy of title insurance effective as of the Closing, issued by the Title Company in the full amount of the Purchase Price, insuring title to the Property
vested in Buyer, subject only to the exceptions approved by Buyer.  In the event there is a Purchase Money Deed of Trust in this transaction, the policy of title
insurance shall be a joint protection policy insuring both Buyer and Seller.

 
IMPORTANT:  IN A PURCHASE OR EXCHANGE OF REAL PROPERTY, IT MAY BE ADVISABLE TO OBTAIN TITLE INSURANCE IN
CONNECTION WITH THE CLOSE OF ESCROW SINCE THERE MAY BE PRIOR RECORDED LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES WHICH
AFFECT YOUR INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY BEING ACQUIRED.  A NEW POLICY OF TITLE INSURANCE SHOULD BE OBTAINED
IN ORDER TO ENSURE YOUR INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY THAT YOU ARE ACQUIRING.
 

 
11.                               Prorations and Adjustments.
 

11.1                           Taxes.  Applicable real property taxes and special assessment bonds shall be prorated through Escrow as of the date of the Closing, based
upon the latest tax bill available.  The Parties agree to prorate as of the Closing any taxes assessed against the Property by supplemental bill levied by reason of
events occurring prior to the Closing.  Payment of the prorated amount shall be made promptly in cash upon receipt of a copy of any supplemental bill.

 
11.2                           Insurance.  WARNING:  Any insurance which Seller may have maintained will terminate on the Closing.  Buyer is advised to obtain

appropriate insurance to cover the Property.
 
11.3                           Rentals, Interest and Expenses.  Scheduled rentals, interest on Existing Notes, utilities, and operating expenses shall be prorated as of the

date of Closing.  The Parties agree to promptly adjust between themselves outside of Escrow any rents received after the Closing.
 
11.4                           Security Deposit.  Security Deposits held by Seller shall be given to Buyer as a credit to the cash required of Buyer at the Closing.
 
11.5                           Post Closing Matters.  Any item to be prorated that is not determined or determinable at the Closing shall be promptly adjusted by the

Parties by appropriate cash payment outside of the Escrow when the amount due is determined.
 
11.6                           Variations in Existing Note Balances.  In the event that Buyer is purchasing the Property subject to an Existing Deed of Trust(s), and in

the event that a Beneficiary Statement as to the applicable Existing Note(s) discloses that the unpaid principal balance of such Existing Note(s) at the closing
will be more or less than the amount set forth in paragraph 3.1(c) hereof (“ Existing Note Variation”), then the Purchase Money Note(s) shall be reduced or
increased by an amount equal to such Existing Note Variation.  If there is to be no Purchase Money Note, the cash required at the Closing per paragraph 3.1(a)
shall be reduced or increased by the amount of such Existing Note Variation.

 
11.7                           Variations in New Loan Balance.  In the event Buyer is obtaining a New Loan and the amount ultimately obtained exceeds the amount set

forth in paragraph 5.1, then the amount of the Purchase Money Note, if any, shall be reduced by the amount of such excess.
 

12.                               Representation and Warranties of Seller and Disclaimers.
 

12.1                           Seller’s warranties and representations shall survive the Closing and delivery of the deed for a period of 3 years, and, are true, material
and relied upon by Buyer and Brokers in all respects.  Seller hereby makes the following warranties and representations to Buyer and Brokers:
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(a)                                  Authority of Seller.  Seller is the owner of the Property and/or has the full right, power and authority to sell, convey and transfer
the Property to Buyer as provided herein, and to perform Seller’s obligations hereunder.
 

 
(b)                                 Maintenance During Escrow and Equipment Condition At Closing .  Except as otherwise provided in paragraph 9.1(m)

hereof, Seller shall maintain the Property until the Closing in its present condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted.  The HVAC, plumbing, elevators, loading
doors and electrical systems shall be in good operating order and condition at the time of Closing.

 
(c)                                  Hazardous Substances/Storage Tanks.  Seller has no knowledge, except as otherwise disclosed to Buyer in writing, of the

existence or prior existence on the Property of any Hazardous Substance, nor of the existence or prior existence of any above or below ground storage tank.
 
(d)                                 Compliance.  Seller has no knowledge of any aspect or condition of the Property which violates applicable laws, rules,

regulations, codes or covenants, conditions or restrictions, or of improvements or alterations made to the Property without a permit where one was required, or
of any unfulfilled order or directive of any applicable governmental agency or casualty insurance company requiring any investigation, remediation, repair,
maintenance or improvement be performed on the Property.

 
(e)                                  Changes in Agreements.  Prior to the Closing, Seller will not violate or modify any Existing Lease or Other Agreement, or create

any new leases or other agreements affecting the Property, without Buyer’s written approval, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
 
(f)                                    Possessory Rights.  Seller has no knowledge that anyone will, at the Closing, have any right to possession of the Property,

except as disclosed by this Agreement or otherwise in writing to Buyer.
 
(g)                                 Mechanics’ Liens.  There are no unsatisfied mechanics’ or materialmens’ lien rights concerning the Property.
 
(h)                                 Actions, Suits or Proceedings.  Seller has no knowledge of any actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened before any

commission, board, bureau, agency, arbitrator, court or tribunal that would affect the Property or the right to occupy or utilize same.
 
(i)                                     Notice of Changes.  Seller will promptly notify Buyer and Brokers in writing of any Material Change (see paragraph 9.1(n))

affecting the Property that becomes known to Seller prior to the Closing.
 
(j)                                     No Tenant Bankruptcy Proceedings.  Seller has no notice or knowledge that any tenant of the Property is the subject of a

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.
 
(k)                                  No Seller Bankruptcy Proceedings .  Seller is not the subject of a bankruptcy, insolvency or probate proceeding.
 
(l)                                     Personal Property.  Seller has no knowledge that anyone will, at the Closing, have any right to possession of any personal

property included in the Purchase Price nor
 

 
knowledge of any liens or encumbrances affecting such personal property, except as disclosed by this Agreement or otherwise in writing to Buyer.

 
12.2                           Buyer hereby acknowledges that, except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, Buyer is purchasing the Property in its existing condition

and will, by the time called for herein, make or have waived all inspections of the Property Buyer believes are necessary to protect its own interest in, and its
contemplated use of, the Property.  The Parties acknowledge that, except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, no representations, inducements, promises,
agreements, assurances, oral or written, concerning the Property, or any aspect of the occupational safety and health laws, Hazardous Substance laws, or any
other act, ordinance or law, have been made by either Party or Brokers, or relied upon by either Party hereto.

 
12.3                           In the event that Buyer learns that a Seller representation or warranty might be untrue prior to the Closing, and Buyer elects to purchase the

Property anyway then, and in that event, Buyer waives any right that it may have to bring an action or proceeding against Seller or Brokers regarding said
representation or warranty.

 
12.4                           Any environmental reports, soils reports, surveys, and other similar documents which were prepared by third party consultants and

provided to Buyer by Seller or Seller’s representatives, have been delivered as an accommodation to Buyer and without any representation or warranty as to the
sufficiency, accuracy, completeness, and/or validity of said documents, all of which Buyer relies on at its own risk.  Seller believes said documents to be
accurate, but Buyer is advised to retain appropriate consultants to review said documents and investigate the Property.

 
13.                               Possession.
 
Possession of the Property shall be given to Buyer at the Closing subject to the rights of tenants under Existing Leases.
 
14.                               Buyer’s Entry.
 
At any time during the Escrow period, Buyer, and its agents and representatives, shall have the right at reasonable times and subject to rights of tenants, to
enter upon the Property for the purpose of making inspections and tests specified in this Agreement.  No destructive testing shall be conducted, however,
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without Seller’s prior approval which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Following any such entry or work, unless otherwise directed in writing by Seller,
Buyer shall return the Property to the condition it was in prior to such entry or work, including the recompaction or removal of any disrupted soil or material
as Seller may reasonably direct.  All such inspections and tests and any other work conducted or materials furnished with respect to the Property by or for
Buyer shall be paid for by Buyer as and when due and Buyer shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless Seller and the Property of and from any
and all claims, liabilities, losses, expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), damages, including those for injury to person or property, arising out of or
relating to any such work or materials or the acts or omissions of Buyer, its agents or employees in connection therewith.
 

 
15.                               Further Documents and Assurances.
 

The Parties shall each, diligently and in good faith, undertake all actions and procedures reasonably required to place the Escrow in condition for
Closing as and when required by this Agreement.  The Parties agree to provide all further information, and to execute and deliver all further documents,
reasonably required by Escrow Holder or the Title Company.

 
16.                               Attorneys’ Fees.
 
If any Party or Broker brings an action or proceeding (including arbitration) involving the Property whether founded in tort, contract or equity, or to declare
rights hereunder, the Prevailing Party (as hereafter defined) in any such proceeding, action, or appeal thereon, shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
Such fees may be awarded in the same suit or recovered in a separate suit, whether or not such action or proceeding is pursued to decision or judgment.  The
term “Prevailing Party” shall include, without limitation, a Party or Broker who substantially obtains or defeats the relief sought, as the case may be,
whether by compromise, settlement, judgment, or the abandonment by the other Party or Broker of its claim or defense.  The attorneys’ fees award shall not be
computed in accordance with any court fee schedule, but shall be such as to fully reimburse all attorneys’ fees reasonably incurred.
 
17.                               Prior Agreements/Amendments.
 

17.1                           This Agreement supersedes any and all prior agreements between Seller and Buyer regarding the Property.
 
17.2                           Amendments to this Agreement are effective only if made in writing and executed by Buyer and Seller.
 

18.                               Broker’s Rights.
 

18.1                           If this sale is not consummated due to the default of either the Buyer or Seller, the defaulting Party shall be liable to and shall pay to
Brokers the Brokerage Fee that Brokers would have received had the sale been consummated.  If Buyer is the defaulting party, payment of said Brokerage Fee
is in addition to any obligation with respect to liquidated or other damages.

 
18.2                           Upon the Closing, Brokers are authorized to publicize the facts of this transaction.
 

19.                               Notices.
 

19.1                           Whenever any Party, Escrow Holder or Brokers herein shall desire to give or serve any notice, demand, request, approval, disapproval or
other communication, each such communication shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, by messenger or by mail, postage prepaid, to the
address set forth in this Agreement or by facsimile transmission.

 
19.2                           Service of any such communication shall be deemed made on the date of actual receipt if personally delivered.  Any such communication

sent by regular mail shall be deemed given 48 hours after the same is mailed.  Communications sent by United States Express Mail or
 

 
overnight courier that guarantee next day delivery shall be deemed delivered 24 hours after delivery of the same to the Postal Service or courier. 
Communications transmitted by facsimile transmission shall be deemed delivered upon telephonic confirmation of receipt (confirmation report from fax
machine is sufficient), provided a copy is also delivered via delivery or mail.  If such communication is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, it
shall be deemed received on the next business day.

 
19.3                           Any Party or Broker hereto may from time to time, by notice in writing, designate a different address to which, or a different person or

additional persons to whom, all communications are thereafter to be made.
 

20.                               Duration of Offer.
 

20.1                           If this offer is not accepted by Seller on or before 5:00 P.M. according to the time standard applicable to the city of Los Angeles, CA on the
date of January 22, 2004, at 12:30 p.m., it shall be deemed automatically revoked.

 
20.2                           The acceptance of this offer, or of any subsequent counteroffer hereto, that creates an agreement between the Parties as described in

paragraph 1.2, shall be deemed made upon delivery to the other Party or either Broker herein of a duly executed writing unconditionally accepting the last
outstanding offer or counteroffer.
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21.                               LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  (This Liquidated Damages paragraph is applicable only if initialed by both Parties).
 
THE PARTIES AGREE THAT IT WOULD BE IMPRACTICABLE OR EXTREMELY DIFFICULT TO FIX, PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT,
THE ACTUAL DAMAGES WHICH WOULD BE SUFFERED BY SELLER IF BUYER FAILS TO PERFORM ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT.  THEREFORE, IF, AFTER THE SATISFACTION OR WAIVER OF ALL CONTINGENCIES PROVIDED FOR THE BUYER’S
BENEFIT, BUYER BREACHES THIS AGREEMENT, SELLER SHALL BE ENTITLED TO LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN THE AMOUNT OF
$250,000.00.  UPON PAYMENT OF SAID SUM TO SELLER, BUYER SHALL BE RELEASED FROM ANY FURTHER LIABILITY TO SELLER,
AND ANY ESCROW CANCELLATION FEES AND TITLE COMPANY CHARGES SHALL BE PAID BY SELLER.
 
     

Buyer Initials Seller Initials
 
22.                               ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES.  (This Arbitration of Disputes paragraph is applicable only if initiated by both Parties.)
 

22.1                           ANY CONTROVERSY AS TO WHETHER SELLER IS ENTITLED TO THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES AND/OR BUYER IS
ENTITLED TO THE RETURN OF DEPOSIT MONEY, SHALL BE DETERMINED BY BINDING ARBITRATION BY, AND UNDER THE
COMMERCIAL RULES OF THE AMERICAN ARBITRATION
 

 
ASSOCIATION (“COMMERCIAL RULES”).  ARBITRATION HEARINGS SHALL BE HELD IN THE COUNTY WHERE THE PROPERTY IS
LOCATED.  ANY SUCH CONTROVERSY SHALL BE ARBITRATED BY 3 ARBITRATORS WHO SHALL BE IMPARTIAL REAL ESTATE
BROKERS WITH AT LEAST 5 YEARS OF FULL TIME EXPERIENCE IN BOTH THE AREA WHERE THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED AND THE
TYPE OF REAL ESTATE THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THIS AGREEMENT.  THEY SHALL BE APPOINTED UNDER THE COMMERCIAL
RULES.  THE ARBITRATORS SHALL HEAR AND DETERMINE SAID CONTROVERSY IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW, THE
INTENTION OF THE PARTIES AS EXPRESSED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, AND UPON THE EVIDENCE
PRODUCED AT AN ARBITRATION HEARING.  PRE-ARBITRATION DISCOVERY SHALL BE PERMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
COMMERCIAL RULES OR STATE LAW APPLICABLE TO ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS.  THE AWARD SHALL BE EXECUTED BY AT
LEAST 2 OF THE 3 ARBITRATORS, BE RENDERED WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE HEARING, AND MAY INCLUDE
ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS TO THE PREVAILING PARTY PER PARAGRAPH 16 HEREOF.  JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED ON THE
AWARD IN ANY COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION NOTWITHSTANDING THE FAILURE OF A PARTY DULY NOTIFIED OF THE
ARBITRATION HEARING TO APPEAR THEREAT.

 
22.2                           BUYER’S RESORT TO OR PARTICIPATION IN SUCH ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS SHALL NOT BAR SUIT IN A COURT

OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION BY THE BUYER FOR DAMAGES AND/OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE UNLESS AND UNTIL THE
ARBITRATION RESULTS IN AN AWARD TO THE SELLER OF LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, IN WHICH EVENT SUCH AWARD SHALL ACT AS A
BAR AGAINST ANY ACTION BY BUYER FOR DAMAGES AND/OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

 
22.3                           NOTICE: BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF THE

MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE “ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES” PROVISIONS DECIDED BY NEUTRAL ARBITRATION AS PROVIDED BY
CALIFORNIA LAW AND YOU ARE GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS YOU MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE THE DISPUTE LITIGATED IN A COURT OR
JURY TRIAL.  BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ARE GIVING UP YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL,
UNLESS SUCH RIGHTS ARE SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED IN THE “ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES” PROVISION.  IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT
TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS PROVISION, YOU MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE
CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.  YOUR AGREEMENT TO THIS ARBITRATION PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY.

 
WE HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO SUBMIT DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED
IN THE “ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES” PROVISION TO NEUTRAL ARBITRATION.
 

 
     

Buyer Initials Seller Initials
 
23.                               MISCELLANEOUS.
 

23.1                           Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding on the Parties without regard to whether or not paragraphs 21 and 22 are initialed by
both of the Parties.  Paragraphs 21 and 22 are each incorporated into this Agreement only if initialed by both Parties at the time that the Agreement is executed.

 
23.2                           Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and paragraph 22.3 is amended to refer to, the laws of the state in which the

Property is located.
 
23.3                           Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence in this Agreement.
 
23.4                           Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed by Buyer and Seller in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all

of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Escrow Holder, after verifying that the counterparts are identical except for the signatures, is
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authorized and instructed to combine the signed signature pages on one of the counterparts, which shall then constitute the Agreement.
 
23.5                           Waiver of Jury Trial.  THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY

ACTION OR PROCEEDING INVOLVING THE PROPERTY OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT.
 
23.6                           Conflict.  Any conflict between the printed provisions of this Agreement and the typewritten or handwritten provisions shall be controlled

by the typewritten or handwritten provisions.
 

24.                               Disclosures Regarding The Nature Of A Real Estate Agency Relationship.
 

24.1                           The Parties and Brokers agree that their relationship(s) shall be governed by the principles set forth in the applicable sections of the
California Civil Code, as summarized in paragraph 24.2.

 
24.2                           When entering into a discussion with a real estate agent regarding a real estate transaction, a Buyer or Seller should from the outset

understand what type of agency relationship or representation it has with the agent or agents in the transaction.  Buyer and Seller acknowledge being advised
by the Brokers in this transaction, as follows:

 
(a)                                  Seller’s Agent.  A Seller’s agent under a listing agreement with the Seller acts as the agent for the Seller only.  A Seller’s agent or

subagent has the following affirmative obligations:  (1) To the Seller:  A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in dealings with the
Seller.  (2) To the Buyer and the Seller:  a. Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent’s duties.  b. A duty of honest and fair
dealing and good faith.  c. A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the property that are not known to, or
within the diligent attention and observation
 

 
of, the Parties.  An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any confidential information obtained from the other Party which does not involve the
affirmative duties set forth above.

 
(b)                                 Buyer’s Agent.  A selling agent can, with a Buyer’s consent, agree to act as agent for the Buyer only.  In these situations, the agent

is not the Seller’s agent, even if by agreement the agent may receive compensation for services rendered, either in full or in part from the Seller.  An agent acting
only for a Buyer has the following affirmative obligations.  (1) To the Buyer:  A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity, honesty, and loyalty in dealings with
the Buyer.  (2) To the Buyer and the Seller:  a. Diligent exercise of reasonable skills and care in performance of the agent’s duties.  b. A duty of honest and
fair dealing and good faith.  c. A duty to disclose all facts known to the agent materially affecting the value or desirability of the property that are not known
to, or within the diligent attention and observation of, the Parties.  An agent is not obligated to reveal to either Party any confidential information obtained from
the other Party which does not involve the affirmative duties set forth above.

 
(c)                                  Agent Representing Both Seller and Buyer.  A real estate agent, either acting directly or through one or more associate licenses,

can legally be the agent of both the Seller and the Buyer in a transaction, but only with the knowledge and consent of both the Seller and the Buyer.  (1) In a
dual agency situation, the agent has the following affirmative obligations to both the Seller and the Buyer:  a. A fiduciary duty of utmost care, integrity,
honesty and loyalty in the dealings with either Seller or the Buyer.  b. Other duties to the Seller and the Buyer as stated above in their respective sections (a) or
(b) of this paragraph 24.2.  (2) In representing both Seller and Buyer, the agent may not without the express permission of the respective Party, disclose to the
other Party that the Seller will accept a price less than the listing price or that the Buyer will pay a price greater than the price offered.  (3) The above duties of
the agent in a real estate transaction do not relieve a Seller or Buyer from the responsibility to protect their own interests.  Buyer and Seller should carefully
read all agreements to assure that they adequately express their understanding of the transaction.  A real estate agent is a person qualified to advise about real
estate.  If legal or tax advice is desired, consult a competent professional.

 
(d)                                 Further Disclosures.  Throughout this transaction Buyer and Seller may receive more than one disclosure, depending upon the

number of agents assisting in the transaction. Buyer and Seller should each read its contents each time it is presented, considering the relationship between
them and the real estate agent in this transaction and that disclosure.  Brokers have no responsibility with respect to any default or breach hereof by either
Party.  The liability (including court costs and attorneys’ fees), of any Broker with respect to any breach of duty, error or omission relating to this Agreement
shall not exceed the fee received by such Broker pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that the foregoing limitation on each Broker’s liability shall
not be applicable to any gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Broker.

 
24.3                           Confidential Information:   Buyer and Seller agree to Identify to Brokers as “Confidential” any communication or information given

Brokers that is considered by such Party to be confidential.
 

 
25.                               Construction Of Agreement.   In construing this Agreement, all headings and title are for the convenience of the parties only and shall not be
considered a part of this Agreement.  Whenever required by the context, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.  Unless otherwise specifically
indicated to the contrary, the word “days” as used in this Agreement shall mean and refer to calendar days.  This Agreement shall not be construed as if
prepared by one of the parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both parties had prepared it.
 
26.                               Additional Provisions:
 
Additional provisions of this offer, if any, are as follows or are attached hereto by an addendum consisting of paragraphs 28 through 37.  (If there are no
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additional provisions write “NONE.”)
 
see addendum, attached
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTENTION:  NO REPRESENTATION OR RECOMMENDATION IS MADE BY THE AMERICAN INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE
ASSOCIATION OR BY ANY BROKER AS TO THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY, LEGAL EFFECT, OR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH IT RELATES, THE PARTIES ARE URGED TO:
 
1.                                      SEEK ADVICE OF COUNSEL AS TO THE LEGAL AND TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS AGREEMENT.
2.                                      RETAIN APPROPRIATE CONSULTANTS TO REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY.  SAID
INVESTIGATION SHOULD INCLUDE BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO:  THE POSSIBLE PRESENCE OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES, THE
ZONING OF THE PROPERTY, THE INTEGRITY AND CONDITION OF ANY STRUCTURES AND OPERATING SYSTEMS, AND THE
SUITABILITY OF THE PROPERTY FOR BUYER’S INTENDED USE.
 
WARNING:  IF THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN A STATE OTHER THAN CALIFORNIA, CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS
AGREEMENT MAY NEED TO BE REVISED TO COMPLY WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE PROPERTY IS
LOCATED.
 
NOTE:

 
1.                                      THIS FORM IS NOT FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY.
 
2.                                      IF THE BUYER IS A CORPORATION, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THIS AGREEMENT BE SIGNED BY TWO

CORPORATE OFFICERS.
 

 
The undersigned Buyer offers and agrees to buy the Property on the terms and conditions stated and acknowledges receipt of a copy hereof.
 
BROKER: BUYER:
Commercial Resource Real Estate Services bebe stores, inc., a California corporation
   
Attn: Justin Beimforde By:
Title: Partner Date:
Address: 520 South Grand Avenue, Ste. 690 Name Printed: Manny Mashouf
Los Angeles, CA  90071 Title: Chief Executive Officer
Telephone: (213) 627 6700 x17 Telephone/Facsimile:
Facsimile: (213) 627-6727
Federal ID No. 95-3945478 By:

Date: 1-21-04
Name Printed: M. Mashouf
Title: CEO
Address:

   
Telephone/Facsimile
Federal ID No.

 
27.                               Acceptance.
 

27.1                           Seller accepts the foregoing offer to purchase the Property and hereby agrees to sell the Property to Buyer on the terms and conditions
therein specified.

 
27.2                           Seller acknowledges that Brokers have been retained to locate a Buyer and are the procuring cause of the purchase and sale of the Property

set forth in this Agreement.  In consideration of real estate brokerage service rendered by Brokers, Seller agrees to pay Brokers a real estate Brokerage Fee in a
sum equal to 4% of the Purchase Price, divided in such shares as follows:  2.5% to Commercial REsource Real Estate Services and 1.5% to eOffice Suites. 
This Agreement shall serve as an irrevocable instruction to Escrow Holder to pay such Brokerage Fee to Brokers out of the proceeds accruing to the account of
Seller at the Closing.

 
27.3                           Seller acknowledges receipt of a copy hereof and authorizes Brokers to deliver a signed copy to Buyer.
 

NOTE:  A PROPRIETARY INFORMATION SHEET IS REQUIRED TO BE DELIVERED TO BUYER BY SELLER UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT.
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BROKER: SELLER:
eOffice Suites, Inc. 10345 Olympic LLC
   
Attn: Howard Sher By:
Title: Date:
Address: 13101 Washington Blvd. Name Printed:
 

 
Los Angeles, CA Title:
Telephone: (310) 566 7004 Telephone/Facsimile:
Facsimile:
Federal ID No. By:

Date:
Name Printed:
Title:
Address:

   
Telephone/Facsimile:
Federal ID No.

 

 
ADDENDUM TO THE STANDARD OFFER, AGREEMENT AND ESCROW

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PURCHASE OF REAL ESTATE DATED
JANUARY 20, 2004, BY AND BETWEEN bebe stores, inc. AND/OR ASSIGNEE,

AS BUYER AND 10345 OLYMPIC LLC, AS SELLER, FOR THE PROPERTY AT
10345 WEST OLYMPIC BOULEVARD, LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90064

 
28.                               In addition to Contingencies to Closing referenced in Paragraph 9(e) above, Seller to grant Buyer the right, at Buyer’s sole cost and expense, to apply

with the City of Los Angeles, for a Code Update Inspection in order to establish the Property’s current standing with the City of Los Angeles relating
to compliance with associated issues of the City of Los Angeles’s most recent zoning, codes and restrictions.  The results of such Code Update
Inspection shall be, per Paragraph 9(e) above, contingencies to the close of escrow.

 
29.                               Seller to provide to Buyer any and all existing reports concerning: 1) Environmental integrity of the Property (Phase I and Phase II environmental

assessments); 2) Compliance with City of Los Angeles Codes, including but not limited to ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act) requirements;
3) City requirements, if any, for fire safety/sprinklers (including most recent Title 19 backflow pressure test inspection; 4) Seismic compliance
and/or seismic upgrade work that has been completed; 5) Copies of most recent occupancy permits and business licenses for all past and present
delineated rentable areas; 6) Per Paragraph 2.4, Seller to disclose whether current fire sprinkler monitor system is owned by Seller or leased by
Seller.  Additionally, should records of non-compliance exist for any of the above referenced items, Seller shall likewise provide these to Buyer. 
Investigation of all of these items shall be, per Paragraph 9, contingencies to the close of escrow.

 
30.                               In addition to Contingencies to Closing referenced in Paragraph 9 and those above, Seller to provide any and all documentation relating to Property’s

current status with the City of Los Angeles regarding all aspects of compliance, whether or not these items are included in documents referenced in
Paragraph 9(a) and/or 9(e).  Further, Seller to provide Buyer with any and all documentation relating to agreements made by Seller and City of Los
Angeles regarding parking (minimums, “grandfather”/legal non-conforming provisions, etc.); Certificate(s) of Occupancy and/or Business
License(s); and/or any outstanding or unresolved/non-reconciled issues that may exist relative to Property’s standing with the City.

 
31.                               Notwithstanding the time periods detailed in Paragraph 9 above, and to all references in Paragraph 1.2 and Paragraph 9 to “Date of Agreement,” all

Buyer Due Diligence periods to expire twenty one (21) days following opening of escrow.
 
32.                               Notwithstanding any provisions of Paragraph 9 above to the contrary, within ten (10) days following opening of escrow, Seller to provide Buyer

with any and all building plans; engineering reports, surveys; maps; seismic and/or soils reports and/or other type environmental reports; grading
plans; schematic drawings; mechanical systems drawings, maintenance contracts and records, etc.; for the Property.  Seller consents to Buyer, at
Buyer’s sole cost and expense, commencing any such investigations and reviews as Buyer may deem necessary.  In the event of escrow cancellation
for any reason other than Seller’s default, Buyer shall promptly return any above referenced materials.

 
22

 
33.                               In the event of Buyer’s dissatisfaction with any of the contingent due diligence items described above, and notwithstanding reference to the contrary

in any paragraph above, prior to the twenty first (21 st) day following opening of escrow, Buyer, in Buyer’s sole discretion, may instruct Escrow
Holder to return to Buyer any funds deposited into Escrow by Buyer, following Escrow Holder’s receipt of Buyer’s written cancellation instructions.
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Regarding Costs of Escrow:  Seller shall pay One-half (½) of the escrow fees; that portion of the premium for the Title Policy equivalent to the
premium to CLTA Owner’s Standard Coverage Policy of Title Insurance; the cost of documentary transfer tax in connection with the recordation of
the Grant Deed (Buyer to cooperate with Seller to minimize the Documentary Transfer Tax paid by Seller, at no cost to Buyer, and subject to Buyer’s
counsel review and approval of minimization process); the cost of any obligations of Seller hereunder; and any other closing costs or charges not
expressly provided for herein and customarily paid by a Seller of real property in Los Angeles County, California.  Buyer shall pay:  One-half (½) of
the escrow fees; the cost of recording the Grand Deed; the premium for the Title Policy in excess of the premium for a CLTA Owner’s Standard
Coverage title policy; the cost of any other obligations of Buyer hereunder; any other closing costs or charges not expressly provided for herein and
customarily paid by a Buyer of real property in Los Angeles County, California.  In the event that this escrow shall fail to close by reason of default
of either party hereunder, the defaulting party shall be liable for all escrow and title cancellation charges.  In the event that the escrow shall fail to close
for any other reason, each party shall pay one-half (½) of all escrow and title cancellation charges.
 

34.                               In consideration of Buyer’s entering into this Agreement and as an inducement to Buyer to purchase the Property, Seller makes the following
representations and warranties, each of which is material and is relied upon by Buyer (the continued truth and accuracy of which shall constitute a
condition precedent to Buyer’s obligations to close hereunder and each of which shall survive the close of escrow):  There are no suits pending
against or affecting or, to the best of Seller’s knowledge, without having made investigation thereof, threatened against the Property or its use, whether
in law or at equity; to the best of Seller’s knowledge, without having made investigation thereof, Seller is not aware or the existence of any violation of
law or violation of governmental regulation with respect to the Property; there are no pending, or to the best of Seller’s knowledge, without having
made investigation thereof, threatened proceedings in eminent domain, which would affect the Property, or any portion thereof, nor would any
proposed, projected, nor proscribed municipal, county, state, or federal action whether in action or in concept, which may affect Buyer’s projected
use of the Property as an executive office and design studio, as of the opening of escrow.  Additionally, except as described on Exhibit ”B” attached
hereto, there are no leases and/or other agreements affecting the Property.

 
35.                             Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the telephone system/switch currently on the Premises is excluded from the Purchase

Price and shall be removed by
 

23

 
Seller, at Seller’s sole cost and expense, prior to close of escrow.  Should Buyer determine that it wishes for the telephone system/switch to remain on
the Premises, Seller shall transfer title to the telephone system/switch for the sum of $15,000.00.

 
36.                               Buyer to cooperate with Seller in a Section 10.31 Tax Deferred Exchange, provided that cooperation and participation in such an exchange is at no

cost to Buyer and that cooperation and participation in such an exchange does not unduly delay the close of escrow described in Paragraph 1.1. 
Undue delay to the close of escrow is deemed to be April 1, 2004, or later.

 
37.                               All notices, requests, demands and other communication given or required to be given hereunder shall be in writing and personally delivered or sent

by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or sent by a nationally recognized courier service such as
Federal Express, duly addressed to the parties as follows:

 
To Buyer: bebe stores, inc.

860 South Los Angeles Street
Los Angeles, California 90014
Attention:  Mr. Manny Mashouf, Chief Executive Officer

  
With a Copy To: Commercial REsource Real Estate Services

520 S. Grand Avenue
Suite 690
Los Angeles, California 90071
Attention:  Justin Beimforde

  
To Seller: 10345 Olympic LLC

c/o eOffice Suites
13101 West Washington Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90066

  
To Escrow Holder: Wilshire Escrow Company

4720 Wilshire Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90010
Attention:  Ms. Pamela J. Wood

 
Delivery of any notice or other communication hereunder shall be deemed made on the date of actual delivery thereof to the address of the addressee, if
personally delivered, and on the date indicated in the return receipt or courier’s records as the date of delivery or as the date of first attempted delivery,
if sent by mail or courier service.  Any party may change its address for purposes of this Paragraph by giving notice to the other party and to Escrow
Holder as herein provided.
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
4270 Wilshire Boulevard

Los Angeles, California 90010
(323) 935-3530       Fax (323) 938-8927

www.wilshire-escrow.com
 
Opening Escrow Instructions:  SALE Escrow Number:  116254
Escrow Officer:  Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317) Date:  January 22, 2004
 
THIS “OPENING ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS” IS AN AMENDMENT TO THAT CERTAIN STANDARD OFFER, AGREEMENT AND
ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS FOR PURCHASE OF REAL ESTATE, DATED JANUARY 20, 2004
 
CASH THROUGH ESCROW $ 10,950,000.00
    
TOTAL CONSIDERATION $ 10,950,000.00
 
RE:  10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
1)                                      DATE OF AGREEMENT/OPENING DATE OF ESCROW/CLOSING DATE:  Undersigned herein agree that the Date of Agreement is

January 21, 2004, the opening date of escrow is January 22, 2004, and the closing date of escrow is on or before February 26, 2004 (UNLESS
EXTENDED AS SHOWN BELOW).

 
2)                                      EXTENDED CLOSING DATE:  Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement/Escrow Instructions, Seller reserves the option to use subject property as

part of a tax deferred exchange and Buyer agrees to cooperate providing, among other things, this escrow is closed no later than April 1, 2004. 
Undersigned herein agree that Seller must give faxed notice to escrow holder no later than February 23rd, if Seller requires additional time for his tax
deferred exchange.  It is further agreed that Buyer shall be given a four (4) business day notice, prior to the closing date, if said closing days has been
extended for Seller’s tax deferred exchange.

 
3)                                      DEPOSIT:  Buyer’s required deposit in the amount of $500,000.00 has been received in escrow.
 
4)                                      VESTING:  Policy of Title Insurance to show title vested in:  BEBE STORES, INC., A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION.
 
5)                                      LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  SEE EXHIBIT ”A” ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE APART HEREOF FOR LEGAL

DESCRIPTION.
 
6)                                      ENCUMBRANCES:   Title Policy shall be free from encumbrances EXCEPT:
 

a)                                      General and Special Taxes, including levies therein, for fiscal year 2003-2004 including personal property taxes, if any, assessed against
any former owner, ALL OF WHICH, AS CURRENTLY ASSESSED HAVE BEEN PAID BY SELLER PRIOR TO OPENING
ESCROW.

 
b)                                     Covenants, conditions, restrictions, reservations, exceptions (including oil, gas or mineral rights) rights of way, rights and easements of

record and in deed to file, if any, affecting the use and occupancy of said property, subject to Buyer’s approval pursuant to
Paragraph 9.1(f) of the Purchase Agreement/Escrow Instructions.

 
*** ESCROW NO. 116254 — PLEASE SIGN ON PAGE FIVE ***
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7)                                      PRORATIONS:  All prorations are to be based on a 30 day month.  Prorations shall be prorated as of 12:01 A.M. of the day of the close of escrow,

regardless of the actual time of recording.  Buyer and Seller acknowledge and agree that any supplemental tax bills for the current fiscal year received
after closing shall be prorated as set forth above and paid in cash outside escrow to the party entitled to such payment, which obligation shall survive
the close of escrow.  Escrow holder is not concerned with proration of Property taxes based on supplemental tax bills not issued prior to closing of
escrow.  There will be no proration of utilities and/or operating expenses through escrow.

 
a)                                      Fire Insurance:  – NO PRORATION, Buyer to procure their own insurance outside of escrow.
 
b)                                     Rents/deposits:  – NO PRORATION – property is vacant.
 
c)                                      Property Taxes:  – Prorate taxes based on latest available tax bill as of CLOSE OF ESCROW.  (Wilshire Escrow Company is not held

responsible for any personal Property tax which may be assessed against any former owner of the above described Property nor for the
corporation or license tax of any corporation as a former owner.)
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8)                                      BUYER’S CONTINGENCIES:   PARTIES TO THIS ESCROW HEREIN UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT PURSUANT TO THE
ORIGINAL, THE FOLLOWING CONTINGENCIES WILL BE DEEMED APPROVED BY BUYER IF WRITTEN DISAPPROVAL IS NOT
RECEIVED WITHIN THE FOLLOWING TIME LIMITS:

 
a)                                      AIR Mandatory Disclosure Statement:   10 days after receipt of same.  Seller to provide said document to Buyer as shown above.  If

said documents are received in escrow for delivery to Buyer, then escrow holder shall cause same to be messengered to Buyer from Escrow
Holder within 1 business day of receipt of same.

 
b)                                     All other Disclosures and Property Information Sheet:   – February 13, 2004.  Buyer herein acknowledges that all other

documentation, required for Buyer’s due diligence approval, including the Property Information Sheet, as completed and signed by Seller,
is being delivered to Buyer with these opening escrow instructions via messenger for delivery to Buyer on Monday, February 2nd.

 
c)                                      Physical Inspection:  – February 13, 2004.
 
d)                                     Hazardous Substance:   – February 13, 2004.
 
e)                                      Soils Inspection:  – February 13, 2004.
 
f)                                        Government Approvals:   – February 13, 2004.
 
g)                                     Preliminary Title Report and Underlying Documents:   – February 13, 2004.  Buyer herein acknowledges receipt of copy of updated

title report issued by Investor’s Title Company, Order No. 173737-19, dated June 21, 2004 and copies of underlying documents as
described therein.  Items 23, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 as shown in schedule B are to be eliminated by close of escrow.  All other items shown
in schedule B will be deemed approved if not disapproved within the contingency time limit as shown herein.

 
h)                                     ALTA Supplemental Title Report:  – February 13, 2004.  Buyer, must furnish title company with acceptable survey at Buyer’s own

expense, using Buyer’s own resources before said ALTA Supplemental Report will be issued.  If Buyer has not delivered Survey to Title
Company by February 2, 2004, it will be deemed Buyer has elected not to procure that ALTA extended owner’s title policy.
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i)                                         Copies of Leases and Estoppel Certificates (if applicable):   –not applicable, there are no tenants occupying subject property.
 
j)                                         Other Agreements, if any:   – February 13, 2004.
 
k)                                      Personal Property:  Buyer has until February 13, 2004 to satisfy itself with regard to the title condition of such personal property.  Seller

to deliver copies of any liens or encumbrances affecting such property, that it is aware of to Buyer by NOON on January 23, 2004.  IF
BUYER WANTS A UCC-1 REPORT ORDERED THROUGH ESCROW, Buyer must deliver instructions and funds to pay for the cost
of report to escrow, prior to the ordering of same, and in said event, herein authorizes and instructs escrow holder to pay for said report
immediately upon receipt of same, regardless of status of escrow.

 
9)                                      ADDITIONAL DEPOSIT:  Pursuant to the AIR Purchase Contract/Escrow Instructions, Buyer to deposit in escrow within 5 business days after

the contingencies shown above have been eliminated, an additional $5,000,000.00 in escrow, making a total of $5,500,000.00 deposited in escrow.
 
10)                                TENANT STATUS:  Undersigned seller herein confirms:  Subject property IS NOT occupied by tenant(s).
 
11)                                SAVINGS ACCOUNT:  The undersigned principals instruct escrow holder to place funds deposited by BUYER in a Money Market Savings

Account at Mellon First Business Bank located at 601 West 5th Avenue, Los Angeles, California in the name of Wilshire Escrow Company as
Trustee for the above numbered escrow.  At the close of escrow interest is to be disbursed to BUYER.  In the event escrow fails to close, earned
interest is to by distributed to BUYER, EXCEPT INTEREST WHICH IS SUBJECT TO LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  Escrow is instructed to
withdraw funds from the interest bearing account only for redeposit in the within escrow.  BUYER MUST FURNISH THE BANKING
INSTITUTION WITH A COMPLETED AND SIGNED “W-9” FORM AS TO TAXPAYER NAME AND ID NO. TO BE FURNISHED
THE IRS BEFORE ANY INTEREST BEARING ACCOUNT WILL BE OPENED.

 
12)                                STATE TAX WITHHOLDING:  Under California Revenue and Taxation Code Sections 18805 and 26131, every Buyer must, unless an

exemption applies, deduct and withhold 3-1/3% of the gross sales price from Seller’s proceeds and send it to the Franchise Tax Board if the Seller has
a last known address outside of California or if the Seller’s proceeds will be paid to a financial intermediary of the Seller.  Penalties may be imposed
on a responsible party for non-compliance with the requirements of these statutes and related regulations.  Seller and Buyer agree to execute and
deliver any instrument, affidavit, statement or instruction reasonably necessary to carry out these requirements, and to withholding of tax under
those statutes if required.

 
13)                                FEDERAL TAX WITHHOLDING:  Under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act (FIRPTA), IRC Section 1445, every Buyer must,

unless an exemption applies, deduct and withhold 10% of the gross sales price from Seller’s proceeds and send it to the Internal Revenue Service, if
the Seller is a “foreign person” under that statute.  Penalties may be imposed on a responsible party for non-compliance with the requirements of these
statutes and related regulations.  Seller and Buyer agree to execute and deliver any instrument, affidavit, statement or instruction reasonably
necessary to carry out these requirements, and to withholding of tax under those statutes if required.
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14)                                WATER CONSERVATION CERTIFICATE:  Buyer and Seller are aware that the City of Los Angeles is subject to an ordinance which requires

the Seller of residential, commercial or industrial real property to install in all showers low-flow showerheads and to install in all toilets a water closet
flush reduction device.  This ordinance requires that Seller, prior to the close of escrow of this transaction, provide Buyer with written notice of these
requirements and with written confirmation that Seller has complied with this ordinance.
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15)                                PRELIMINARY CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP REPORT:  The Buyer agrees to deliver to the escrow holder, at least two days prior to the close

of escrow, a Preliminary Change of Ownership Report, in accordance with Section 480.3 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of the State of California,
or be charged through escrow with the $20.00 penalty assessment levied by the County Recorder at the time of the recording of the conveyance
document when the same is presented to the County Recorder without said Report.

 
16)                                MATTERS OF INFORMATION:  The following items shown in the above described Agreement/Escrow Instructions are agreements and/or

conditions between buyer and seller, with which escrow holder is not to be concerned:  2.3; 2.4; 2.5; 7; 9.4; 9.5; 11.5; 12; 13; 14; 15; 16; 17.1;
18; 20; 22; 23; 24; 25; 27.1; 27.3 and 34.

 
17)                                UPDATED PRELIM:  Paragraph 10.1 is herein amended in that escrow holder need only request an updated preliminary report when escrow

holder deems it necessary and copies of same need not be furnished to all parties.
 
18)                                COPIES OF SURVEYS, ETC. TO SELLER (IN THE EVENT OF CANCELLATION):  Paragraph 8.10 is herein amended in that escrow

holder shall not be concerned with said Seller’s request, if a copy of any such request from Seller to Buyer, is not received in escrow, prior to the
cancelling of escrow.

 
19)                                SELLER COMPLIANCE:   Moneys as needed from Buyer to close escrow, deposited into escrow will be evidence that Buyer has inspected the

property and has satisfied himself, through his own investigation, that Seller has complied with Item 35 of the Air Contract/Escrow Instructions and
same will no longer be a condition of escrow.

 
20)                                COMMISSION PAYMENT(S):  Inasmuch as there is more than one broker being paid a commission from seller’s proceeds per Item 27.2 of the

above described Agreement/Escrow Instructions, it is understood that escrow holder will disburse commission as shown on the AIR Purchase
Contract/Escrow Instructions without having to receive written authorization from brokers.

 
21)                                HOLD OPEN FEE:  Should the Buyer and Seller hereto fail to execute closing instructions within sixty (60) days after the closing date set forth in

these instructions, then Escrow Holder shall be entitled to receive an additional sum of $25.00 each month as a hold-open fee, which sum may be
deducted monthly from funds on deposit with Escrow Holder.  The parties hereto do agree that said additional sum is a reasonable fee.

 
22)                                COMMON INTEREST DISCLOSURE:   It is hereby disclosed to all parties to this transaction that certain Officers and Directors of WILSHIRE

ESCROW COMPANY are similarly Officers and Directors of both WINDSOR EXCHANGE CORP. and FREEMAN EXCHANGE, INC.
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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

 
1-C)                          You are hereby authorized to destroy without liability and without further notice to us, all documents, papers, instructions and any other material in

connection with this escrow five years after termination of same.
 

2-C)                          We, jointly and severally, agree to save and hold you harmless, by reason of any misrepresentation or omission by any of the parties to this escrow
as to compliance with rules and/or regulations of any governmental agency, State, Federal, Municipal, or otherwise, as concerns rent control,
priorities, price ceilings, and matters of a like nature.

 
3-C)                          In the event that the conditions of this escrow have not been complied with at the expiration of the time provided for herein, you are instructed to

complete the same at the earliest possible date thereafter, unless we or either of us have made written demand upon you for return of the money and/or
instruments deposited by either of us, in which case you may return all instruments and/or funds to the respective parties hereto and this escrow will
without further notice be considered terminated, or you may withhold and stop all further proceedings in this escrow without liability for interest on
funds held or for damages or otherwise until receipt of mutual cancellation instructions by all parties shall have been deposited in this escrow,
whereupon you are then instructed to disburse the escrow funds and instruments accordingly, less your proper charges.  You are further authorized
and instructed to remit all the funds by your check to the party(ies) depositing same in this escrow if this escrow is not consummated, unless
specifically instructed to the contrary.

 
4-C)                          If conflicting demands are made or notice served upon you or legal action is taken in connection with this escrow, you shall not be required to

determine the same or take any action in the premises, but may withhold and stop all further proceedings without liability therefor, or you may file
suit in interpleader or for declaratory relief.  If you are required to respond to any legal summons or proceedings or if any action of interpleader or
declaratory relief is brought by you, we jointly and severally agree to pay all costs, expenses and reasonable attorney’s fees expended or incurred by
you, and a lien is hereby created in your company’s favor to cover said items.  We agree to save you harmless as escrow holder hereunder from all
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loss and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs sustained by reason of any action, legal or otherwise, which may in any way
arise out of this escrow, before or after closing, notwithstanding anything in these instructions to the contrary.

 
5-C)                          We jointly and severally, agree that in the event of cancellation we shall pay you a sum sufficient to pay you for any expenses which you have

incurred pursuant to these instructions and a reasonable cancellation fee for services rendered by you, said expenses and fees to be put in escrow
before cancellation is effective.  We further agree that said charges may be apportioned to us in a manner which you consider equitable and that your
decision in that regard will be binding and conclusive upon us.  Any funds which have been deposited by a licensed real estate broker for either or
both of us shall be returned to such broker.

 
6-C)                          Any action brought against the escrow holder, based on these instructions or the transaction arising therefrom, shall be filed within one (1) year

from the closing of said escrow, or shall be forever barred.
 
7-C)                          Recordation of any instruments delivered through this escrow, if necessary or proper in the issuance of the policy of title insurance called for, is

authorized, and in connection therewith, funds and/or instruments received in this escrow may be delivered to, or deposited with any Bank, Title
Company, Savings and Loan Association, or Licensed Escrow Agent, subject to your order, prior to the close of escrow, for the purpose of
complying with the terms and conditions of these escrow instructions.

 
Wilshire Escrow Company is licensed by the DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS of the State of California under License #963 0326 issued in 1944.
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Receipt of a copy of these instructions is hereby acknowledged; my signature on all instruments and instructions pertaining to this escrow indicates my
unconditional acceptance and approval of same.
 
BUYER SIGNATURE(S):
 
bebe stores, Inc.
 
By:

Manny Mashouf, Chief Executive Officer
 

MAILING:  860 South Los Angeles Street, Los Angeles, CA 90066
 

FORWARDING:                                                                                                    
 
The foregoing terms, provisions, conditions and instructions are hereby approved and accepted in their entirety and concurred in by me.  I will hand you
necessary documents called for on my part to cause title to be shown as above, which you are authorized to deliver when you hold or have caused to be applied
funds set forth above within the time as above provided.  Pay your escrow charges, my recording fees, charges for evidence of title as called for whether or not
this escrow is consummated, except those the buyer agreed to pay.  You are hereby authorized to pay bonds, assessments, taxes, and any liens of record,
including prepayment penalties, if any, to show title as called for.  Affix documentary transfer stamps on deed as required.  Receipt of a copy of these
instructions is hereby acknowledged.
 
SELLER SIGNATURE(S):
 
10345 Olympic LLC
 
By:

Harvey J. Lind, Managing Member
 

MAILING:  13101 West Washington Blvd., #100, Los Angeles, CA 90066
 

MAILING:
 

* * *  ESCROW NO. 116254 – PLEASE SIGN ABOVE  * * *
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ESCROW NO. 116254-010

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

 
PARCEL 1:
 
LOTS 12, 13, 14, 16 AND 17 IN BLOCK 19, OF TRACT NO. 7260, IN THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF
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CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 79, PAGE(S) 98 AND 99 OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF
SAID COUNTY.
 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THAT PORTION OF SAID LOT 14, LYING SOUTHEASTERLY OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE:
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 14, DISTANT THEREIN 13.22 FEET WESTERLY FROM THE
NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 14; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY IN A DIRECT LINE 76.29 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY
LINE OF SAID LOT 14, DISTANT THEREON 65.50 FEET NORTHWESTERLY FROM THE MOST SOUTHERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 14.
 
ALSO EXCEPT THE INTEREST OF THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES IN THAT PORTION OF LOT 13 DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
 
BEGINNING AT THE MOST SOUTHERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 13; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY, ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE
OF SAID LOT 13, (66) FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY, IN A DIRECT LINE TO A POINT IN THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID
LOT 13, DISTANT THEREON (65.50) FEET NORTHWESTERLY FROM THE MOST EASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT 13; THENCE
SOUTHEASTERLY, ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE, (65.50) FEET TO SAID MOST EASTERLY CORNER; THENCE
SOUTHWESTERLY, ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 13, (91.45) FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AS
CONDEMNED BY FINAL DECREE OF CONDEMNATION, A CERTIFIED COPY OF WHICH WAS RECORDED DECEMBER 18, 1939 IN
BOOK 17134 PAGE 181, OFFICIAL RECORDS.
 
PARCEL 2:
 
THAT PORTION OF LOT 15, BLOCK 19 OF TRACT 7260, IN THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 79 PAGES 98
AND 99 OF MAPS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY, LYING NORTHWESTERLY OF THE FOLLOWING
DESCRIBED LINE:
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 15, DISTANT THEREON 13.47 FEET NORTHERLY FROM THE
SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY IN A DIRECT LINE TO A POINT IN THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE
OF SAID LOT, DISTANT THEREON 13.22 FEET WESTERLY FROM THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT.
 
PARCEL 3:
 
LOT 11 BLOCK 19 OF TRACT 7260, IN THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 79 PAGES 98 AND 99 OF MAPS,
IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.
 

THE PROPERTY IS MORE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 

10345 West Olympic Boulevard
Los Angeles, California  90064-2548

 
APN:  4319-006-052

 
EXHIBIT “A”
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
 

4270 Wilshire Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90010

(323) 935-3530       Fax (323) 938-8927
www.wilshire-escrow.com

AMENDMENT/SUPPLEMENT TO ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS
 

TO: WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254
Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317) DATE:  February 6, 2004
Escrow Officer PAGE 1 OF 1

 
RE:                              10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
THESE ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS ARE HEREBY AMENDED/SUPPLEMENTED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:
 
Harvey Jeffrey Lind, as Trustee of the 1992 Harvey and Lauen Lind Family Trust, dated 10-26-92, as amended 03-08-99, AND Howard A. Sher, as
Trustee of the Sher Family Trust Dated 01-15-99; Managing Members of 10345 Olympic LLC, herein acknowledge they have reviewed original escrow
instructions and supplements and/or amendments thereto to date, including commission agreement, as previously executed by Harvey Lind, managing
member of 10345 Olympic LLC and approves of same in their entirety.
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SELLER DISCLOSURE:  Undersigned Buyer herein understands and acknowledges that Howard A. Sher, signing as Trustee of a managing member trust
for 10345 Olympic, LLC is a California Real Estate Licensee and is affiliated with eOffices Suites, a Broker to this transaction.
 
 
10345 Olympic, LLC bebe stores, Inc.
   
By: By:

Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992
Harvey and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated
10-26-92, as amended 03-08-99, Managing Member

Manny Mashouf, Chief Executive Officer

    
    
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family Trust Dated 01-15-
99, Managing Member
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
 

4270 Wilshire Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90010

(323) 935-3530       Fax (323) 938-8927
www.wilshire-escrow.com

AMENDMENT TO ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS
 
TO: WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254

Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317) DATE:  February 18, 2004
Escrow Officer PAGE 1 OF 1

 
RE:                              10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
TOTAL PURCHASE PRICE AND/OR TERMS TO PURCHASE PRICE ARE HEREIN AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:
 
CASH THROUGH ESCROW $ 4,557,000.00
EXISTING DEED OF TRUST WITH APPROXIMATE BALANCE OF $ 6,393,000.00
TOTAL CONSIDERATION $ 10,950,000.00
 
Buyer agrees to take title “SUBJECT TO” existing Deed of Trust of record, in favor of Bank of the West, securing a Note with an approximate unpaid
principal balance of $6,393,000.00.
 
Buyer requests escrow holder to procure a Demand for Payoff and intends to pay said existing loan in full within 2 business days after the successful close of
escrow herein.  If the unpaid balance proves to be more or less than stated above you are to adjust the cash down accordingly.
 
Buyer will be delivering the funds to payoff said loan in full to Investor’s Title Company prior to the close of this escrow and herein authorizes and instructs
escrow holder to request title company to pay said loan in full as soon as possible after the successful close of this escrow.
 
Escrow holder is to hold all seller’s proceeds until said loan has been confirmed paid by title company.  All moneys needed to pay said loan in full, above the
unpaid principal, shall be credited to buyers in the form of a refund check through escrow herein.
 
Any additional expenses of title company to be able to issue a title policy, after close of escrow, showing property free and clear of any encumbrances, shall be
charged to Seller through escrow herein.
 
10345 Olympic, LLC bebe stores, Inc.
   
By: By:

Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992
Harvey and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated
10-26-92, as amended 03-08-99, Managing Member

Manny Mashouf, Chief Executive Officer,
Chairman

    
    
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family Trust
Dated 01-15-99, Managing Member
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
 

4270 Wilshire Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90010

(323) 935-3530       Fax (323) 938-8927
www.wilshire-escrow.com

AMENDMENT/SUPPLEMENT TO ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS
 
TO: WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254

Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317) DATE:  February 24, 2004
Escrow Officer PAGE 1 OF 1

 
RE:                              10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
THESE ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS ARE HEREBY AMENDED/SUPPLEMENTED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:
 
As a matter of agreement between the undersigned, with which escrow holder is not to be concerned:  Each party agrees not to disclose any of the terms of this
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party other than as required by law.
 
 
10345 Olympic, LLC bebe studio realty, LLC
   
By: By:  bebe studio, Inc., sole member

Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992
Harvey and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated By:
10-26-92, as amended 03-08-99, Managing Member Manny Mashouf, Chairman

    
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family Trust
Dated 01-15-99, Managing Member
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
 

4270 Wilshire Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90010

(323) 935-3530       Fax (323) 938-8927
www.wilshire-escrow.com

AMENDMENT/SUPPLEMENT TO ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS
 
TO: WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254

Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317) DATE:  February 24, 2004
Escrow Officer PAGE 1 OF 1

 
RE:                              10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
THESE ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS ARE HEREBY AMENDED/SUPPLEMENTED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:
 
Title to subject property shall vest as follows:

 
bebe studio realty, LLC, a California limited liability company

 
The Grantee, as named above, herein acknowledges that it has reviewed original escrow instructions and supplements and/or amendments thereto to date as
previously executed by bebe stores, Inc. and approves of same in their entirety.
 
Deposit(s) in escrow to be credited to the account of the above named Grantees without consideration for the account of bebe stores, Inc. who no longer has any
interest in and to said subject property.
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Undersigned Seller herein authorizes and instructs escrow holder to correct the Grant Deed, already executed by Seller, to reflect buyer’s vesting as shown
above.
 
 
10345 Olympic, LLC bebe studio realty, LLC
   
By: By:  bebe studio, Inc., sole member

Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992
Harvey and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated By:
10-26-92, as amended 03-08-99, Managing Member Manny Mashouf, Chairman

    
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family Trust
Dated 01-15-99, Managing Member
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WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY

a corporation
 

WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254
4270 Wilshire Boulevard DATE:  February 24, 2004
Los Angeles, California 90010 Pamela J. Wood (Ext. 317)
(323) 935-3530 Escrow Officer
 
AMENDED ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS PERTAINING TO COMMISSION
 
RE:                              10345 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, California 90064-2548
 
At the close of escrow pay to the following licensed real estate broker(s) as a commission for services rendered, the sum of $273,750.00 which you are
authorized and instructed to deduct from funds due me under the above numbered escrow:
 
These instructions are conditional upon Selling Agent crediting Buyer with $50,000.00 from commission due them at the successful close of escrow.
 
Said amount is to be disbursed as follows:
 
LISTING AGENT: $0.00 To: eOffice Suites, Inc.

13101 West Washington Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90066
Agent:  Howard Sher

    
SELLING AGENT: $273,750,00 To: Rinaldo Elliott Hunt

Funds to be sent via wire transfer to Wells Fargo Bank
Los Altos Center Branch

Routing No. 122000247
for credit to the account of Rinaldo E. Hunt Real Estate Trust Account
Account No. 8606667668

 
 

10345 Olympic, LLC
  

By:
Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992 Harvey
and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated 10-26-92, as
amended 03-08-99, Managing Member

   
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family
Trust Dated 01-15-99, Managing Member

 
Undersigned Broker herein authorizes and instructs escrow holder to credit the sum of $50,000.00 to Buyer at the successful close of escrow.
 
  

Rinaldo Elliott Hunt
 
Undersigned herein acknowledged:
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bebe studio realty, LLC
 
By:  bebe studio, Inc., sole member
 

By:
Manny Mashouf, Chairman
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SUPPLEMENTAL ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS

 
TO: WILSHIRE ESCROW COMPANY ESCROW NO:  116254

DATE:  February 24, 2004
PAGE 1 OF 2

     
 
1)                                      Windsor Exchange Corp., a California corporation (“Windsor”), is hereby substituted for 10345 Olympic LLC, a California limited liability

company, Exchangor, as Seller in this escrow, in connection with Exchangor’s desire to effect a like-kind exchange pursuant to I.R.C. Section 1031.
 
2)                                      Buyer hereby acknowledges and agrees that:
 

a)                                      Windsor will be acquiring the real property described in this escrow (the “Property”) concurrently with Windsor’s conveyance thereof to
Buyer, solely for the purpose of facilitating Exchangor’s desire to effect a like-kind exchange.  Windsor has not made or assumed, nor shall
Windsor be liable for, any covenant, obligation, representation or warranty made by Exchangor concerning or affecting the Property or the
condition thereof, except Windsor’s agreement to convey the Property to buyer in accordance herewith.

 
b)                                     Buyer has investigated and is satisfied with the Property and all contingencies to this transaction, and shall acquire the Property “as is”

and without representation or warranty of Windsor.  Buyer hereby releases Windsor and shall hold harmless Windsor from and against
any claim, liability or expense in connection with the Property or any term or condition of this transaction.

 
c)                                      Buyer’s sole recourse shall be to proceed against Exchangor with respect to any claim or allegation of buyer concerning the Property or any

continuing covenant, obligation, representation or warranty of Exchangor in connection with this transaction; and Exchangor agrees to
remain liable to Buyer and that the conveyance of the Property to Windsor shall not relieve Exchangor therefrom.

 
3)                                      The Acknowledgements and agreements of Buyer set forth herein shall survive the close of escrow and recordation of any deed or other instrument

in connection herewith.
 
4)                                      Any and all prorations, escrow fees and other costs of expenses chargeable to Seller in connection with conveyance of the Property shall be paid

from funds otherwise payable to Seller at closing.  You are instructed to pay net proceeds of sale to Windsor by wire transfer or cashier’s check, as
directed by Windsor.

 
5)                                      Neither this amendment nor any existing escrow instructions referred to herein shall supersede, amend or modify any exchange or other agreement

between or among the undersigned parties outside of escrow.
 

As a matter of record, with which this escrow is not concerned, undersigned herein understand and acknowledge that the officers and shareholders
of Windsor Exchange Corp. are the same officers and shareholders of Wilshire Escrow Company, a California corporation.

 
6)                                      Notwithstanding any other specific provision herein, Exchangor hereby requests that the conveyance of the Property shall be by “Direct Deed” from

Exchangor to Buyer pursuant to the provisions of Internal Revenue Ruling 90-34.
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ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS ESCROW SHALL REMAIN UNCHANGED.

 
ACCOMODATOR/SELLER: BUYER:
Windsor Exchange Corp. bebe studio realty, LLC
   
By: By:  bebe studio, Inc., sole member
    
By: By:

Manny Mashouf, Chairman
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EXCHANGOR:
  
10345 Olympic LLC
  
By:

Harvey Jeffrey Lind, Trustee of the 1992 Harvey
and Lauen Lind Family Trust dated 10-26-92, as
amended 03-08-99, Managing Member

   
By:

Howard A. Sher, Trustee of the Sher Family Trust
dated 01-15-99, Managing Member
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Exhibit 14.1
 
bebe
 
100 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT & CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS POLICY# 104
 
SCOPE: All current bebe employees.
 
CONTACT: General Counsel, VP of Human Resources, CFO (Corporate directory) or Hotline indicated below.
 
A Message About the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics from the Chairman and CEO:
 
To All Officers, Directors and Employees:
 
One of our Company’s most valuable assets is its integrity.  Protecting this asset is the job of everyone in the Company.  To that end, we have established a
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.  The Code applies to every officer, director and employee.  We also expect that those with whom we do business
(including our agents, consultants, suppliers and customers) will also adhere to the Code.  Our Code is designed to help you comply with the law and
maintain the highest standards of ethical conduct.  The Code does not cover every issue that may arise, but it sets out basic principles and a methodology to
help guide you in the attainment of this common goal.
 
All of the Company’s officers, directors and employees must carry out their duties in accordance with the policies set forth in this Code and with applicable
laws and regulations.  To the extent that other Company polices and procedures conflict with this Code, you should follow this Code.  Any violation of
applicable law or any deviation from the standards embodied in this Code will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.  Disciplinary
action also may apply to an employee’s supervisor who directs or approves the employee’s improper actions, or is aware of those actions but does not act
appropriately to correct them.  In addition to imposing its own discipline, the Company may also bring suspected violations of law to the attention of the
appropriate law enforcement personnel.  If you are in a situation which you believe may violate or lead to a violation of this Code, follow the procedures
described in Sections 10 and 11 of the Code.

 
Manny Mashouf
Founder and Chairman

 
 
DISCLAIMER: The “Employment-At-Will” disclaimer contained in the front of this Manual applies to all bebe policies and procedures.
Date: 4/4/04 
 

 
POLICY
 
The Nasdaq rules require that the Company provide a code of conduct for all of its directors, officers and employees.  This Company is committed to being a
good corporate citizen.  The Company’s policy is to conduct its business affairs honestly and in an ethical manner.  That goal cannot be achieved unless you
individually accept your responsibility to promote integrity and demonstrate the highest level of ethical conduct in all of your activities.  Activities that may
call into question the Company’s reputation or integrity should be avoided.  The Company understands that not every situation is black and white.  The key
to compliance with the Code is exercising good judgment.  This means following the spirit of this Code and the law, doing the “right” thing and acting ethically
even when the law is not specific.  When you are faced with a business situation where you must determine the right thing to do, you should ask the following
questions:

 
Am I following the spirit, as well as the letter, of any law or Company policy?
 
Would I want my actions reported on 60 Minutes?
 
What would my family, friends or neighbors think of my actions?
 
Will there be any direct or indirect negative consequences for the Company?

 
Managers set an example for other employees and are often responsible for directing the actions of others.  Every manager and supervisor is expected to take
necessary actions to ensure compliance with this Code, to provide guidance and assist employees in resolving questions concerning the Code and to permit
employees to express any concerns regarding compliance with this Code.  No one has the authority to order another employee to act contrary to this Code.
 
PROCEDURES
 
Compliance with Laws and Regulations
The Company seeks to comply with both the letter and spirit of the laws and regulations in all countries in which it operates.
The Company is committed to full compliance with the laws and regulations of the cities, states and countries in which it operates.  You must comply with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations in performing your duties for the Company.  Numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations define and
establish obligations with which the Company, its employees and agents must comply.  Under certain circumstances, local
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country law may establish requirements that differ from this Code.  You are expected to comply with all local country laws in conducting the Company’s
business.  If you violate these laws or regulations in performing your duties for the Company, you not only risk individual indictment, prosecution and
penalties, and civil actions and penalties, you also subject the Company to the same risks and penalties.  If you violate these laws in performing your duties
for the Company, you may be subject to immediate disciplinary action, including possible termination of your employment or affiliation with the Company.
 
An explanation of certain of the key laws with which you should be familiar can be found in bebe’s Policies and Procedures Manual.  As explained below, you
should always consult your manager or the Compliance Team with any questions about the legality of you or your colleagues’ conduct.
 
Full, Fair, Accurate, Timely and Understandable Disclosure
It is of paramount importance to the Company that all disclosure in reports and documents that the Company files with, or submits to, the SEC, and in other
public communications made by the Company is full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable.  You must take all steps available to assist the Company in
these responsibilities consistent with your role within the Company.  In particular, you are required to provide prompt and accurate answers to all inquiries
made to you in connection with the Company’s preparation of its public reports and disclosure.
 
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for designing, establishing, maintaining, reviewing
and evaluating on a quarterly basis the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined by applicable SEC rules). 
The Company’s CEO, CFO, principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar functions, persons who meet the requirements of
Item 406 of Regulation S-K and such other Company officers are designated from time to time by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (including,
but not limited to, all Director level and more senior employees) shall be deemed the Senior Officers of the Company.  Senior Officers shall take all steps
necessary or advisable to ensure that all disclosure in reports and documents filed with or submitted to the SEC, and all disclosure in other public
communication made by the Company is full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable.
 
Senior Officers are also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.  The Senior Officers will take all necessary steps to ensure compliance with established accounting procedures, the Company’s system
of internal controls and generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

 
Senior Officers will ensure that the Company makes and keeps books, records, and accounts, which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company.  Senior Officers will also ensure that the Company devises and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that:
 
•     transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization;
 
•     transactions are recorded as necessary (a) to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or any

other criteria applicable to such statements, and (b) to maintain accountability for assets;
 
•      access to assets is permitted, and receipts and expenditures are made, only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and
 
•     the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any

differences, all to permit prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the
Company’s financial statements.

 
Any attempt to enter inaccurate or fraudulent information into the Company’s accounting system will not be tolerated and will result in disciplinary action, up
to and including termination of employment.
 
Special Ethics Obligations For Employees With Financial Reporting Responsibilities
Senior Officers each bear a special responsibility for promoting integrity throughout the Company.  Furthermore, the Senior Officers have a responsibility to
foster a culture throughout the Company as a whole that ensures the fair and timely reporting of the Company’s results of operation and financial condition
and other financial information.
 
Because of this special role, the Senior Officers are bound by the following Financial Officer Code of Ethics, and by accepting the Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics each agrees that he or she will:
 
•     Perform his or her duties in an honest and ethical manner.
 
•     Handle all actual or apparent conflicts of interest between his or her personal and professional relationships in an ethical manner.
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•     Take all necessary actions to ensure full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that the Company files with, or
submits to, government agencies and in other public communications.

 
•     Comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations of federal, state and local governments.
 
•     Proactively promote and be an example of ethical behavior in the work environment.
 
Insider Trading
You should never trade securities on the basis of confidential information acquired through your employment or fiduciary relationship with the
Company.
You are prohibited under both federal law and Company policy from purchasing or selling Company stock, directly or indirectly, on the basis of material
non-public information concerning the Company.  Any person possessing material non-public information about the Company must not engage in transactions
involving Company securities until this information has been released to the public.   Generally, material information is that which would be expected to affect
the investment decisions of a reasonable investor or the market price of the stock.   You must also refrain from trading in the stock of other publicly held
companies, such as existing or potential customers or suppliers, on the basis of material confidential information obtained in the course of your employment or
service as a director.  It is also illegal to recommend a stock to (i.e., “tip”) someone else on the basis of such information.  If you have a question concerning

appropriateness or legality of a particular securities transaction, consult with the Company’s Director of Risk Management.
 
 Officers, directors and certain

other employees of the Company are subject to additional responsibilities under the Company’s insider trading compliance policy, a copy of which has been
provided to each such officer, director and employee, and which can be obtained from the Company’s Director of Risk Management.
 
Conflicts of Interest and Corporate Opportunities
You must avoid any situation in which your personal interests conflict or even appear to conflict with the Company’s interests.  You owe a duty
to the Company not to compromise the Company’s legitimate interests and to advance such interests when the opportunity to do so arises in the
course of your employment.
You shall perform your duties to the Company in an honest and ethical manner.  You shall handle all actual or apparent conflicts of interest between your
personal and professional relationships in an ethical manner.
 

 
You should avoid situations in which your personal, family or financial interests conflict or even appear to conflict with those of the Company.  You may not
engage in activities that compete with the Company or compromise its interests.  You should not take for your own benefit opportunities discovered in the
course of employment that you have reason to know would benefit the Company.  The following are examples of actual or potential conflicts:
 
•     you, or a member of your family, receive improper personal benefits (including but not limited to the receipt of gifts) as a result of your position in the

Company;
 
•     you use Company’s property for your personal benefit;
 
•     you engage in activities that interfere with your loyalty to the Company or your ability to perform Company duties or responsibilities effectively;
 
•     you work simultaneously (whether as an employee or a consultant) for a competitor, customer or supplier;
 
•     you, or a member of your family, have a financial interest in a customer, supplier, or competitor which is significant enough to cause divided loyalty with

the Company or the appearance of divided loyalty (the significance of a financial interest depends on many factors, such as size of investment in relation
to your income, net worth and/or financial needs, your potential to influence decisions that could impact your interests, and the nature of the business or
level of competition between the Company and the supplier, customer or competitor);

 
•     you, or a member of your family, acquire an interest in property (such as real estate, patent or other intellectual property rights or securities) in which you

have reason to know the Company has, or might have, a legitimate interest;
 
•     you, or a member of your family, receive a loan or a guarantee of a loan from a customer, supplier or competitor (other than a loan from a financial

institution made in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s-length basis);
 
•     you divulge or use the Company’s confidential information – such as financial data, customer information, or computer programs – for your own

personal or business purposes;
 
•     you make gifts or payments, or provide special favors, to customers, suppliers or competitors (or their immediate family members) with a value

significant enough to cause the customer, supplier or competitor to make a purchase, or take or forego
 

 
other action, which is beneficial to the Company and which the customer, supplier or competitor would not otherwise have taken; or

 
•     you are given the right to buy stock in other companies or you receive cash or other payments in return for promoting the services of an advisor, such as
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an investment banker, to the Company.
 
Neither your, nor members of your immediate family, are permitted to solicit or accept valuable gifts, payments, special favors or other consideration from
customers, suppliers or competitors.
 
Conflicts are not always clear-cut.  If you become aware of a conflict described above or any other conflict, potential conflict, or have a question as to a
potential conflict, you should consult with higher levels of management or the Company’s Compliance Team and/or follow the procedures described in
Sections 10 and 11 of the Code.  If you become involved in a situation that gives rise to an actual conflict, you must inform higher levels of management or
the Company’s Compliance Team of the conflict.
 
Confidentiality
All confidential information concerning the Company obtained by you is the property of the Company and must be protected.
Confidential information includes all non-public information that might be of use to competitors, or harmful to the Company or its customers, if disclosed. 
You must maintain the confidentiality of such information entrusted to you by the Company, its customers and its suppliers, except when disclosure is
authorized by the Company or required by law.
 
Examples of confidential information include, but are not limited to:  the Company’s trade secrets; business trends and projections; information about
financial performance; new product or marketing plans; research and development ideas or information; manufacturing processes; information about potential
acquisitions, divestitures and investments; stock splits, public or private securities offerings or changes in dividend policies or amounts; significant
personnel changes; and existing or potential major contracts, orders, suppliers, customers or finance sources or the loss thereof.
 
Your obligation with respect to confidential information extends beyond the workplace.  In that respect, it applies to communications with your family
members and continues to apply even after your employment or director relationship with the Company terminates.
 

 
Fair Dealing
Our goal is to conduct our business with integrity.
You should endeavor to deal honestly with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors, and employees.  Under federal and state laws, the Company is
prohibited from engaging in unfair methods of competition, and unfair or deceptive acts and practices.  You should not take unfair advantage of anyone
through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts, or any other unfair dealing.
 
Examples of prohibited conduct include, but are not limited to:
 
•     bribery or payoffs to induce business or breaches of contracts by others;
 
•     acquiring a competitor’s trade secrets through bribery or theft;
 
•     making false, deceptive or disparaging claims or comparisons about competitors or their products or services; or
 
•     mislabeling products or services.
 
Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets
You should endeavor to protect the Company’s assets and ensure their proper use.
Company assets, both tangible and intangible, are to be used only for legitimate business purposes of the Company and only by authorized employees or
consultants.  Intangible assets include intellectual property such as trade secrets, patents, trademarks and copyrights, business, marketing and service plans,
engineering and manufacturing ideas, designs, databases, Company records, salary information, and any unpublished financial data and reports. 
Unauthorized alteration, destruction, use, disclosure or distribution of Company assets violates Company policy and this Code.  Theft or waste of, or
carelessness in using, these assets have a direct adverse impact on the Company’s operations and profitability and will not be tolerated.
 
The Company provides computers, voice mail, electronic mail (e-mail), and Internet access to certain employees for the purpose of achieving the Company’s
business objectives.  As a result, the Company has the right to access, reprint, publish, or retain any information created, sent or contained in any of the
Company’s computers or e-mail systems of any Company machine.  You may not use e-mail, the Internet or voice mail for any illegal purpose or in any
manner that is contrary to the Company’s policies or the standards embodied in this Code.
 
You should not make copies of, or resell or transfer (externally or internally), copyrighted publications, including software, manuals, articles, books, and
databases being used in the Company, that were created by another entity and licensed to the Company, unless you are authorized to do so under the applicable
license agreement. 
 

 
In no event should you load or use, on any Company computer, any software, third party content or database without receiving the prior written permission of
the Information Systems Department to do so.  You must refrain from transferring any data or information to any Company computer other than for Company
use.  You may use a handheld computing device or mobile phone in connection with your work for the Company, but must not use such device or phone to
access, load or transfer content, software or data in violation of any applicable law or regulation or without the permission of the owner of such content,
software or data.  If you should have any question as to what is permitted in this regard, please consult with the Company’s Information Systems Director.
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Reporting Violations of Company Policies and Receipt of Complaints Regarding Financial Reporting or Accounting Issues
You should report any violation or suspected violation of this Code to the appropriate Company personnel or via the Company’s anonymous and
confidential reporting procedures.
The Company’s efforts to ensure observance of, and adherence to, the goals and policies outlined in this Code mandate that you promptly bring to the attention
of the Compliance Team, any material transaction, relationship, act, failure to act, occurrence or practice that you believe, in good faith, is inconsistent with,
in violation, or reasonably could be expected to give rise to a violation, of this Code.  You should report any suspected violations of the Company’s financial
reporting obligations or any complaints or concerns about questionable accounting or auditing practices in accordance with the procedures set forth below.
 
Here are some approaches to handling your reporting obligations:
 
•     In the event you believe a violation of the Code, or a violation of applicable laws and/or governmental regulations has occurred or you have observed or

become aware of conduct which appears to be contrary to the Code, immediately report the situation to your supervisor, the Compliance Team or call the
Company’s Confidential Compliance Hotline, 866-232-3201.  Supervisor or managers who receive any report of a suspected violation must report the
matter to the Compliance Team.

 
•     If you have or receive notice of a complaint or concern regarding the Company’s financial disclosure, accounting practices, internal accounting controls,

auditing, or questionable accounting or auditing matters, you must immediately advise your supervisor, or the Compliance Team.
 

 
•     If you wish to report any such matters anonymously or confidentially, then you may do so as follows:  Mail a description of the suspected violation or

other complaint or concern to:
 
•     Compliance Team
•     400 Valley Drive
 

Brisbane, CA  94005
 

c/o General Counsel
 

•     Calling our toll free Compliance Hotline, 866-232-3201.
 
•     Use common sense and good judgment; Act in good faith.  You are expected to become familiar with and to understand the requirements of the Code.  If

you become aware of a suspected violation, don’t disclosure to the appropriate parties try to investigate it or resolve it on your own.  Prompt is vital to
ensuring a thorough and timely investigation and resolution.  The circumstances should be reviewed by appropriate personnel as promptly as possible,
and delay may affect the results of any investigation.  A violation of the Code, or of applicable laws and/or governmental regulations is a serious matter
and could have legal implications.  Allegations of such behavior are not taken lightly and should not be made to embarrass someone or put him or her in a
false light.  Reports of suspected violations should always be made in good faith.

 
•     Internal investigation.  When an alleged violation of the Code, applicable laws and/or governmental regulations is reported, the Company will take

appropriate action in accordance with the compliance procedures outlined in Section 11 of the Code.  You are expected to cooperate in internal
investigations of alleged misconduct or violations of the Code or of applicable laws or regulations.

 
•     No fear of retaliation.  It is Company policy that there be no intentional retaliation against any person who provides truthful information to a Company or

law enforcement official concerning a possible violation of any law, regulation or Company policy, including this Code.  Persons who retaliate may be
subject to civil, criminal and administrative penalties, as well as disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.  In cases in which
you report a suspected violation in good faith and are not engaged in the questionable conduct, the Company will attempt to keep its discussions with you
confidential to the extent reasonably possible.  In the course of its investigation, the Company may find it necessary to share information with others on a
“need to know” basis.  No retaliation shall be taken against you for reporting alleged violations while acting in good faith.

 

 
Compliance Procedures
The Company has established this Code as part of its overall policies and procedures.  To the extent that other Company policies and procedures conflict with
this Code, you should follow this Code.  The Code applies to all Company directors and Company employees, including all officers, in all locations.
 
The Code is based on the Company’s core values, good business practices and applicable law.  The existence of a Code, however, does not ensure that
directors, officers and employees will comply with it or act in a legal and ethical manner.  To achieve optimal legal and ethical behavior, the individuals
subject to the Code must know and understand the Code as it applies to them and as it applies to others.  You must champion the Code and assist others in
knowing and understanding it.
 
•     Compliance.  You are expected to become familiar with and understand the requirements of the Code.  Most importantly, you must comply with it.
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•     CEO Responsibility.  The Company’s CEO shall be responsible for ensuring that the Code is established and effectively communicated to all employees,
officers and directors.  Although the day-to-day compliance issues will be the responsibility of the Company’s managers, the CEO has ultimate
accountability with respect to the overall implementation of and successful compliance with the Code.

 
•     Corporate Compliance Management.  The CEO shall choose a team of employees who will report to the CEO and be responsible for ensuring that the Code

becomes an integral part of the Company’s culture (the “Compliance Team”).  The Corporate Compliance Team is currently the CFO, the Vice President
of Human Resources and the General Counsel.  The Compliance Team’s charter is to ensure communication, training, monitoring, and overall
compliance with the Code.  The Compliance Team will, with the assistance and cooperation of the Company’s officers, directors and managers, foster an
atmosphere where employees are comfortable in communicating and/or reporting concerns and possible Code violations.  The Company shall maintain a
Confidential Compliance Hotline (866-232-3201) which will be monitored by the Compliance Team.  The Company shall maintain a record of all calls
received.  The Compliance Team shall provide the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis a log of all calls to the Hotline, and a summary of all other
communications expressing complaints or concerns received by the Compliance Team relating to the Company’s financial disclosures, accounting,
internal controls and auditing matters.

 
•     Internal Reporting of Violations.  The Company’s efforts to ensure observance of, and adherence to, the goals and policies outlined in this Code mandate

that all
 

 
employees, officers and directors of the Company report suspected violations in accordance with Section 9 of this Code.

 
•     Screening Of Employees.  The Company shall exercise due diligence when hiring and promoting employees and, in particular, when conducting an

employment search for a position involving the exercise of substantial discretionary authority, such as a member of the executive team, a senior
management position or an employee with financial management responsibilities.  The Company shall make reasonable inquiries into the background of
each individual who is a candidate for such a position.  All such inquiries shall be made in accordance with applicable law and good business practice.

 
•     Access to the Code.  The Company shall ensure that employees, officers and directors may access the Code on the Company’s website.  In addition, each

current employee will be provided with a copy of the Code.  New employees will receive a copy of the Code as part of their new hire information.  From
time to time, the Company will sponsor employee training programs in which the Code and other Company policies and procedures will be discussed.

 
•     Monitoring.  The officers of the Company shall be responsible to review the Code with all of the Company’s managers.  In turn, the Company’s managers

with supervisory responsibilities should review the Code with his/her direct reports.  Managers are the “go to” persons for employee questions and
concerns relating to the Code, especially in the event of a potential violation.  Managers or supervisors will immediately report any violations or allegations
of violations to the Compliance Team.  Managers will work with the Compliance Team in assessing areas of concern, potential violations, any needs for
enhancement of the Code or remedial actions to effect the Code’s policies and overall compliance with the Code and other related policies.

 
•     Auditing.  Resources selected by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will be responsible for auditing the Company’s compliance with

the Code.
 
•     Internal Investigation.  When an alleged violation of the Code is reported, the Company shall take prompt and appropriate action in accordance with the

law and regulations and otherwise consistent with good business practice.  If the suspected violation appears to involve either a possible violation of law or
an issue of significant corporate interest, or if the report involves a complaint or concern of any person, whether employee, a shareholder or other
interested person regarding the Company’s financial disclosure, internal accounting controls, questionable auditing or accounting matters or practices or
other issues relating to the Company’s

 

 
accounting or auditing, then the manager or investigator should immediately notify the Compliance Team  and/or his or her Vice President or other
corporate officer.  If a suspected violation involves any director or executive officer or if the suspected violation concerns any fraud, whether or not
material, involving management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls, the manager, the Compliance Team or
any person who received such report should immediately report the alleged violation to the Compliance Team, if appropriate, the Chief Executive Officer
and/or Chief Financial Officer, and, in every such case, the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  The Compliance Team or the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, as applicable, shall assess the situation and determine the appropriate course of action.  At a point in the process consistent with the need not
to compromise the investigation, a person who is suspected of a violation shall be apprised of the alleged violation and shall have an opportunity to
provide a response to the investigator.

 
•     Disciplinary Actions.  Subject to the following sentence, the Compliance Team, after consultation with the Vice President of Human Resources and the

General Counsel, shall be responsible for implementing the appropriate disciplinary action in accordance with the Company’s policies and procedures for
any employee who is found to have violated the Code.  If a violation has been reported to the Audit Committee or another committee of the Board, that
Committee shall be responsible for determining appropriate disciplinary action.  Any violation of applicable law or any deviation from the standards
embodied in this Code will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.  Any employee engaged in the exercise of
substantial discretionary authority, including any Senior Officer, who is found to have engaged in a violation of law or unethical conduct in connection
with the performance of his or her duties for the Company, shall be removed from his or her position and not assigned to any other position involving the
exercise of substantial discretionary authority.  In addition to imposing discipline upon employees involved in non-compliant conduct, the Company also
will impose discipline, as appropriate, upon an employee’s supervisor, if any, who directs or approves such employees’ improper actions, or is aware of
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those actions but does not act appropriately to correct them, and upon other individuals who fail to report known non-compliant conduct.  In addition to
imposing its own discipline, the Company will bring any violations of law to the attention of appropriate law enforcement personnel.

 
•     Retention of Reports and Complaints.  All reports and complaints made to or received by the Compliance Team or the Chair of the Audit Committee shall

be logged into a record maintained for this purpose by the Compliance Team and this record of such report shall be retained for five (5) years.
 

 
•     Required Government Reporting.  Whenever conduct occurs that requires a report to the government, the Compliance Team shall be responsible for

complying with such reporting requirements.
 
•     Corrective Actions.  Subject to the following sentence, in the event of a violation of the Code, the manager and members of the Compliance Team should

assess the situation to determine whether the violation demonstrates a problem that requires remedial action as to Company policies and procedures.  If a
violation has been reported to the Audit Committee or another committee of the Board, that committee shall be responsible for determining appropriate
remedial or corrective actions.  Such corrective action may include providing revised public disclosure, retraining Company employees, modifying
Company policies and procedures, improving monitoring of compliance under existing procedures and other action necessary to detect similar non-
compliant conduct and prevent it from occurring in the future.  Such corrective action shall be documented, as appropriate.

 
Publication of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; Amendments and Waivers of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
The most current version of this Code will be posted and maintained on the Company’s website and filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K.  The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K shall disclose that the Code is maintained on the website and shall disclose that substantive
amendments and waivers will also be posted on the company’s website.
 
Any substantive amendment or waiver of this Code (i.e., a material departure from the requirements of any provision) particularly applicable to or directed at
executive officers or directors may be made only after approval by the Board of Directors  and will be disclosed within five (5) business days of such action
(a) on the Company’s website for a period of not less than twelve (12) months and (b) in a Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
Such disclosure shall include the reasons for any waiver.  The Company shall retain the disclosure relating to any such amendment or waiver for less than
five (5) years.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
 

Name Domicile
bebe stores (Canada), inc. California
bebe UK Limited England
bebe studio, inc. California
bebe management, inc. Virginia
bebe studio realty, LLC California
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EXHIBIT 23.1
 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
Board of Directors
bebe stores, inc.
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-65201 and 333-62096 of bebe stores, inc. on Form S-8 of our report dated
August 20, 2004, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of bebe stores, inc. for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.
 
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
 
San Francisco, California
September 13, 2004
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 
I, Gregory Scott, certify that:
 

1.               I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of bebe stores, inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
 
Date: September 13, 2004
 
 
/s/ Gregory Scott
Gregory Scott
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
 
I, Walter Parks, certify that:
 

1.               I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of bebe stores, inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and we have:
 

(a)          Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)         Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
(c)          Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
 

(a)          All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b)         Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
 
Date: September 13, 2004
 
 
/s/ Walter Parks
Walter Parks
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of bebe stores, inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gregory Scott, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that:

 
(1)                                  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
 
(2)                                  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 
 

/s/  Gregory Scott
Gregory Scott
Chief Executive Officer
September 13, 2004

 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to bebe stores,
inc. and will be retained by bebe stores, inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of bebe stores, inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Walter Parks, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that:

 
(1)                                  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
 
(2)                                  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 
 

/s/  Walter Parks
Walter Parks
Chief Financial Officer
September 13, 2004

 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to bebe stores,
inc. and will be retained by bebe stores, inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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